



This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

The Interaction of <u>Escherichia</u> <u>coli</u> Gene Products with Mutant Forms of dnaA Protein

presented by

Theodore Robert Hupp

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

____Ph.D.___degree in __Biochemistry

Major professor

Date July 6, 1990

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution



PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE

MSU is An Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution ctdrc/datedus.pm3-p.

THE INTERACTION OF Escherichia coli GENE PRODUCTS WITH MUTANT FORMS OF dnaA PROTEIN

by

Theodore Robert Hupp

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to

Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Biochemistry

ABSTRACT

THE INTERACTION OF Escherichia coli GENE PRODUCTS WITH MUTANT FORMS OF dnaA PROTEIN

by

Theodore R. Hupp

The initiation of DNA replication depends upon the activity of the dnaA initiator protein. Although the mechanism of dnaA protein function has been elucidated, the efficiency and regulation of dnaA protein dependent initiation of replication is not understood. Mutant forms of dnaA protein are altered in some aspect of initiation of replication. Characterization of the alterations associated with these mutant initiator proteins would

enlarge our understanding of initiation processes.

Two approaches were used to identify proteins in E. coli that interact with mutant forms of dnaA protein. The first relied on the genetic characterization of an extragenic suppressor of the temperature sensitive phenotype of cells which harbor the *dnaA46* mutation. This suppressor, named *dasC*, was mapped to the thioredoxin gene suggesting that thioredoxin may interact with dnaA46 protein to allow initiation of replication to occur at elevated temperatures. The second approach involved the purification and biochemical characterization of a mutant form of dnaA protein, called dnaA5 protein. This mutant initiator protein is inactive in the replication of *oriC* plasmids. Two heat shock proteins, dnaK and grpE, are required for activating dnaA5 protein in replication.

Although it is not known if these gene products - thioredoxin, dnaK protein, and grpE protein - interact with the wild type dnaA protein, these studies have provided a direction for the further understanding of previously unknown aspects of initiation of DNA replication.

this song is dedicated to my mother my father Lisa Laura papa gramma mamo grampy and old bean

1

with thanks, honor, and love

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

An incomplete expression of joyful gratitude for the many, worthy people who were all, in every way, the catalyst of this document, will be sonorated in the lines below.

Jon M. Kaguni, my thesis advisor and the owner of a sagacious scientific philosophy, for teaching the ways of Science, encouragement during the times when Science became a matter of Faith, instilling in myself the extreme love of genetics, an unforgettable cance trip, and occasional golf outings.

Members of my Ph.D. committee, including John Wilson, Arnie Revzin, Larry Snyder, Greg Zeikus, and alternate member, Zach Burton, for their helpful discussions and ideas.

Members of the Kaguni lab past and present including: Deog Su Hwang, my best friend of the lab and foundational author of the bulk of my Ph.D. project, for many discussions about philosophy, women, and sex (and, of course, science), many meals cooked by his wife and during such meals, again, many discussions about philosophy, women, and sex; David Siemieniak for peanut barrel excursions and exchanging knowledge of fundamental particle physics; Richie Halberg for his enthusiastic presence, coffee breaks, photographic excursions and living evidence that being married is good; Kevin Mundella Carr, the bastion of eclectic Conservative and Liberal philosophy and co-discoverer of the balloon shift, for being the roots of stimulating dialogue; Qing Ping Wang, living proof that women are better at doing the art of science than men, for her always friendly presence; Modori Harris, more living proof that women are better at doing the art of science than men, for her endlessly enthusiastic demeanor; Scott Cherry, ex-undergraduate extraordinaire, the source of perpetual amusement and source of most knowledge; Diana Hart, Wisdom personified, for many things; Marintha Heil, a Heglian and sister, for many THINGS THAT REALLY MATTER including smiles, encouragement, funny jokes, conversations, and other

i v

important things like that; Jerry Marshall for being a spark plug of humor in the lab, lifeinspiring dialogue, and dealings with the law; and the new lab member, Cindy Peterson for funny things.

Members of the other Kaguni lab including, Laurie Kaguni; Phyllis Y. Cashman; Mikey Fairbanks, co-discoverer of the balloon shift; Matthew Olsen, one of the ugliest men on campus; Dave Lewis, bob marley incarnate and arch enemy of William F. Buckley, Jr.; Rhoderick Elder, and Mike Conway, for many unforgettable collaborations. Catherine M. Wernette, my other best friend of the lab and founder of the Society of Disembodied Biochemists, for sharing her family and witticism over the years, encouragement and reprimands, showing the art of wine drinking, appreciation of poetry readings at the weekly meeting of the Society of Disembodied biochemists, and forming our primitive philosophy Be Free, Love, and Be Kind.

Kathryn Ball, a song of the amazon wilderness and soul mate, for many things, known and unknown, seen and unseen, past and future; my parents for strong support and love, Lisa for always being around and caring; Steven C. Steele, the twin brother that I never had, for endless excursions to an infinite number of eternities and dimensions, including Binky's, Fireball, University Circle, do-nut shops, and other planets, for sharing in the beauties of our Mother, and for being there during the growing years; Julie Beckert, the sister-in-law that I never had, for being the sensitive voice of the oppressed, inspiring myself with her vision of time, sharing her life as Miss Bottle Queen from 1985-1988, and for being the leader of rain forest excursions; Timothy J. Cothrel, the other twin brother that I never had, for being himself. Jack Preiss for being available to talk about things and for the use of his virus-laden computer and Betty Brazier for exchanging things of life.

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tablesxi
List of Figuresxiii
List of Abbreviationsxv
Chapter I Literature Review1
I. The physiology and genetics of DNA replication
A. Structure of the chromosomal origin of replication2
B. Gene products that function in the initiation of replication10
C. Regulation of the initiation of replication12
II. The biochemistry of DNA replication
A. The mechanism of DNA polymerase function15
B. A biochemical model describing the enzymatic requirements at a replication fork
C. The initiation of DNA synthesis from <i>oriC</i> plasmids catalyzed by purified enzymes
III. The heat shock response
A. The heat shock proteins of E. coli27
B. The biochemical role of 70 kd heat shock proteins
References
Chapter II Suppression of the <i>Escherichia coli dnaA46</i> mutation by a mutation in <i>trxA</i> , the gene for thioredoxin
Abstract
Introduction

	Experimental Procedures	51
	Results	
	Mapping of <i>dasC</i> by P1 transduction	54
	Transduction of a trxA null mutant into TC382	54
	Transduction of dnaA46 into TRH1 through TRH18	57
	Mapping of <i>dasC</i> with recombinant plasmids	63
	The dasC mutation supports T7 and M13 growth	66
	Discussion	69
	References	72
Chapter III	The <i>Escherichia coli</i> dnaA5 protein is inactive in the replication of <i>oriC</i> plasmids in reconstituted enzyme systems	75
	Abstract	76
	Introduction	77
	Experimental Procedures	79
	Results	
	Overproduction of dnaA5 protein	85
	Purification of dnaA5 protein	85
	dnaA5 protein is temperature sensitive in the replication of <i>oriC</i> plasmids in a system containing a crude enzyme fraction	89
	dnaA5 protein is active in the replication of P1 phage origin containing plasmids	92
	dnaA5 protein retains affinity for DNA containing <i>oriC</i> at permissive temperatures	100
	dnaA5 protein retains affinity for DNA containing <i>oriC</i> at the nonpermissive temperature	101
	dnaA5 protein retains its affinity for DNA containing the <i>dnaA</i> promoter	102
	dnaA5 protein retains specificity in binding to its consensus DNA sequence	109

•

	grpE protein is the second activating protein	155
	The amounts of dnaK protein and grpE protein required for the activation of dnaA5 protein	155
	Discussion	180
	References	184
Chapter V	The <i>Escherichia coli</i> dnaA5 protein is activated by the grpE and dnaK heat shock proteins prior to its interaction with <i>oriC</i>	187
	Abstract	188
	Introduction	189
	Experimental Procedures	192
	Results	
	The time course of DNA synthesis in activation reactions	194
	Staging the activation of dnaA5 protein	194
	The time course of the staged activation of dnaA5 protein	195
	dnaK protein exhibits a concentration dependence in staged activation reactions	196
	grpE protein is required in stoichiometric levels during the staged activation of dnaA5 protein	197
	The temperature dependence of the activation reaction	197
	The influence of solvents on the activation reaction	198
	ATP is required for the activation of dnaA5 protein	199
	The ATPase activity of dnaK protein is not stimulated by dnaA5 protein	199
	dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein react differentially with monoclonal antibodies	200
	The activation of dnaA5 protein produces a conformational change in the protein	201

	The interaction of dnaA5 protein with DNA containing <i>oriC</i> is altered	109
	dnaA5 protein is defective in ATP binding	110
	dnaA5 protein is inactive in the replication of <i>oriC</i> plasmids in syste containing purified enzymes	ms 111
	An extended lag precedes dnaA5 protein activity in a replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction	124
	dnaA5 protein inhibits dnaA protein activity in a replication system containing purified enzymes	124
	dnaA5 protein inhibits dnaA protein dependent unwinding at oriC	127
	dnaA5 protein interferes with the formation of a structure characteristic of an active dnaA protein- <i>oriC</i> complex	128
	Discussion	135
	References	139
Chapter IV	The Escherichia coli dnaA5 protein is activated in oriC plasmid replication by grpE and dnaK heat shock proteins	on 141
	Abstract	142
	Introduction	143
	Experimental Procedures	146
	Results	
	The activation of dnaA5 protein in a DNA replication system containing purified enzymes	149
	The activating factor is heat sensitive	150
	The activating factor is a protein	151
	dnaK protein is one of the activating proteins	151
	The second activating factor is a protein	152
	The second activating protein is heat sensitive	153
	The partial purification of the second activating protein	153
	The purification of grpE protein	154

	Discussion	
	References	226
Chapter VI	Summary and Perspectives	229

Chapter II	
1.	Bacterial strains
2.	Transduction of <i>dnaA46</i> into TRH 1 through TRH 1858
3.	Interference of <i>dasC</i> function by multicopy plasmids containing wild type chromosomal DNA
4.	Growth of phages T7 and M13 on dasC and trxA mutant strains
Chapter III	
1.	A summary of dnaA5 protein purification87
Chapter IV	
1.	The activation of dnaA5 protein by WM433 Fraction II173
2.	The activating factor is heat sensitive174
3.	dnaA5 protein is required to observe Fraction III dependent replication activity175
4.	The activating factor is trypsin sensitive176
5.	The second activating protein is heat sensitive
6.	The partial purification of the second activating protein
Chapter V	
1.	A. Staged activation of dnaA5 proteinB. grpE and dnaK proteins are required during Stage I reactions
2.	Stage I solvent requirements
3.	Solvent replacements in the staged activation reactions

Page

Chapter I

Page

1.	A scheme describing the C and D periods in the E. coli cell cycle
2.	The evolutionary sequence conservation of oriC DNA
3.	A model describing the enzymatic requirements at a replication fork
4.	 A. A linear sequence of the origin region B. A model describing the stages in dnaA protein dependent initiation
5.	A model describing the stages and enzymatic requirements of initiation of DNA replication from the lambda phage origin of replication
6.	 A. A model describing heat shock protein function in eucaryotic cells B. Hsp 70, in the presence of ATP, binds to protein-protein complexes to catalyze the dissociation of specific proteins from the complex
Chapter II	
1.	Physical map of the trxA region
2.	Southern analysis of chromosomal DNA from dasC transductants
Chapter II	I .
1.	SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of dnaA5 protein fractions
2.	The temperature dependent replication activity of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins95
3.	The requirements for the replication of P1ori plasmids
4.	The temperature dependent replication activity of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins in a P1 <i>ori</i> plasmid replication system
5.	The binding of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins to oriC104
6.	dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein affinity to oriC106
7.	dnaA5 and dnaA protein binding to the dnaA promoter fragment108
8.	The DNase I protection pattern of the <i>dnaA</i> promoter when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins

9.	The DNase I protection pattern of the <i>rpoH</i> promoter when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins
10.	DNase I protection pattern of oriC when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins117
11.	dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein binding affinity to ATP119
12.	dnaA5 protein is inactive in the reconstituted enzyme system containing primase as the sole priming enzyme
13.	dnaA5 protein is inactive in the RNA polymerase dependent reconstituted enzyme system
14.	Time course of dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein activity in the replication system containing a crude enzyme fraction
15.	dnaA5 protein inhibition of dnaA protein replication activity130
16.	dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein influence on F1* formation132
17.	dnaA5 protein inhibition of dnaA protein binding to oriC134
Chapter IV	
1.	The influence of dnaK protein on Fraction III dependent activation of dnaA5 protein
2.	Titration of dnaK protein in activation reactions160
3.	The second activating factor is trypsin sensitive
4.	Mono Q chromatography of the second activating protein164
5.	A. Superose 12 chromatography of Fraction IVB. ELISA of Superose 12 fractions
6.	SDS polyacrylamide gel of grpE protein containing fractions168
7.	grpE protein replaces a Superose 12 fraction in the activation of dnaA5 protein
8.	 A. dnaK protein titration in activation reactions B. grpE protein titration in activation reactions
Chapter V	

1.	Α.	Time course of activation of dnaA5 protein
	Β.	Time course of DNA synthesis dependent upon dnaA protein203

2. Time course of staged activation	
 A. The amounts of dnaK protein required during Stage I B. The amounts of grpE protein required during Stage I 	207
 4. A. Thermolability of activation B. Thermoresistance of the activated form of dnaA5 protein 	209
5. The concentration of glycerol in Stage I required for the activation of dnaA5 protein	211
6. The concentration of ATP in Stage I required for the activation of dnaA5 protein	213
7. The influence of dnaA5 protein on the ATPase activity of dnaK protein	n215
 A. The affinity of monoclonal antibodies to dnaA and dnaA5 proteins B. The affinity of monocloanl antibody A4 to dnaA5 protein after Stag reactions in the presence and absence of ATP 	ge I 217

.

List of Abbreviations

DTT	dithiothreitol
BSA	bovine serum albumin
SSB	single-stranded binding protein
SDS	sodium dodecylsulfate
TLC	thin layer chromatography
PVA	polyvinylalcohol
kd	kilodalton
ng	nanograms
ug	micrograms
ul	microliters
hsp	heat shock protein

Chapter I

LITERATURE REVIEW

I. The physiology and genetics of DNA replication

A. Structure of the chromosomal origin of replication.

The chromosome of *E. coli* is a closed circular duplex molecule (1) with a molecular weight of 4,000 kilobase pairs (2). The knowledge that DNA is a double helix composed of complementary strands (3) resulted in the prediction and subsequent confirmation that DNA is replicated semi-conservatively (4). The importance of chromosomal replication in the life of a cell has resulted in emphasis being placed on understanding the mechanisms of DNA replication and its regulation.

Understanding the mechanisms of macromolecular synthesis in relation to both growth rate and age was important in demonstrating the elegant regulatory mechanisms which a cell utilizes to control its life. The amounts of some macromolecules, including ribosomes and DNA, change exponentially as a function of the growth rate (5). Analyzing the relative concentrations of macromolecules as a function of the cell size has led to the formation of mathematical relationships which describe global cell composition in terms of DNA, RNA, and protein content (6).

The amount of DNA within a cell is subjected to a stringent regulatory system which allows for the initiation of chromosomal replication at a specific time during the cell cycle to ensure that each daughter cell obtains a copy of the chromosome. DNA synthesis is cell cycle regulated in that a certain cell mass or volume must be achieved in order for DNA synthesis to be initiated (7). The initiation of DNA synthesis requires *de novo* protein synthesis (8,9) and RNA synthesis (10) corroborating the idea that initiation factors must be synthesized and accumulate to allow for the initiation of replication to be triggered during the cell cycle.

Cooper and Helmstetter determined that, although the concentration of DNA can change as a function of the growth rate, there are biological constants that describe the relationship between the frequency of initiation of replication and cell division (11). The constants in operation were termed C and D, where C represents the time required for the chromosome to be replicated and D describes the time elapsed between termination of DNA replication and cell division. The C and D periods are 40 and 22 minutes, respectively, at a given growth rate.

If the C and D periods are true constants, then how can the total time required for the C and D periods to elapse be longer than the life cycle of a rapidly growing cell? To address this question, they hypothesized that more than one initiation event occurs during the cell cycle in response to a rapid growth rate to account for the fact that bacteria can divide in a time shorter than that elapsing during the C and D periods (Figure 1). The values for C and D were recently determined in slowly growing cells using flow cytometric analysis (13) and were in agreement with the data obtained 15 years earlier (11).

Although the initiation of DNA replication could be measured experimentally, it was not known if the initiation site was unique or if initiation occurred at a random site on the chromosome during successive generations. Jacob (14) proposed a mechanism of initiation of DNA synthesis based on a mechanism known to operate during the regulation of protein synthesis (15). In the latter case, a negative regulator influences the expression of a gene product by binding to an operator element in the DNA to inhibit its synthesis. By analogy and subsequent experimentation, it was proposed that a positive control circuit affects the initiation of DNA replication. In this model, the chromosome is assumed to be a circular structure with two genetic determinants. One being a structural gene giving rise to a diffusible element, the initiator, and the second being a cis-acting operator-like DNA

Figure 1. A scheme describing the C and D periods in the E. coli cell cycle (13, 1).

The time required for chromosomal DNA replication (C period) and the time elapsing between the termination of chromosomal DNA replication and cell division (D period) is depicted as a function of differing growth rates; (A) 90 minute doubling time, (B) 60 minute doubling time and (C) 35 minute doubling time. 'ini' is the initiation of DNA replication, 'ter' is the termination of DNA replication, and 'div' is cell division.







:_

•

element that can be acted upon by the initiator possibly to unwind the duplex DNA and lead to DNA synthesis after the formation of a primer.

The existence of this cis-acting locus, the chromosomal origin of replication, oriC (16,17), was confirmed, indicating that replication always initiates at a specific site during the cell cycle. More precise experimentation further localized oriC to the *ilv* region of the chromosome (18). By the quantification of the relative abundance of marker genes after the initiation of DNA synthesis in a synchronized cell culture, the bi-directional mode of initiation was proven (19-22). The cloning of oriC onto plasmids allowed for restriction site analysis and provided for a more precise physical map of oriC (23).

Recombinant DNA techniques were used to clone *oriC* based on its ability to confer autonomous replicating properties to recombinant DNAs (24) and based on its linkage to the *asn* locus (25). The minimal functional segment required for conferring replication activity to vector DNAs is 245 base pairs (26).

Subsequent DNA sequencing of the minimal origin fragment (27, 28) identified the presence of extensive structural motifs, including A-T rich regions, GATC methylation sites, and inverted and repeated sequences (29). Some mutations within *oriC* that perturb the primary sequence, including base substitutions, insertions and deletions, alter the origin activity (30). In addition, the evolutionary conservation of the sequence motifs among enterobactericeae (Figure 2) (31) and the ability of *oriC* from a marine bacterium to function in *E. coli* (32) provided evidence that the structure of the origin is important in directing enzymes and proteins to initiate replication.

Each structural motif is involved in origin activity through its interaction with various cellular enzymes. Methylation at the sequence GATC, which is present 11 times within the minimal origin, by the *dam* methylase gene product (33) is thought to be important in maintaining origin integrity and function. The *dam* gene product is not essential for the growth of *E. coli*, as *dam* mutants are viable (34). This implies that methylation of the GATC motifs is not an essential step in *oriC* directed DNA replication, but this idea

Figure 2. The evolutionary sequence conservation of oriC DNA (32).

The sequences from the origin of DNA replication from six bacteria are aligned to maximize visual sequence identity. The minimal origin required to confer activity is enclosed within the box and bold capitol letters indicate where base substitutions inactivate origin function. Conserved motifs are identified as follows: GATC repeats are underlined; contiguous left to right arrows are beneath the A-T rich 13-mer sequences; R1-R2-R3-R4 mark the location of the *dnaA* consensus sequence; a large capital letter indicates conservation of the base in all six origins; a small capital letter indicates the base is present in five of the six origins examined; a lower case letter indicates the base is present in three or four origins; and 'n' is inserted where there seems to be no sequence homology, or there are insertions or deletions within the region.

•

8

÷.

.

contradicts the results showing that *oriC* minichromosomes are unable to replicate in *dam* cells (35,36). The initiation of DNA replication in *dam* cells may occur at sites on the chromosome other than *oriC*, but this has not been clarified. Although *dam* cells are viable, they are inefficient in the timing of initiation of DNA synthesis during the cell cycle (37). This demonstrates that the timing of initiation, whether from *oriC* or from other sites on the chromosome, is dependent upon the state of methylation of the DNA.

Evidence supporting the importance of the methylation state of oriC, in the regulation of origin activity, was obtained by studying the ability of hemi-methylated oriC DNA to function. Hemi-methylated oriC plasmids are incapable of being replicated in *dam* cells (38), suggesting that full methylation of the origin is required for initiation to occur. DNA containing oriC binds to the outer membrane of *E. coli* only when in the hemi-methylated state (39), indicating that the state of methylation may affect the ability of the chromosomes to segregate during cell division. Taken together, it seems that hemi-methylation may prevent unnecessary initiations and at the same time allow for adhesion of the DNA to the membrane ensuring that chromosomal segregation will occur.

The initiator protein, dnaA, binds to four 9 base-pair repeats present within the origin (40, 41) and, in an ATP dependent reaction, it unwinds the duplex DNA at the A-T rich region of *oriC* to facilitate the nucleation of other enzymes involved in replication (42).

Promoters and terminators of transcription have been proposed to exist within *oriC*, given the essential role of RNA polymerase in initiation (43). Promoters within *oriC* have been detected (44), transcriptional termination sites have been mapped (45, 47) and RNA-DNA transitions have been observed within the origin region (46). The chromosomal origin has proven to be a complex structure suitable for interacting with the many enzymes that direct initiation of DNA replication and, possibly, its regulation.

B. Gene products that function in the initiation of DNA replication.

Several investigators have isolated conditionally lethal mutants which are defective in DNA synthesis in an attempt to characterize gene products involved in replication. Such mutants are termed *dna* and are principally defined as gene products involved directly in DNA synthesis. The first class of conditionally lethal mutants isolated (48, 49), later termed *dnaA*, were screened based on their inability to synthesize DNA at elevated temperatures. The refined characterization of one mutant, T46, demonstrated that it exhibited a specific defect in the initiation of DNA synthesis (50). Since then, many mutations in the *dnaA* locus have been isolated and characterized (51). Thirteen different independently isolated mutations were genetically mapped and categorized according to classes which include; 1) cold sensitivity in the haploid or merodiploid state and 2) the ability to be suppressed by *rpoB* mutations (52). There is a correlation between the location of the mutation within the *dnaA* gene and its phenotype indicating that individual domains of the *dnaA* gene product may be involved in different cellular functions.

The *dnaA* gene has been cloned into pBR322 (53) and specialized lambda transducing phages (54). A structural analysis of the region indicated that *dnaN*, *gyrB*, and *recF* genes lie contiguous with *dnaA* (55, 57). The nucleotide sequence of the *dnaA* gene was determined (58, 59) and the predicted molecular weight of the gene product was reported to be 52,800 daltons with a theoretically basic pI of 9.8. dnaA protein autoregulates its own expression *in vivo* (60,61) and *in vitro* (62) by binding to the promoter region and repressing transcription by RNA polymerase. The autoregulatory mechanism of *dnaA* expression confirmed the hypothesis of Hansen et al. (63) that the initiator regulates its own synthesis.

Mutations affecting the initiation of replication have been mapped to genes other than *dnaA* and include *dnaC* (64), *dnaB* (65), *dnaK* (66), and *dnaG* (67). Although the *dnaB* and *dnaC* gene products are involved in initiation, they are also involved in the propagation

of the growing replication fork (68, 69). DNA gyrase is also involved in initiation as inhibitors of DNA gyrase activity affect the initiation of DNA synthesis (56).

The requirement for RNA polymerase during initiation was inferred from studies demonstrating that initiation is sensitive to rifampicin, a known inhibitor of RNA polymerase activity (70, 71, 72). Subsequently, a conditionally lethal mutation residing in the *rpoC* locus was isolated (73), indicating an essential role for RNA polymerase in initiation. An additional mutant was isolated (74) which increases the initiation frequency at elevated temperatures. Based on genetic studies, the enzymes required for initiation were shown to function sequentially (75). The prediction that RNA polymerase acts before dnaA protein which in turn functions prior to dnaC protein was confirmed from biochemical studies (42, 181).

Exhaustive efforts were focused on isolating novel *dna* mutants conditionally lethal for DNA synthesis and this resulted in the acquisition of *dnaA* and *dnaC* mutants. It seemed that new screening methods were needed to find previously unidentified gene products involved in replication. Thus, a novel approach was taken which involved screening for extragenic suppressors of *dnaA* mutations (76). Six suppressor loci were identified in one screening (77). One mapped within the *rpoB* locus, while the other suppressors did not reside in any known gene and they were named *dasA*, *dasB*, *dasC*, *dasF*, and *dasG*.

The best characterized extragenic suppressors of *dnaA* map in a RNA polymerase subunit gene (78) and the allele specific suppression (79-81) was interpreted to mean that *dnaA* and RNA polymerase interact in a transcriptional event at *oriC*.

Cells with mutations in RNase H, which are allelic with dasF (82), by-pass the requirement for dnaA protein and *oriC* (83). In RNase H mutant cells, initiation of DNA synthesis occurs at sites other than *oriC* (84), indicating the essential role that RNase H plays in maintaining *oriC-dnaA* dependent initiation of DNA replication (85).

A few of the *dnaA* suppressors have been mapped to specific loci, but the mechanism of suppression is not known. The extragenic suppressor *dasC* (77) is allelic with *trxA* (86)

and a mutation in *dnaA* suppresses a *dnaZ* mutation (87), suggesting that thioredoxin and DNA polymerase III holoenzyme interact with the *dnaA* dependent replication machinery.

The heat shock gene product, *groE*, suppresses the temperature sensitive defect of *dnaA46* cells when present at high copy number in the chromosome (88) or on a high copy number plasmid (89). Under these conditions the overproduction of *groE* may stabilize the mutant protein so that it can function at elevated temperatures. No biochemical information exists describing the interaction between *dnaA* and *groE*, *trxA*, or *dnaZ*, however, it is likely that the *dnaA* dependent replication machinery is composed of many components that coordinately function to initiate DNA replication.

C. Regulation of the initiation of DNA replication.

DNA replication initiates at a specific site on the chromosome, the genetic locus being named *oriC*, and it is dependent upon the activity of the initiator protein, dnaA (90). Although the initiation event occurs at a specific time during the cell cycle, the mode of its regulation is not known. Models that describe the regulation of initiation have been proposed and include a positively and a negatively modulating circuit.

A positive control circuit invokes the requirement for an initiator which activates initiation in response to cell growth (91), possibly as a result of the accumulation of the initiator during the cell cycle. Such an initiator was proposed to autoregulate its own expression to ensure that a balance is maintained between cell growth and initiation (63). The *dnaA* gene product fulfills all of these criteria (60).

An extension of the model invoking the requirement for an initiator incorporates the activity of an inhibitor that competes with the initiator (92). In the early stages of the cell cycle the concentration of the inhibitor is high and prevents the initiator from functioning. As the cell cycle progresses, the cell mass increases, effectively diluting the concentration of the constitutively expressed inhibitor and liberating the initiator to allow initiation to

occur. This idea was supported by the finding of an unstable inhibitory factor that competes with dnaA protein in initiation *in vivo* (93, 94).

The initiation of DNA synthesis is tightly coupled to an increase in the cell mass during the cell cycle (95), possibly due to the increasing abundance of the initiator during growth. The accumulation of the initiation potential has been observed in two differing but related experiments. Protein synthesis is required immediately before the initiation of DNA replication since initiation in a synchronized culture is blocked by inhibitors of protein synthesis (16). In situations where DNA synthesis is inhibited but protein synthesis can continue, there is an unusually high rate of initiation of DNA synthesis upon removal of the block to DNA synthesis (96). The accumulation of this initiation potential has been correlated with an increase in the concentration of dnaA protein in response to an increase in the growth rate of a cell culture (97) and the idea is confirmed by the fact that overproduction of dnaA protein from expression vectors increases the frequency of initiation (98-100). Interpretations of these results include the idea that dnaA protein is the limiting factor in initiation and that its levels determine directly the frequency of initiation during cell growth. However, another rate limiting factor may exist as overinitiation of DNA replication through the overproduction of dnaA protein is abortive (102, 98) and the levels of dnaA protein appear to remain constant during the cell cycle (101). These data indicate that dnaA protein may not be the sole factor involved in the regulation of initiation of DNA replication.

Mutations in *dnaA* have been well categorized and a sub-class of *dnaA* mutants is deficient in the timing of initiation (103). Using a flow cytometer, the concentration of origins in an individual cell can be determined (104) and this technique was used to show that the *dnaA* gene product functions synchronously to initiate DNA synthesis at a certain ratio of cell mass to DNA. The *dnaA5* and *dnaA46* gene products are asynchronous in their ability to initiate DNA replication. Initiations occur randomly throughout the cell cycle indicating that the signal allowing for *dnaA* dependent initiation is not operating. The

explanation for this has not been determined, but it is possible that there may be a defect in the activity of the mutant dnaA protein itself or it may be unable to respond properly to a signal that normally couples cell growth to dnaA protein dependent initiation of replication. Understanding the mechanism underlying this phenomenon may provide information regarding the regulation of initiation.

The involvement of membranes in regulating DNA replication was proposed based on the evidence that DNA must physically associate with some factor in the membrane during fission to ensure proper segregation of the chromosomes (14). Cell membrane fractions are enriched in DNA containing the chromosomal origin, *oriC*, (105) indicating that the site of chromosomal attachment to the membrane may occur at the site of initiation of chromosomal replication. A 10 kd protein derived from membrane fractions has a high affinity for *oriC* DNA (106) indicating that the association of *oriC* with the membrane may occur via this 10 kd protein.

Cardiolipin activates an inactive form of dnaA protein bound to ADP (107), indicating that there may be a possible role for lipid in regulating the initiation of replication through the modulation of dnaA protein activity. This idea is supported by the fact that the gene encoding the enzyme involved in cardiolipin synthesis cannot be deleted from the chromosome unless the cell is supplied with a copy of the gene from a plasmid (108).

The factors regulating replication may be numerous, and it was proposed that dnaA protein is not the rate limiting factor regulating initiation of replication from oriC (109) but there may be a sequential requirement for many enzymes, none of which is individually rate limiting, all of which are required for the events leading to initiation.

II. The biochemistry of DNA replication.

A. The mechanism of DNA polymerase function.

Three distinct DNA polymerases exist in *E. coli* and have been named, in the order of their discovery, DNA polymerase I (110), DNA polymerase II (111, 112), and DNA polymerase III holoenzyme (113).

DNA polymerase I was the first polymerase discovered and purified (114). The enzymatic activities embodied by this prototypical DNA polymerase include a 5'-3' reversible polymerase activity (115,116), a 3'-5' exonuclease activity, and a 5'-3' exonuclease activity.

The 5'-3' polymerase activity can be observed provided that three fundamental constraints are met (117); 1) a hydroxyl primer terminus (almost always the 3' hydroxyl of the ribose moiety), 2) a template DNA anti-parallel to the primer terminus strand and 3) a specific dNTP complementary to the base residing in the template strand.

The 3'-5' exonuclease activity was thought to be a contaminating polypeptide for years (118) until it was proven to be an innate corrective proofreading property that results in the excision of a nucleotide improperly base paired to the template strand (119). This ability of DNA polymerase to remove its own error would prevent the rapid accumulation of mutations which would otherwise lead to cell sickness and death.

The 5'-3' exonuclease activity degrades duplex DNA into mono and polynucleotides from the free 5' end of a duplex hybrid (120). This activity is thought to be responsible for the removal of RNA from the Okazaki fragments formed during lagging strand DNA synthesis (see below) through its nick-translation activity (121). This enzymatic function is believed to be required for DNA repair (122) since cells harboring certain mutations in the gene encoding DNA polymerase I are sensitive to UV irradiation. The production of UV induced thymine dimers and the subsequent scission of a DNA strand by uvrABC

endonuclease (123) could provide the free 5'-end required for DNA polymerase I to remove the damaged nucleotide stretch through its nick-translation activity.

DNA polymerase II was the second DNA polymerase identified from a strain of *E. coli* which was defective in DNA polymerase I. This was also the first indication that DNA polymerase I is not essential for cell viability and that some other polymerase (DNA polymerase III holoenzyme, see below) is the major replicative enzyme (124). The gene encoding DNA polymerase II (*polB*) has been mapped (125) and cloned (128) proving that the gene has a locus distinct from DNA polymerase I (*polA*) (126), and the alpha subunit of DNA polymerase III holoenzyme (*dnaE*, see below). Only recently were there published studies describing the characteristics of purified DNA polymerase II. A novel DNA polymerase, presumably DNA polymerase II, is induced in cells that are subjected to UV irradiation (127). This novel DNA polymerase exhibits distinct enzymatic and immunological properties compared to DNA polymerase III holoenzyme and DNA polymerase I. The SOS dependent expression of this DNA polymerase distinguishes it from the other polymerases and this may indicate that it has an important role in DNA repair.

DNA polymerase III holoenzyme is the major replicative enzyme of the cell (129) and it is the enzyme required for efficient *in vitro* DNA replication of phages, plasmids, and minichromosomes (130-132). The enzyme is composed of at least 10 subunits based on the number of polypeptides that co-purify with DNA polymerase activity (133). The function of every subunit is not known, however, the biochemical contribution of some of them have been determined. The alpha subunit, the gene product of *dnaE* (134), is the polypeptide responsible for DNA synthesis (135). The epsilon subunit, encoded by *dnaQ* or *mutD* (136), contains the 3'-5' exonuclease activity (137) and confers a high processivity to the alpha subunit (138). This two subunit enzyme assembly is the minimal complement of polypeptides required to achieve reasonable DNA polymerization activity *in vitro*. The beta subunit, encoded by *dnaN* (139), confers an even higher processivity to

the alpha-epsilon assembly\(140). The tau subunit causes the core DNA polymerase to dimerize (141) and may facilitate the assembly of the holoenzyme at the replication fork (142). The tau and delta' subunits accelerate assembly of the holoenzyme onto its template and the reconstitution of these five polypeptides, alpha, epsilon, beta, tau, and delta', produces an enzyme with catalytic properties indistinguishable from the 10 subunit DNA polymerase III holoenzyme (142). Perhaps the other subunits function in the cell in some aspect of DNA repair or a higher order protein complex that is required for faithful DNA synthesis *in vivo*.

The physiological role of DNA polymerase III holoenzyme has been elucidated genetically, as genes encoding for various subunits of the holoenzyme alter the physiology of the cell (143). Mutations in the genes *dnaQ*, *dnaN*, and *dnaE* are conditionally lethal or prevent proper DNA repair after DNA damaging agents have been exposed to the cells (144).

The exposure of cells to UV light results in the accumulation of mutations, often leading to cell death, due to errors in DNA replication. The three DNA polymerases that exist in E. *coli* all contribute to DNA repair to some extent, as mutations in any of the three genes results in some lethal or damaging phenotype.

B. A biochemical model describing the enzymatic requirements at a replication fork.

The enzymes and proteins in *E. coli* required for chromosomal DNA replication were identified and studied by examining the components required for viral DNA replication. Some viral DNAs, being small, do not encode many proteins and rely on host encoded enzymes for the replication of their genome. Three well characterized phages, M13, Φ X174, and G4, were used as model systems for the identification of *E.coli* enzymes involved in DNA replication and the priming of DNA synthesis (Figure 3, (145)).

The viral DNA of M13 exists in the phage coat as a single-stranded molecule (146) and in the first stage of its replication cycle, it is converted to the duplex form by *E. coli* enzymes. The requirement for RNA polymerase in the initial stages of viral DNA replication *in vivo* was inferred from the fact that the reaction is sensitive to rifampicin (147), a known inhibitor of RNA polymerase. The rifampicin sensitive RNA polymerizing event could be duplicated *in vitro*, demonstrating for the first time (148), a biochemical role for RNA polymerase in the priming of DNA replication. An RNA primer is synthesized near a hairpin loop in the DNA at the origin of replication and, in the presence of SSB, DNA polymerase III holoenzyme synthesizes an entire DNA strand complementary to the original parental viral DNA (149).

Another viral DNA, G4, exists in a single stranded form in the phage coat (146), and the mechanism responsible for its replication is differentiated from M13 by the fact that the RNA priming of its replication is not dependent upon *E. coli* RNA polymerase, but by another RNA priming enzyme called primase (150), encoded by *dnaG*. This rifampicin resistant RNA polymerase forms an RNA primer at the G4 origin of replication (151), and in the presence of SSB, DNA polymerase III holoenzyme replicates the parental DNA strand.

The two bacteriophages described above utilize two different enzymes to prime DNA replication at the origin of replication. The mechanism of RNA priming utilized by the single-stranded bacteriophage Φ X174 (146) is the most complex of the three phages in that at least eight *E. coli* enzymes are required to complete the process (152). These proteins have been purified and characterized *in vitro* and include dnaB, dnaC, dnaT (153), primase, SSB, n, n', n". The priming event is initiated in the presence of SSB after the binding of a DNA dependent ATPase, n' (154), to a sequence motif near the origin of DNA replication. This single binding event allows for the nucleation of n, n", dnaC, dnaB, and dnaT. The addition of primase to this initiation complex, termed the primosome, results in the formation of RNA primers at various intervals along the single-stranded DNA as the
primosome translocates along the template (155). These primers can be utilized by DNA polymerase III holoenzyme to synthesize DNA complementary to the template strand.

The characteristics of the *E. coli* enzymes involved in viral DNA replication are thought to reflect their function in the host chromosomal replication. A model describing the propagation of a replication fork has been formed from such studies and is shown in Figure 3. The replication can be divided into two stages, leading and lagging strand DNA synthesis. On the leading strand, DNA is synthesized continuously in the 5'-3' direction by DNA polymerase III holoenzyme. On the lagging strand, DNA is synthesized discontinuously (156) as the primosome translocates along the single-stranded DNA exposed at the replication fork synthesizing RNA primers and DNA polymerase III holoenzyme extends the primers replicating the template. The removal of RNA from RNA-DNA hybrids and DNA gap-filling by DNA polymerase I, followed by nascent chain closure by DNA ligase terminates the process.

The enzymes proposed to function at the growing replication fork are topoisomerases and helicases which can relieve torsional strain and unwind the duplex DNA. The involvement of the rep helicase was surmised from its known biochemical role in unwinding DNA with flanking 3' single stranded DNA regions (157) in the Φ X174 rolling circle mode of replication (158). The hydrogen bonds between bases at a replication fork must be broken to allow for the propagation of DNA chains. Therefore, the inclusion of a helicase in this model is required to augment authentic replication fork movement. The *rep* gene product is not essential for *E. coli* viability (159), indicating that it is not the only helicase functioning at the replication fork. However, mutations in *rep* decrease the rate of replication fork movement and increase the number of replication forks per cell (160), indicating it is involved in some aspect of DNA replication *in vivo*.

Figure 3. A model describing the enzymatic requirements at a replication fork (145).



Other helicases discovered since then (161) may replace the function of rep helicase in this model describing the propagation of a replication fork. uvrD or Helicase II (162) can unwind DNA with flanking 3' single-stranded regions in a manner similar to rep helicase. Mutations in *rep* or *uvrD* do not result in cell death, but double mutations in *rep* and *uvrD* are lethal to the cell (163) indicating that at least one of them is required for replication fork propagation and cell viability.

The unwinding of the duplex DNA into single strands at a replication fork relays a positive torsional strain into the double helix in the vicinity of the growing replication fork. DNA gyrase can introduce negative supercoils into covalently closed DNA (164) thus relieving the torsional strain which would have hindered fork movement and the rate of DNA replication. The immediate cessation of DNA synthesis *in vivo* after inhibiting the activity of DNA gyrase by antibiotics (165) or after a temperature upshift in cells containing a temperature sensitive *gyr* allele (166) supports the idea that DNA gyrase is required for progressive fork movement in DNA replication (167).

C. The initiation of DNA synthesis from *oriC* plasmids catalyzed by purified enzymes.

Understanding the mechanisms of viral DNA replication led to the identification of the many cellular enzymes involved in chromosomal replication. These studies gave information concerning the propagation of a replication fork, but information was not obtained on the mechanism of initiation of replication from *oriC* or of its regulation.

The cloning of the chromosomal origin, oriC, into plasmid vectors (24, 25) provided the substrate needed to identify enzymes required for the initiation of replication *in vitro*. A technological breakthrough (90) led to the isolation of a crude enzyme fraction that could authentically initiate DNA synthesis from oriC. The requirements of initiation in this *in vitro* system mimic those *in vivo*. These include 1) rifampicin sensitivity in initiation

demonstrating the requirement of RNA polymerase, 2) sensitivity to inhibitors of DNA gyrase and 3) a bidirectional mode of DNA synthesis (168).

The essential and unique requirement for the *dnaA* gene product also exists in the *in vitro oriC* replication system. A crude enzyme fraction from a *dnaA* mutant strain could not support the replication of *oriC* plasmids unless supplied with extracts or fractions containing elevated levels of dnaA protein. This complementation assay was used to purify dnaA protein to near homogeneity (169).

Further refinement of the replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction led to the formation of a reconstituted enzyme system composed of purified enzymes and proteins that could initiate DNA synthesis from *oriC* (132). The minimal complement of enzymes required for the initiation and propagation of DNA chains was divided into three sets; initiation factors (which include the proteins dnaA, HU, dnaB, dnaC, DNA gyrase, and RNA polymerase), elongation factors (which include the proteins dnaB, dnaC, primase, SSB, DNA gyrase, and DNA polymerase III holoenzyme) and specificity factors (topoisomerase I and RNase H) which maintain *oriC* dependent initiation of replication.

The reductionist approach was used to dissect this complex system into more simple components in an effort to understand the role of dnaA protein in initiation. dnaA protein binds cooperatively to *oriC* DNA and other DNAs containing the consensus sequence TTATCCACA (40). The ability of dnaA protein to bind to *oriC* DNA implied that it was one of the first participants in the cascade leading to DNA synthesis.

dnaA protein binds nucleotides with a very high affinity (170). This form of dnaA protein binds to *oriC* DNA with an affinity equivalent to the non-nucleotide form of dnaA protein, indicating that its high affinity binding to ATP does not affect its affinity for DNA and may influence other properties of the protein. Subsequent studies (171) demonstrated that, in the presence of ATP, dnaA protein locally unwinds an A-T rich region at one end of the chromosomal origin to allow for the formation of single-stranded regions that are utilized as substrates by the dnaB-dnaC complex (Figure 4) (42). dnaB and dnaC proteins

form a complex in the presence of ATP (172) that results in the dnaC protein dependent delivery of dnaB helicase to single-stranded DNA (173). The binding of dnaB protein results in the release of dnaC protein and this activates dnaB helicase (174). Further unwinding by the helicase leads to the formation of a small bubble capable of being utilized as a substrate by primase which can subsequently lead to DNA synthesis (175). The regulation of this event may occur at the site of dnaA protein action, in that the ADP form of dnaA protein cannot initiate DNA replication because it is unable to unwind *oriC* DNA (107). Acidic phospholipids, like cardiolipin, reverse the ADP inhibition of dnaA protein, suggesting that a role exists for phospholipids in modulating dnaA protein activity in the cell (176).

This *oriC* unwinding model system is incomplete due to the fact that it excludes other proteins, like RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and RNase H, all known to be present in the cell and involved in *oriC*-dnaA protein dependent replication *in vitro* (177, 178). RNase H degrades RNA in DNA-RNA hybrids and it is believed that RNase H removes RNA synthesized by RNA polymerase at sites other than *oriC* (85) and thus maintains *oriC* specific initiation of DNA synthesis. This idea is confirmed by the observation that RNase H mutant cells lose *oriC* dependent initiation of replication and initiation occurs at other sites on the chromosome (84,179).

The requirement for RNA polymerase was thought to be in forming a RNA molecule in concert with dnaA protein to prime DNA synthesis initiating at oriC (79). This was supported by the results describing the existence of promoters within oriC, RNA transcripts terminating within oriC, and the existence of RNA-DNA transition sites homologous to origin DNA (44-47). A recent study demonstrated that a RNA polymerase dependent RNA transcript does not prime DNA synthesis at oriC, but transcriptional activation by RNA polymerase aids dnaA protein in melting the helix in the vicinity of the A-T rich region near oriC (180). However, a more complex role for RNA polymerase cannot be eliminated.

Figure 4. (A) A linear sequence of the origin region (180).

The bold line represents DNA contiguous to the origin region (boxed). Promoters within and proximal to the origin region are labeled according to the direction of transcription and locus. Consensus sequences required for origin function are represented as filled rectangles within the origin box.

(B) A model describing the stages in dnaA protein dependent initiation (180).

The diagram depicts four stages in the dnaA protein dependent initiation process; 1) binding of dnaA protein in the presence of ATP and HU protein to *oriC*, 2) formation of an open complex at elevated temperatures, 3) entry of the dnaC-dnaB helicase and 4) RNA priming and DNA synthesis.



III. The heat shock response

A. The heat shock proteins of E. coli.

The heat shock response is thought to function as a protective mechanism preventing cellular damage in response to environmental stress (181). However, growing evidence indicates that heat shock proteins play a role in normal cell physiology (182, 183). In *E. coli*, the expression of heat shock proteins is under the control of the *htpR* (*rpoH*) gene product (184), a sigma factor that associates with RNA polymerase. When growing cells are transferred from 30°C to 42°C the expression of the *htpR* gene product is induced and it directs the synthesis of at least seventeen heat shock proteins (185, 186). The rate of synthesis of the heat shock proteins can increase from 5 to 20 times and, 5 to 10 minutes after the heat shock is induced, a new steady state level of expression is achieved.

Seven of the seventeen heat shock proteins from *E. coli* correspond to known gene products and are named *lon, rpoD, groEL, groES, dnaK, dnaJ*, and *grpE*. The *lon* gene product is an ATP dependent protease (187, 188) that is not required for cell viability, but it is required in maintaining a healthy SOS response by proteolytically cleaving a cell division inhibitor (189). The *rpoD* gene encodes sigma 70, the RNA polymerase subunit that directs transcription from most *E. coli* promoters (190). It is thought that an increase in the levels of sigma 70 after heat shock ensures that the cell will be able to rapidly return to normal steady state gene expression and growth.

The other five heat shock gene products described above, were first identified as mutants unable to support lambda phage propagation. *groEL* and groES form an operon and are required for lambda phage body assembly (191, 192) and phage Mu development (193). When *groE* is present at an elevated copy number the thermolability of a *dnaA*

temperature sensitive mutant is suppressed (88,89). The role of groE in *E. coli* metabolism is not well understood, but some mutants are defective in RNA and DNA synthesis at elevated temperatures (194). Recently, groE was shown to be essential for *E. coli* viability (195).

Mutations in *dnaK* (196, 197), *dnaJ* (198), and *grpE* (199) restrict lambda DNA synthesis and affect the global synthesis of E .coli RNA, DNA and protein. These three gene products function in a diverse series of reactions in combination or singly. *dnaK* is required for mini-F DNA replication (203), while *dnaK*, *dnaJ* and *grpE* are required for phage P1 DNA replication (200) and for the initiation of lambda DNA synthesis (201, 202). A novel *dnaK* mutant is specifically defective in initiation of DNA replication indicating a possible role for *dnaK* in that process (66). *dnaK* (204) and *grpE* (205) are required for normal cell growth and they both were shown to interact *in vivo* and *in vitro* (206). The diverse associations amongst different heat shock proteins reflects the cells ability to respond to a wide variety of stimuli.

B. The biochemical role of the 70 kd heat shock proteins.

Bacteria, yeast, insects, plants and mammals all respond to heat shock by synthesizing a set of proteins highly conserved within a cell and among other organisms (207). Antibodies to a 70 kd heat shock protein from chicken cross react with proteins in yeast and humans (208, 209). The 50% homology in the amino acid sequence between a 70 kd heat shock protein from yeast and Drosophila (210) confirmed the high homology that exists between heat shock proteins from different organisms. Another common feature of 70 kd heat shock proteins, which may be required for biochemical activity (see below), is the high affinity for ATP (211).

The biochemical role of the *E. coli* 70 kd heat shock protein, dnaK protein, is not known; however, its biochemical function in lambda phage DNA replication is known

(Figure 5) and its role in that process may provide clues concerning its function in normal *E. coli* growth. Lambda phage DNA replication *in vivo* (212) and *in vitro* (213-215) requires phage encoded and host encoded gene products to authentically initiate bidirectional DNA synthesis (216) from the phage origin of replication, *oriL*. Lambda encodes two of its own initiation proteins, lambda O and P proteins (217-218), that form an initiation complex at *oriL* with the dnaB helicase (219). This initiation complex containing dnaB helicase is similar to the initiation complex at *oriC* containing dnaB protein (173), except that in lambda replication, the activity of dnaB helicase is inhibited when bound by lambda P protein. dnaK protein functions in the presence of dnaJ protein to dissociate lambda P protein from the initiation complex which results in the activation of the dnaB helicase activity (220). This leads to further duplex strand unwinding and subsequent DNA synthesis.

grpE protein is absolutely required for lambda DNA replication *in vivo*, but it is dispensible *in vitro* (221). Although dnaK protein alone can dissociate lambda P protein from the *oriL* initiation complex, grpE protein reduces by ten fold the level of dnaK protein required to dissociate lambda P protein. The mechanism of grpE protein action is unknown, but it was postulated that grpE protein could bind to the dissociated form of lambda P protein. This would reduce the level of dnaK protein required for the lambda P dissociation reaction by preventing non-specific binding of free lambda P protein to dnaK protein. grpE and dnaK proteins can form a complex that is stable in the presence of high levels of salt, but it is unlikely that the two proteins from a complex in initiation, as the reaction contains high levels of ATP and the grpE-dnaK protein complex is dissociated by ATP (202). The role of dnaK in dissociating protein-protein complexes mimics the biochemical role of heat shock proteins in eucaryotic cells.

In Saccharomyces cerevisiae a family of 70 kd heat shock proteins is involved in posttranslational import of proteins into the membranes of organelles (Figure 6A). A series of heat shock protein mutants accumulates unprocessed precursors of proteins destined for the mitochondria or the endoplasmic reticulum (222). The heat shock proteins are thought to affect the conformation of proteins, thus the transport of the precursors into the mitochondria requires that the transported protein maintain a conformation suitable for translocation (223). Proposals for the mechanisms of heat shock protein function include 1) the disassembly of aggregates formed from untranslocated precursor proteins, 2) the alteration of the tertiary structure of proteins prior to insertion into membranes and 3) binding to unfolded domains within proteins to prevent the acquisition of conformations incompatible with translocation.

A *S. cerevisiae* cytosolic protein, shown to be a member of the 70 kd heat shock protein family, stimulates the translocation of prepro-alpha factor across microsomal membranes (224). The rate of *in vitro* protein import, independent of the heat shock protein, could be increased upon urea denaturation of the precursor protein. This denaturation stimulated translocation of prepro-alpha factor mimics the role of the heat shock protein, suggesting that the mechanism of action is through a denaturation of the precursor protein prior to insertion into the membrane.

Another well documented biochemical function of heat shock proteins was observed in mammalian systems (Figure 6B). A 70 kd polypeptide from bovine brain, subsequently shown to be a heat shock protein (225), dissociates clathrin from coated vesicles in an ATP dependent manner (226, 227). This heat shock protein, called uncoating ATPase, hydrolyzes ATP in the process of dissociating clathrin from coated vesicles and it is bound in molar amounts to the dissociated form of clathrin. The uncoating ATPase recognizes a specific conformation in clathrin, as only the form of clathrin bound to coated vesicles is able to elicit its ATPase activity (228, 229).

During heat stress, proteins are thought to become partially denatured resulting in the exposure of hydrophobic domains that interact to form aggregates. Heat shock proteins may bind to such exposed domains to limit aggregation and to promote refolding of the protein to restore its native structure (Figure 6B). During normal cellular metabolism,

protein complexes that are naturally occurring, yet exhibit faces similar to heat denatured proteins, may be acted upon by the heat shock proteins to facilitate the acquisition of a specific conformation (230).

,

Figure 5. A model describing the stages and enzymatic requirements of initiation of DNA replication from the lambda phage origin of replication (221).

Stage 1, binding of lambda O protein to the origin; Stage 2, binding of the lambda P proteindnaB helicase to the initiation complex; Stage 3, binding of dnaJ protein to the initiation complex; Stage 4, binding of dnaK protein to the initiation complex; Stage 5, dissociation of lambda P protein from the initiation complex to activate dnaB helicase activity; Stage 6, RNA priming and DNA synthesis.



.

Figure 6. A model describing heat shock protein function in eucaryotic cells.

(A) Hsp 70, in the presence of ATP, binds to unprocessed proteins destined for the endoplasmic reticulum or the mitochondria. Hsp 70 alters the conformation of the protein to catalyze its insertion into membranes (223).

(B) Hsp 70, in the presence of ATP, binds to protein-protein complexes to catalyze the dissociation of specific proteins from the complex (230).





REFERENCES

- 1. Cairns, J. (1963) J. Mol.Biol. 6: 208-213.
- 2. Marsh, R.C. and Worcel, A. (1977) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74: 2720-2724.
- 3. Watson, J.D. and Crick, F.C. (1953) Nature 171: 737-738.
- 4. Messelson, M. and Stahl, F.W. (1958) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 44: 671-682.
- 5. Schaechter, E.O., Maaloe O., and Kjeldgaard. N.O. (1958) J. Gen. Micro. 19: 592-606.
- 6. Churchward, G., Bremer, H., and Young R. (1982) J. Theor. Biol. 94: 651-670.
- 7. Pritchard, R.H. and Lark, K.G. (1964) J. Mol. Biol. 9: 288-307.
- 8. Schaechter, M.(1961) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 26: 53-62.
- 9. Maaloe, O. and Hanawalt, P.C. (1961) J. Mol. Biol. 3: 144-155.
- 10. Dove, W.F., Hargorve, E., Ohashi, M., Haugli, F., and Guha, A. (1958) Japan J. Genet. 44: 11-22.
- 11. Cooper, S. and Helmstetter, C. (1968) J. Mol. Biol. 31: 519-540.
- 12. Herenden, S.L., Van Bogelen, R.A, and Neidhardt, F.C (1979) J. Bact. 139: 185-194.
- 13. Skarstad, K., Steen, H.B., and Boye, E. (1983) J. Bact. 154: 656-662.
- 14. Jacob, F., Brenner, S., and Cuzin, F. (1963) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 28: 329-348.
- 15. Jacob, F. and Monad, J. (1961) J. Mol. Biol. 3: 318-356.
- 16. Lark, K.G., Repko, T., and Hoffman, E.F. (1963) *Biochem. Biophys. Acta.* 76: 9-24.
- 17. Bird, R.J., Louran, J., and Martuscelli, J. (1972) J. Mol. Biol. 70: 549-566.
- 18. Louran, J., Funderburgh, M., and Bird, R.E. (1974) J. Bact. 120: 1-5.
- 19. Masters, M. and Broda, P. (1971) Nature New Biol. 232: 137-140.
- 20. Prescott, D.M. and Kuempel, P.L. (1972) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69: 2842-2845.
- 21. Hohlfeld, R. and Vielmetter, W. (1973) Nature New Biol. 118: 130-132.

- 37
- 22. McKenna, W.G. and Masters, M. (1972) Nature 240: 536-539.
- von Meyenburg, K., Hansen, F.G., Nielson, L.D., and Jorgenson, P. (1977) Mol. Gen. Genet. 158: 101-109.
- 24. Yasuda, S. and Hirota, Y. (1977) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74: 5458-5462.
- 25. von Meyenburg, K., Hansen, F.G., Nielson, L.D., and Riise, E. (1978) Mol. Gen. Genet. 160: 287-295.
- 26. Oka, A., Sugimoto, K., Takanami, M., and Hirota, Y. (1980) Mol. Gen. Genet. 178: 9-20.
- Meijer, M., Beck, E., Hansen, F.G., Bergmans, E.M., Messer, W., von Meyenburg, K., and Schaller, H. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76: 580-584.
- 28. Sugimoto, K., Oka, A., Sugisaki, H., Takanami, M., Nishimura, A., Yasuda, S., and Hirota, Y. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 76: 575-579.
- 29. Messer, W., Meijer, M., Bergmans, H.E.M., Hansen, F.G., von Meyenburg, K., Beck, E., and Schaller, H. (1979) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 43: 139-145.
- 30. Oka, A., Sasaki, H., Sugimoto, K., and Takanami, M. (1984) J. Mol. Biol. 176: 443-458.
- 31. Zyskind, J.W., Harding, N.E., Takeda, Y., Cleary, J.M., and Smith, S.W. (1981) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 13-25.
- 32. Zyskind, J.W. Cleary, J.M., Brusiolw, W.S.A., Harding, N.E., and Smith, S.W. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 1164-1168.
- Brooks, J.E., Blumenthal, R.M., and Gingeras, T.R. (1983) Nucl. Acids Res. 11: 837-851.
- 34. Szyf, M., Greenbaum, Y., Urieli-Shuval, S., and Razin, A. Nucl. Acids. Res. 10: 7247-7259.
- 35. Messer, W., Bellekes, U., and Lother, H. (1985) The EMBO Journal 4: 1327-1332.
- 36. Smith, D.W., Garland, A.M., Herman, G., Ehns, R.E., Baker, T., and Zynskind, J.W. (1985) The EMBO Journal 4: 1319-1327.
- 37. Bakker, A. and Smith, D.W. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 5738-5742.
- 38. Russell, D.W. and Zinder, N.D. (1987) Cell 50: 1071-1079.
- 39. Ogden, G.B., Pratt, M.J., and Schaechter, M. (1988) Cell 54: 127-135.
- 40. Fuller, R.S., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 889-900.

- 41. Matsui, M., Oka, A., Takanami, M., Yasuda, S., and Hirota, Y. (1985) J. Mol. Biol. 184: 529-533.
- 42. Bramhill, D. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 52: 743-755.
- 43. deWind, N., Parren, P., Stuitje, A.R., and Meijer, M. (1987) Nucl. Acids Res. 15: 4901-4914.
- 44. Naohito, N., Okazaki, T., Ogawa, T. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 14176-14183.
- 45. Junker, D.E., Rokeach, L.A., Ganea, D., Chiaramello, A., and Zyskind, J.W. (1986) Mol. Gen. Genet. 203: 101-109.
- 46. Kohara, Y., Tohdoh, N., Jiang, X.W., and Okazaki, T. (1985) Nucl. Acids. Res.13: 6847-6866.
- 47. Rokeach, L.A., Kassavetis, G.A., and Zyskind, J.W. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262: 7264-7272.
- 48. Wechsler, J.A. and Gross, J.D. (1971) Mol. Gen. Genet. 113: 273-284.
- Hirota, Y., Ryter, A., and Jacob, F. (1968) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 33: 677-693.
- 50. Hirota, Y., Mordah, J., and Jacob, F. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 53: 369-387.
- 51. Wher, C.T., Waskell, L., and Glaser, D.A. (1975) J. Bact. 121: 99-107.
- 52. Hansen, E.B., Atlung, T., Hansen, F.G., Skovgaard, O., and von Meyenburg, K. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 387-396.
- 53. Miki, T., Kimura, M., Hiraga, S., Nagat, T., and Yura, T. (1979) J. Bact. 140: 817-824.
- 54. Hansen, F.G. and von Meyenburg, K. (1979) Mol. Gen. Genet. 175: 135-144.
- 55. Sakakibara, Y., Tsukano, H., and Sako, T. (1981) Gene 13: 47-55.
- 56. Filutowicz, M. (1980) Mol. Gen. Genet. 177: 301-309.
- 57. Ream, L.W., Margossian, L., Clark, A.J., Hansen, F.G., and von Meyenburg, K. (1980) Mol. Gen. Genet. 180: 115-121.
- 58. Hansen, E.B., Hansen, F.G., and von Meyenburg, K. (1982) Nucl. Acids Res. 10: 7373-7385.
- 59. Ohmori, H., Kimura, M., Nagata, T., and Sakakibara, Y. (1984) Gene 28: 159-170.
- 60. Atlung, T., Clausen, E.S., and Hansen, F.G. (1985) Mol. Gen. Genet. 200: 442-450.
- 61. Braun, R.E., O'Day, K., and Wright, A. (1985) Cell 40: 159-169.

- 62. Wang, Q.P. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 7338-7444.
- 63. Hansen, F.G.and Rasmussen, K.V. (1977) Mol. Gen. Genet. 155: 219-225.
- 64. Carl, P. (1970) Mol. Gen. Genet. 109: 107-122.
- 65. Zyskind, J.W. and Smith, D.W. (1977) J. Bact. 129: 1476-1486.
- 66. Sakakibara, Y. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 972-979.
- 67. Murakami, Y., Nagata, T., Schwarz, W., Wada, C., and Yura, T. (1985) J. Bact. 162: 830-832.
- 68. Lark, K.G. and Wechsler, J.A. (1975) J. Mol. Biol. 92: 145-163.
- 69. Wechsler, J.A. (1975) J. Bact. 121: 594-599.
- 70. Lark, K.G. (1972) J. Mol. Biol. 64: 47-60.
- 71. Messer, W. (1972) J. Bact. 112: 7-12.
- 72. Hiraga, S. and Saitoh, T. (1974) Mol. Gen. Genet. 132: 49-62.
- 73. Tanaka, M., Ohmori, H., and Hiraga, S. (1983) Mol. Gen. Genet. 192: 51-60.
- 74. Rasmussen, K.V., Atlung, T., Kerzman, G., Hansen, E.G., and Hansen, F.G. (1983) J. Bact. 154: 443-451.
- 75. Zyskind, J.W., Dean, L.T., and Smith, D.W. (1977) J. Bact. 129: 1466-1475.
- Wechsler, J.A.and Zdzienicka, M. (1975) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 3: 634-639.
- 77. Atlung, T. (1981) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21: 297-314.
- 78. Bagdasarian, M.M., Izakowska, M., and Bagdasarian, M. (1977) J. Bact. 130: 577-582.
- 79. Atlung, T. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 197: 125-128.
- 80. Schaus, N., O'Day, K., Peters, W., and Wright, A. (1981) J.Bact. 145: 904-913.
- Schaus, N., O'Day, K., and Wright, A. (1981) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 315-323.
- 82. Torrey, T.A., Atlung, T., and Kogoma, T. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 350-355.
- 83. Kogoma, T. and von Meyenburg, K. (1983) The EMBO Journal 2: 463-468.
- 84. deMassey, B., Fayet, O., and Kogoma, T. (1984) J. Mol. Biol. 178: 227-236.
- 85. Ogawa, T., Pickett, G.G., Kogoma, T., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 81: 1040-1044.

- 86. Hupp, T.R. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) Mol. Gen. Genet. 213: 471-478.
- 87. Walker, J.R., Ramsen, J.A., and Haldenwong, W.G. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 3340-3344.
- 88. Fayet, O., Louarn, J.M., and Georgopoulos, C. (1986) Mol. Gen. Genet. 202: 435-445.
- 89. Jenkins, A.J., Marsh, J.B., Oliver, I.R, and Masters, M. (1986) Mol. Gen. Genet. 202: 446-454.
- 90. Fuller, R.S., Kaguni, J.M., and Kornberg, A. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78: 7370-7374.
- 91. Sompayrac, L. and Maaloe, O. (1973) Nature New Biol. 241: 133-135.
- 92. Pritchard, R.H., Barth, P.T., and Collins, J. (1969) Symp. Soc. Gen. Micro. 19: 263-297.
- 93. Tippe-Schindler, R., Zahn, G., and Messer, W. (1979) Mol. Gen. Genet. 168: 185-195.
- 94. Lycett, G.W., Orr, E., and Pritchard, R.H. (1980) Mol. Gen. Genet. 178: 329-336.
- 95. Donachie, W.D. (1968) Nature 219: 1077-1079.
- 96. Pritchard, R.H. and Lark, K.G. (1964) J. Mol. Biol. 9: 288-307.
- 97. Chiaramello, A. and Zyskind, J.W. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 4272-4280.
- 98. Atlung, T., Lobner-Olesen, A., and Hansen, F.G. (1987) Mol. Gen. Genet. 206: 51-59.
- 99. Xu, Y.-C., Biemer, H. (1988) Mol. Gen. Genet. 211: 138-142.
- 100. Skarstad, K., Lobner-Olesen, A., Atlung, T., and von Meyenburg, K. (1989) Mol. Gen. Genet. 218: 50-56.
- 101. Sakakibara, Y. and Yuasa, S. (1982) Mol. Gen. Genet. 186: 87-94.
- 102. Atlung, T., Rasmussen, E.S., Clausen, E.S., and Hansen, F.G.(1985) pp. 282-297 Molecular Biology of Bacterial Growth. Jones and Bartlett, Boston.
- 103. Skarstaad, K. Hansen, F.G., and Boye, E. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 852-859.
- 104. Skarstad, K.H., Steen, H.B., and Boye, E. (1985) J. Bact. 163: 661-668.
- 105. Kusano, T., Steinmetz, D., Hendrickson, W.G., Murchie, J., Benson, A., and Schaechter, M. (1984) J. Bact. 158: 313-316.
- 106. Jacq, A., Kern, R., Tsugita, A., and Kohiyama, M. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 1409-1414.

- 107. Sekimizu, K. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7131-7135.
- 108. Ohta, A., Waggonerk, K., Radominska-Pyrek, A., and Dowhan, W. (1981) J. Bact. 147: 552-562.
- 109. Lark, K.G. (1979) Biological Regulation of Development. Vol. 1 Gene Expression Plenum Publishing Corp., New York.
- 110. Lehman, I.R., Bessman, M.J., Simms, E.S., and Kornberg, A. (1958) J. Biol. Chem. 233:163-170.
- 111. Getter, M.L., Molneux, I.J., Kornberg, T., and Khorana, H.G. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247: 332-3326.
- 112. Wickner, R.B., Ginsberg, B., Berkower, I., and Hurwitz, J. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247: 489-497.
- 113. Kornberg, T. and Gelter, M.L. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247: 5369-5375.
- 114. Kornberg, A. (1969) Science 163: 1410-1418.
- 115. Deutscher, M.P. and Kornberg, A. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244: 3019-3028.
- 116. Englund, P., Huberman, J.A., Jovin, J.M., and Kornberg, A. (1969) J. Biol. Chem. 244: 3038-3044.
- 117. Kelly, R.B., Cozzarelli. N., Deutscher, M.P., Lehman, I.R., and Kornberg, A. (1970) J. Biol. Chem. 245: 39-45.
- 118. Lehman, I.R. and Richardson, C.C. (1964) J. Biol. Chem. 239: 233-241.
- 119. Brutlag, D. and Kornberg, A. (1972) J. Biol. Chem. 247: 241-248.
- 120. Kelly, R.B., Atkinson, M.R., Huberman, J.A., and Kornberg, A. (1969) Nature 224: 495-501.
- 121. Lehman, I.R. (1967) Ann. Rev. Biochem. 36: 645-668.
- 122. Gross, J. and Gross, M. (1969) Nature 224: 1166-1168.
- 123. Seeberg, E. (1978) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 75: 2569-2573.
- 124. DeLucia, P. and Cairns, J. (1969) Nature 224: 1164-1166.
- 125. Campbell, J.L., Shizuya, H, and Richarson, C.C. (1974) J. Bact. 119: 494-499.
- 126. Kelly, W.S. and Grindley, N.D.F. (1976) Mol. Gen. Genet. 147: 307-314.
- 127. Bonner, C.A., Randall, S.K., Rayssiguier, C., Radman, M., Eritja, R., Kaplan, B.E., McEntee, K.M., and Goodman, M.F. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 18946-18952.

- 128. Chen, M., Bryan, S.K., and Moses, R.E. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 20591-20595.
- 129. McHenry, C.S. (1988) Ann Rev. Biochem. 57: 519-550.
- 130. Wickner, W., Schekman, R., Geider, K., and Kornberg, A. (1973) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 70: 1764-1767.
- 131. McHenry, C.S. and Kornberg, A. (1977) J. Biol. Chem. 252: 6478-6484.
- 132. Kaguni, J.M. and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 183-190.
- 133. Maki, S. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 6555-6560.
- 134. Gefter, M.L., Hirota, Y., Kornberg, T., Weschler, J.A., and Barnoux, C. (1971) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 68: 3150-3153.
- 135. Maki, H. and Kornberg, A. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 12987-12992.
- 136. Horiuchi, T., Maki, H., and Segimuchi, M. (1978) Mol. Gen. Genet. 163: 277-283.
- 137. Scheuermann, R.H. and Echols, H. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81: 7747-7751.
- 138. Studwell, P.S. and O'Donnell, M. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 265: 1171-1178.
- 139. Burgers, P.M.J., Kornberg, A., and Sakakibara, Y. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78: 5391-5395.
- 140. Crute, J.J., LaDuca, R.J., Johanson, K.O., McHenry, C.S., and Bambara, R.A. (1983) J. Biol. Chem. 258: 11344-11349.
- 141. McHenry, C.S. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257: 2657-2663.
- 142. O'Donnell, M. and Studwell, P.S. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 265: 1179-1187.
- 143. Cox, E.C. (1976) Ann. Rev. Genet. 10: 135-156.
- 144. Hagensee, M.E., Timme, T.L., Bryan, S.K., and Moses, R.E. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 4195-4199.
- 145. Kornberg, A. (1974) DNA Synthesis W.H. Freeman and Company, San Fransisco.
- 146. Denhardt, D.T., Dressler, D., and Ray, D.S. (1978) *The Single Stranded DNA Phages*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- 147. Brutlag, D., Schekman, R., and Kornberg, A. (1971) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 68: 2826-2829.
- 148. Wickner, W., Brutlag, D., Schekman, R., and Kornberg, A. (1972) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69: 965-969.

- 149. Geiderk, K. and Kornberg, A. (1974) J. Biol. Chem. 249: 3999-4005.
- 150. Zechel, K., Bouche, J-P, and Kornberg, A. (1975) J. Biol. Chem. 250: 4684-4689.
- 151. Bouche, J-P., Rowen, L., and Kornberg, A. (1978) J. Biol. Chem. 253: 765-769.
- 152. Schekman, R., Weiner, A., and Kornberg, A. (1974) Science 186: 987-993.
- 153. Masai, H., Bond, M.W., Arai, K. (1986) Proc. Natl . Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 1256-1260.
- 154. Lee, M.S. and Marians, K.J. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 8245-8349.
- 155. Arai, K, and Kornberg, A. (1979) Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76: 4308-4312.
- 156. Okazaki, R.T., Okasaki, K., Sakabe, K., Sugimoto, K., and Sugino, A. (1968) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **59**: 598-605.
- 157. Geider, K., Baumel, I., and Neyer, T. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257: 6488-6493.
- 158. Scott, J.F., Eisenberg, S., Bertsch, L.L., and Kornberg, A. (1977) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74: 193-197.
- 159. Colasanti, J. and Denhardt, D.T. (1987) Mol. Gen. Genet. 209: 382-390.
- 160. Lane, H.E.D. and Denhardt, D.T. (1975) J. Mol. Biol. 97: 99-112.
- 161. Chao, K. and Lohman, T. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265: 1067-1076.
- 162. Matson, S.W. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 10169-10175.
- 163. Fassler, V.S., Tessman, I., and Tessman, E.S. (1985) J. Bact. 161: 609-614.
- 164. Gellert, M., Mizuuchik, K., O'Dea, H., and Nash, H. (1976) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73: 3872-3876.
- 165. Filutowicz, M. and Jonczyk, P. (1983) Mol. Gen. Genet. 191: 282-287.
- 166. Kruezer, K.N. and Cozzarelli, N.R. (1979) J. Bact. 140: 424-435.
- 167. Drlicak, K. (1984) Micro. Rev. 48: 273-289.
- 168. Kaguni, J.M., Fuller, R.S., and Kornberg, A. (1982) Nature 296: 623-627.
- 169. Fuller, R.S. and Kornberg, A.(1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 5817-5820.
- 170. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 50: 259-265.
- 171. Baker, T.A., Sekimizu, K., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1986) Cell 45: 53-64.
- 172. Kabori, J. and Kornberg, A. (1982) J. Biol. Chem. 257: 13763-13769.

- 173. Wahle, E., Lasken, R.S., and Kornberg, A. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 2469-2475.
- 174. LeBowitz, J.H. and McMacken, R. (1986) J. Biol Chem. 261: 4738-4748.
- 175. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7124-7130.
- 176. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A.(1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 7202-7205.
- 177. van der Ende, A., Baker, T.A., Ogawa, T., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 4078-4084.
- 178. Ogawa, T., Baker, T., van der Ende, A., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3563-3566.
- 179. Ogawa, T. and Okazaki, T. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 193: 231-237.
- 180. Baker, T.A. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 55: 113-123.
- 181. Yamamori, T. and Yura, T. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 860-864.
- 182. Werner-Washburne, M., Stone, D.E., and Craig, E.A. (1987) Mol. Cell. Biol. 7: 2568-2577.
- 183. Craig, E.A., Kramer, J., and Kosic-Smithers, J. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 4156-4160.
- 184. Grossman, A.D., Erickson, J.W., and Gross, C.A. (1984) Cell 38: 383-390.
- 185. Cowing, D.W., Bardwell, J.C., Craig, E.A., Woolford, C., Hendrix, R.N., and Gross, C.A. (1985) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82: 2679-2683.
- 186. Neidhardt, F.G., Van Bogelen, R.A., and Vaughn, V. (1984) Ann. Rev. Genet. 18: 295-329.
- 187. Rahray, A., Altuvia, S., Mahajna, G., Oppenheim, A.B., and Gottesman, M. (1977) J. Bact. 159: 237-28
- 188. Goff, S.A., Casson, L.P., and Goldberg, A.L. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81: 6647-6651.
- 189. Mizusawa, S. and Gottesman, S. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 358-362.
- 190. Losick, R. and Chamberlin, M. (1976) RNA Polymerase Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- 191. Sternberg. N. (1973) J. Mol. Biol. 76: 1-24.
- 192. Zweig, M. and Cummings, D.J. (1973) J. Mol. Biol. 70: 505-518.

- 193. Pato, M., Banerjee, M., Desmet, L., and Toussaint, A. (1987) J. Bact. 169: 5504-5509.
- 194. Wada, M. and Itikawa, H. (1984) J. Bact. 157: 694-696.
- 195. Fayet, O., Ziegelhoffer, T., and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 1379-1385.
- 196. Georgopoulos, C. (1977) Mol. Gen. Genet. 151: 35-39.
- 197. Saito, H. and Uchida, H. (1977) J. Mol. Biol. 113: 1-25.
- 198. Saito, H. and Uchida, H. (1978) Mol. Gen. Genet. 164: 1-8.
- 199. Ang, D., Chandrasekhar, G.N., and Georgopoulos, C. (1986) J. Bact. 167: 25-29.
- 200. Tilly, K. and Yarmolinsky, M. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 6025-6029.
- 201. Zylicz, M., Yamamoto, T., McKittick, I.V., Sell, S., and Georgopoulos, C. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 7591-7598.
- 202. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., and Georgopoulos, C. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262: 17437-17447.
- 203. Ezaki, B., Ogura, T., Mori, H., Niki, H., and Hiraga, S. (1989) Mol. Gen. Genet. 218: 183-189.
- 204. Bukav, B. and Walker, G.C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 6030-6038.
- 205. Ang, D. and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 2748-2755.
- 206. Johnson, C., Chandrasekhar, G.N., and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 1590-1596.
- 207. Mues, G.I., Munn, T.Z., and Rases, J.D. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 874-877.
- 208. Kelly, P.M. and Schlesinger, M. J. (1982) Mol. Cell. Biol. 2: 267-274.
- 209. Ingolia, T.D., Slater, M.R., and Craig, A.E. (1982) Mol. Cell. Biol. 2: 1388-1398.
- 210. Bardwell, J.C, and Craig, E.A. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81: 848-852.
- 211. Zylicz, M., LeBowitz, J.M., McMacken, R., and Georgopoulos, C. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 6431-6435.
- 212. Friedman, D.I., Olson, E.R., Georgopoulos, C., Tilly, K., Herskowitz, I., and Banuett, F. (1984) *Microb. Rev.* 48: 299-325.
- 213. Ander, I.A. and Klein, A. (1982) Nucl. Acids Res. 10: 1733-1740.
- 214. Tsurimoto, T.and Matsubora, K. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 7639-7643.

- 215. Wold, M., Mallory, J., Roberts, J., LeBowitz, J., and McMacken, R. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 6176-6180.
- 216. Schnos, M and Inman, R.B. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 51: 61-73.
- 217. Zahn, K. and Blattner, F. (1985) The EMBO Journal 4: 3605-3616.
- 218. Zylicz, M., Gorska, I., Taylor, K., and Georgopolous, C. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 401-406.
- 219. LeBowitz, J.H., Zylicz, M., Georgopolous, C., and McMacken, R. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3988-3992.
- 220. Liberek, K., Georgopolous, C., and Zylicz, M. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 6632-6636.
- 221. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., Libereck, K., and Georgopolous, C. (1989) The EMBO Journal 8: 1601-1608.
- 222. Deshaies, R.J., Koch, B.D., Werner-Washburne, M., Craig, E.A., and Schekman, R. (1988) Nature 332: 800-805.
- 223. Eilers, M. and Schatz, G. (1986) Nature 322: 228-232.
- 224. Chirico, W.J., Waters, M.G., and Blobel, G. (1988) Nature 332: 805-810.
- 225. Chappell, T.G., Welch, W.J., Schlossman, D.M., Palter, K.B., Schlesinger, M.J., and Rothman, J.E. (1986) Cell 45: 3-13.
- 226. Schlossman, D.M., Schmis, S.L., Braell, W.A., and Rothman, J.E. (1984) J. Cell Biol. 99; 723-733.
- 227. Braell, W.A., Schlossman, S.L., Schmid, S.L., and Rothman, J.E. (1984) J. Cell Biol. 99: 734-741.
- 228. Schmid, S.L. and Rothman, J.E. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 10044-10049.
- 229. Schmid, S.L. and Rothman, J.E. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 10050-10056.
- 230. Pelham, M. (1986) Cell 46: 959-961.

Chapter II

SUPPRESSION OF THE Escherichia coli dnaA46 MUTATION BY A MUTATION IN trxA, THE GENE FOR THIOREDOXIN

ABSTRACT

The dasC mutation was mapped by P1 transduction near the *rep*, *rho* and *trxA* region of the *E. coli* chromosome. The dasC mutation could not be separated from *trxA* by P1 transduction indicating that the dasC mutation maps within *trxA*. Multicopy plasmids containing an intact *trxA* gene were able to reverse the suppressive effect of the dasC mutation on the dnaA46 phenotype. Introduction of a frameshift mutation into the cloned *trxA* coding region abolished the ability of the recombinant plasmids to reverse the suppressive effect. These results indicate that dasC and *trxA* are allelic.

INTRODUCTION

Initiation of DNA replication from the *Escherichia coli* chromosomal origin, *oriC*, depends on numerous gene products identified by genetic and biochemical analyses. Physiological and genetic studies have indicated that the gene products of *dnaA*, *dnaB*, *dnaC*, *dnaG*, *dnaK*, and *gyrB* are required during the initiation process (1-4). An RNA polymerase mediated event is also required as inferred from the inhibition of initiation of DNA synthesis by rifampicin, a specific inhibitor of RNA polymerase (5, 6).

Biochemical studies of dnaA protein indicate that it acts early in the replication of recombinant plasmids containing the *oriC* sequence and that it binds to DNA sequences within *oriC* (7-9). Other studies have revealed different mechanisms of priming of DNA replication by primase, the product of the *dnaG* locus, by RNA polymerase, or by both enzymes (10, 11). Formation of a pre-priming complex has been observed in replication primed by primase (12). The requirement for proteins, dnaA, dnaB, dnaC, and DNA gyrase suggests their interaction in complex formation and substantiates observations from in vivo studies. A determination of additional properties of dnaA protein and proteins it may interact with will further the understanding of initiation of DNA replication.

A genetic approach to analysis of complex processes has been to select and to characterize extragenic suppressors of mutations in genes whose products are known to be involved in that process (13). This approach has also been used in the isolation of mutants which have not been obtained by conventional genetic approaches (14, 15). Such extragenic suppressors may either interact functionally with the gene product of the primary mutation, alter the levels of the gene product of the primary mutation, or by-pass the requirement of the primary gene product.

This approach has been applied to the analysis of the initiation of DNA replication. Temperature resistant derivatives of thermosensitive alleles of the *dnaA* gene have been isolated (14, 16, 17). One of the first characterized extragenic suppressors of *dnaA* mutants

was mapped in the *rpoB* gene which encodes the B subunit of RNA polymerase (14, 17). Allele specific suppression has been observed in that only some *rpoB* alleles are capable of suppressing particular *dnaA* alleles. Based on this evidence, it has been proposed that RNA polymerase and the *dnaA* gene product interact in a transcriptional event required for the initiation of DNA replication.

Six additional *dnaA* suppressors have been isolated and mapped (14). One of these extragenic suppressors, *dasF*, is allelic with the gene encoding RNaseH (18). This suppression appears to by-pass the normal requirement for *dnaA* mediated initiation of DNA replication at *oriC*, by allowing *dnaA* independent initiations to occur at other sites on the *E. coli* chromosome (19). A second suppressor, *dasC*, has been mapped by the use of specialized transducing phages to the *ilv* region of the chromosome (14). This region is well characterized genetically and includes the *rep* gene which encodes a helicase required fro the replication of bacteriophages, the *rho* gene which encodes a transcriptional termination factor, and *trxA* ,the gene encoding thioredoxin (20-22). This study extends the characterization of *dasC* by implicating the involvement of thioredoxin in suppression.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Bacterial strains, phages, and plasmids. The bacterial strains used or constructed for this study are listed in Table 1. Phages Plvir, M13Gori1 (23), and T7, and plasmid pBR322 were laboratory stocks. pJG31 (24) was a gift from D. Calhoun (Mount Sinai School of Medicine).

Strain constructions. The dnaA46 allele was transduced from K0778 into AB1157 by linkage to *tnaA::Tn10* (25). A tetracycline-resistant, temperature-sensitive transductant named ABA46 was obtained and used in the indicated experiments. The trxA::kan allele was transduced from A179 into ABA46. A kanamycin-resistant, temperature-sensitive transductant named TRA46 was obtained. The trxA::kan allele was transduced from TRA46 into TC382. A temperature-sensitive isolate (TRH202) was obtained. A temperature-resistant isolate was obtained which resulted from the reversion of dnaA46 to dnaA⁺. This temperature resistant isolate, TRH204, is isogenic with TRH2 through 7 and TRH9 through 18 (Table 2). F1::Tn10 from K603 was transferred into TC187 and TC382 with selection by plating the mating mixture onto LB plates containing tetracycline (30 ug/ml) and streptomycin (25 g/ml). LB media and minimal A media supplemented with 0.5% glucose and the required L-amino acids were prepared as described. Where indicated ampicillin (30 ug/ml) and tetracycline (12 ug/ml) were added to the above media. Plasmid constructions. Plasmid pJGAKpn was constructed by digestion of pJG31 DNA (Figure 1) with KpnI followed by recircularization of the larger fragment with T4 DNA ligase (New England Biolabs) to delete coding sequences for rho and trxA. Plasmid pRH023 was constructed by digestion of pJG31 with PvuII and HindIII, followed by isolation of the 3.2 kilobase (kb) fragment containing the rho and trxA genes. Fragment purification from agarose gels was performed by electrophoresis onto Whatman DE81 paper, elution from the paper by incubation in 1.7 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8), and 1 mM EDTA at 37°C for 2 hr and concentration by ethanol precipitation. This fragment was

ligated to the 2.3 kb PvuII-HindIII fragment of pBR322 containing the replication origin and B-lactamase gene. Self-ligation of the vector was minimized by treatment with calf intestinal phosphatase (Boehringer Mannheim). Plasmid pRH0117 was constructed by linearization of pRH023 at the single Bcll site in the rho gene with Bcll restriction enzyme. The cohesive termini were end-filled with the large fragment of DNA polymerase I (New England Biolabs) and religated to produce a frameshift mutation in the *rho* coding region. To form pRH0206, a 12 base pair synthetic BamH1-EcoR1 linker (Worthington) was inserted into pRH023 DNA at the Bcll site. pTXA2 was constructed by restriction of pRH0206 with BamH1 and recircularization of the larger fragment containing the pBR322 origin of replication, the B-lactamase gene, and the trxA gene. pTXA114 and pTXA115 were constructed by cleavage of pTXA2 with ClaI. The cohesive termini were end-filled with the large fragment of DNA polymerase I and religated to introduce a frameshift mutation in the trxA coding region. In the above constructions, transformants were initially screened for plasmids with the appropriate structure by restriction analysis of DNA prepared by the method of Davis et al. (26). Recombinant DNAs with the appropriate structure were purified by the cleared-lysate procedure (27) in CsCl₂-ethidium bromide gradients and the structure was reconfirmed by restriction analysis. Gradient purified DNAs were used for the above constructions. Restriction enzyme digestions, treatment with calf intestinal phosphatase, end-filling with the large fragment of DNA polymerase I. and transformation of CaCl2-treated competent cells were performed as described (28).

Table 1.

Bacterial Strains

Strain	Genotype	Construction, source, or reference
TC187	dnaA46 thi argH metB his trp pyrE lac xyl tsx rpsL tna ilvY uhp +	(14)
TC382	dasC382a	(14)
TC383	dasC383a	(14)
BW6159	ilv::Tn10 thi1 spoT1 relA1 Hfr	CGSCd
K0778	filac bglR proA trpB9700 trp::Tn9 his thi supF81 rpsL tsx dnaA46 tnaA::Tn10	CGSC
AB1157	thr-1 ara-14 leuB6 fl(gpt-proA)62 lacY1 tsx-33 supE44galK2 - hisG4 rpsL31 xyl mtl-1 argE3 thi-1	5 CGSC
ABA46	dnaA46 tnaA::Tn10b	This study
A179	HfrC supD trxA::kan	(31)
TRA46	dnaA46 tnaA::Tn10 trxA:: kan	This study
TRH202	dnaA46 trxA::kan	As in Table 2 from an analogous experiment.
TRH204	trxA::kan (isogenic with TRH2)	As in Table 2 from an analogous experiment.
TRH2-TRI TRH9-TR	H7, trxA∷kan H18	Table 2
TRH1, TRI	H8 dnaA46 dasC trxA::kan	Table 2
K6 03	Fl::Tn10 thr-1 leuB6 trpE63 thi-1 ara-14 lacY1 galK2 galT22 xyl-5 mtl-1 supE44	CGSC
RK4349	pro-3 entA403 his-218 ilvC7 metE163::Tn. filac6 xyl-5 or xyl-7 rpsL109 supE4 hsdR rpsL metB1	lo CGSC
C600	thi-1 thr-1 leuB6 lacYl tonA21 supE44 -hs	IR Lab collection
JM 103	F'traD36 fl(lacpro) thi strA supE endA sbc hsdR proAB laclQZflM15	Lab collection
A307	HfrC sup+ fltrxA307 phoA(Am)	(42)

a isogenic at other loci with TC187 b isogenic at other loci with AB1157 c isogenic at other loci with TC382 d *E. coli* Genetic Stock Center

RESULTS

Mapping of dasC by P1 transduction.

The dasC mutations in TC382 and TC383 which suppress the temperature sensitive phenotype of the *dnaA46* mutant were reported to be 20-50% linked to the *ilv* locus near 84 minutes on the E. coli genetic map ((14); Figure 1). To confirm the map position of the dasC mutation, P1 transductions were performed. P1 lysates from BW6159 (relevant genotype, ilv::Tn10) were used to transduce the dasC, dnaA46 strains TC382 and TC383 to tetracycline resistance at 30°C. Drug-resistant transductants containing ilv::Tn10 should also obtain the wild type dasC gene with a frequency proportional to the distance between the two loci. Of the 96 tetracycline-resistant transductants of TC382 examined, 68 became temperature sensitive at 40°C presumably due to introduction of the wild type dasC gene (71% cotransduction frequency). Transduction of metE::Tn10 from RK4349 (metE::Tn10) into TC382 (dasC, dnaA46) resulted in 14 temperature-sensitive colony isolates out of 96 drug-resistant transductants (15% cotransduction frequency). The cotransduction frequencies between dasC and ilv::Tn10, dasC and dnaA46 (data not shown), and dasC and metE::Tn10 correlates well with the physical map of Figure 1A indicating that the dasC mutation maps near the *ilv* operon. It was not possible to demonstrate linkage of *dasC* to ilv::Tn10 with the strain TC383. Work with TC383 was not continued.

Transduction of a trxA null mutant into TC382.

Experiments performed concurrently (described below) indicated that the *dasC* mutation was located in the *trxA* gene which encodes thioredoxin. The insertion mutation in A179 (*trxA*::*kan*) was used to test whether *trxA* and *dasC* were allelic. Because of the proximity of the *dnaA* gene to *trxA*, the *trxA*::*kan* allele was transduced into ABA46 (*dnaA46*) followed by selection for kanamycin-resistant transductants. A temperature-
Figure 1. Physical map of the *trxA* region (31, 32, 35). (A). Relevant genes near *trxA*. (B). Genes contained in the 7 kb Hind III fragment include the C-terminal coding region of *rep*, the *trxA* and *rho* gene (open boxes), and the region encoding a 38 kilodalton (kd) protein of unknown function (crosshatched box). DNA fragments contained in the different recombinant plasmids (solid line) as well as regions which have been deleted are indicated. Mutations introduced by end-filling of cohesive termini by DNA polymerase I (large fragment) and ligation of blunt-ends ($\land \lor \lor$), or by insertion of a *BamH1-EcoR1* linkers (\blacksquare) are indicated. Restriction enzyme sites : H, *HindlII*; P, *PvulI*; K, *KpnI*; C, *ClaI*; B, *BcII*.



á

sensitive, kanamycin-resistant transductant, TRA46 (dnaA46, trxA::kan), was obtained and used to transduce the insertion mutation trxA::kan into the dasC, dnaA46 strain TC382. Of 576 kanamycin-resistant transductants, 558 were temperature sensitive for growth due to the replacement of dasC by the trxA::kan mutation. This suggests that a trxA null mutant cannot suppress the temperature-sensitive phenotype of dnaA46 and that dasC and trxA might be closely linked. However, further analysis of the remaining 18 temperature-resistant transductants designated TRH1 through TRH18 indicated that they arose either by reversion of dnaA46 to $dnaA^+$, or by an unusual event of gene duplication. The inability to separate dasC from trxA indicates that they are allelic.

Transduction of dnaA46 into TRH1 through TRH18.

Each of the temperature-resistant transductants, TRH1 through TRH18, was used as a recipient in transduction of *tnaA::Tn10* and the linked *dnaA46* mutation from ABA46. Tetracycline-resistant isolates from this experiment were screened for temperature sensitivity. Sixteen of the eighteen transductants named TRH1 through TRH18 appeared to have acquired the *dnaA46* mutation in this experiment near the expected cotransduction frequency (90-95%) with *tnaA::Tn10* (Table 2A). These results indicate that the temperature-resistant transductants TRH2 to TRH7, and TRH9 to TRH18, arose due to reversion of the *dnaA46* mutation into the parental strain TC382 (*dasC, dnaA46*) did not result in a high proportion of temperature-sensitive transductants (Table 2B). This reversion rate (16 temperature-resistant isolates of 576 kanamycin-resistant transductants obtained by transduction of *trxA::kan* into TC382) is abnormally high relative to the reversion of *dnaA46* to temperature resistance in other strains. This may be due to a deleterious effect of the *trxA::kan* allele on growth when introduced into TC382. Such strains grow poorly with a generation time of 65 min in comparison to 35 min for TC382.

Table 2

recipient	tetracycline-resistant colonies	temperature-resistant colonies .
A. TRH1	24	22
TRH2	24	_0
TRH3	24	3
TRH4	24	Ō
TRH5	24	1
TRH6	24	1
TRH7	24	Ō
TRH8	24	21
TRH9	24	0
TRH10	24	3
TRH11	24	Ō
TRH12	24	2
TRH13	24	ō
TRH14	24	ŏ
TRH15	24	õ
TRH16	24	ŏ
TRH17	24	ŏ
TRH18	24	ĩ
B. TC382	48	47 .

Transduction of *dnaA46* into TRH1 through TRH18

The *dnaA46* allele was cotransduced with *tnaA::Tn10* from ABA46 into the indicated recipient strains. Tetracycline-resistant transductants were obtained and screened for temperature resistance by growth on LB plates at 40°C compared to 30°C.

.

In contrast, transduction of tnaA::Tn10 and the linked dnaA46 mutation from ABA46 into TRH1 or TRH8 resulted in most tetracycline-resistant isolates remaining temperature resistant (Table 2). This may suggest that dasC is located close to but not within trxAwith a linkage of 99.6% (558 temperature-sensitive isolates of 560 kanamycin-resistant transductants). Using the formula derived by Wu (49), this cotransduction frequency may suggest a physical distance of 60 bp separating the two markers. By further examination, TRH1 and TRH8 appeared to have arisen by an unusual tandem duplication to retain both the intact trxA gene, presumably dasC, and trxA::kan based on three lines of evidence.

First, if trxA::kan and dasC are linked with a cotransduction frequency of 99.6%, P1 transduction of ilv::Tn10 from BW6159 into TRH1 or TRH8 should result in a cotransduction frequency of about 70% between ilv::Tn10 and $dasC^+$. Of 153 tetracycline-resistant transductants of TRH1 obtained by this cross, only 7 were temperature-sensitive for growth with a linkage of 4.5%. Of 63 tetracycline-resistant isolates of TRH8 examined, 11 were temperature sensitive for growth indicating a linkage of 17.5%. These cotransduction frequencies suggest that dasC and ilv::Tn10 are not as closely linked as expected.

Second, Southern analysis (47) of chromosomal DNA from TRH1 through TRH8 digested with KpnI restriction enzyme indicated the presence of both the *trxA::kan* allele and the *trxA* gene, presumably containing the *dasC* mutation (Figure 2). In this analysis, pTXA2, a pBR322 derivative containing the *trxA* gene in a 1.3 kb chromosomal DNA fragment (Figure 1B), was nick-translated with DNA polymerase I and [α - ³²P] dCTP and used as a probe. Plasmid pJG31 contains a 7 kb HindIII fragment of chromosomal DNA in pBR322 (24). KpnI digestion of this plasmid produced fragments of 2 kb containing *trxA*, and 11 kb containing the vector and remaining chromosomal DNA (lane 1). Both fragments are homologous to the probe. Two fragments of about 2, and 8.5 kb were detected in KpnI-digested chromosomal DNA from AB1157, TC187 (*dnaA46*), and TC382 (*dasC, dnaA46*) (lanes 2-4). The 2 kb fragment comigrates with the smaller KpnI

Figure 2. Plasmid (30 ng) and chromosomal DNA (1 ug unless indicated) purified (48) from the strains listed were restricted with Kpn I, electrophoresed on a 0.7% agarose gel and transferred to nitrocellulose by the method of Southern (47). Southern analysis was performed using ³²P-labeled pTXA2. Lane 1, pJG31; 2, AB1157; 3, TC187; 4, TC382; 5, TRH1 (3 ug); 6, TRH8; 7, TRA46; 8, TRH202; 9, TRH204. Hind III-digested DNA was visualized by ethidium bromide staining prior to transfer and used as a molecular weight marker (sizes indicated in kb)



.

fragment from pJG31 and contains the *trxA* gene. The larger fragment of about 8.5 kb corresponds in size with the 8.5 kb KpnI fragment located to the left of the chromosomal KpnI fragment containing *trxA* (Figure 1, (29)) and homologous to the left portion of the inserted fragment in pTXA2. This fragment appears less intense presumably due to the short region of homology. Southern analysis was performed with chromosomal DNA from TRA46 (*dnaA46*, *trxA::kan*), TRH202 (*dnaA46*, *trxA::kan*), and TRH204 (*trxA::kan*) (lanes 7-9). TRH202 and TRH204 are isogenic at other loci with TC382 (Table 2). In addition to the 8.5 kb KpnI fragment from the left of *trxA*, a 3.8 kb fragment was observed corresponding in size to that expected (4 kb) by replacement of *trxA* in the chromosome with the *trxA::kan* allele (31). The 2 kb fragment containing *trxA* was not observed. In contrast, Southern analysis of KpnI-digested chromosomal DNA from TRH1 and TRH8 indicated the presence of the 2 kb fragment presumably containing the *dasC* mutation in *trxA* (lanes 5, 6). Gene duplications such as this involving *trxA*, and *trxA::kan* have been observed following general transduction and are unstable (30).

A similar analysis of HindIII digested chromosomal DNA from these strains confirmed that both *trxA::kan* and *trxA* are present in TRH1 and TRH8 (data not shown). A 7 kb chromosomal HindIII fragment from pJG31, AB1157, TC187 (*dnaA46*), or TC382 (*dasC, dnaA46*) was observed using 32P-labeled pTXA2 as a probe. The kanamycinresistance gene in *trxA::kan* contains a single HindIII site (31). Chromosomal fragments of about 3.5 kb and 5.2 kb were observed from TRA46 (*dnaA46, trxA::kan*), TRH202 (*dnaA46, trxA::kan*), and TRH204 (*trxA::kan*). These fragment sizes correspond approximately to the fragment sizes expected (5.5 and 3.5 kb) in which *trxA::kan* has replaced *trxA*. The presence of the 7, 3.5, and 5.2 kb fragments in chromosomal DNA from TRH1 and TRH8 not only indicates the presence of *trxA* and *trxA::kan* but also that the event of gene duplication does not involve insertion into the 7 kb HindIII fragment. In addition, other genes in this region also have been duplicated. The third line of evidence that *trxA* and *trxA::kan* are present in TRH1 and TRH8 is that both kanamycin-resistant isolates support T7 phage growth which requires an intact *trxA* gene (data not shown, see below). From the above experiments, we were unable to separate *dasC* from *trxA::kan* by P1 transduction unless a gene duplication event occurred. These results indicate that *trxA* and *dasC* are allelic.

Mapping of dasC with recombinant plasmids.

The dasC mutation was originally mapped by use of *ilv* transducing phages to the right of the *ilv* operon of the *E. coli* chromosome (14). Introduction of particular *ilv* transducing phages into the dasC, dnaA46 strain TC382 reversed the suppressive effect of the dasC mutation and conferred temperature sensitivity. This region of the chromosome has been well characterized and includes *rep*, *rho*, *trxA*, and a gene encoding a 38 kilodalton protein of unknown function (Figure 1B, (21, 22, 32, 33)). Experiments were performed to correlate the dasC gene to one of the known genes in the region by an independent method. This approach relied on introduction of a multicopy number plasmid containing wild type chromosomal DNA from this region into TC382, the dnaA46 strain suppressed by dasC. By a gene dosage effect, the wild type gene product encoded by the plasmid may interfere with the suppressor function of the dasC gene product to make the transformed strain become temperature sensitive.

The recombinant plasmid, pJG31 (24), containing 7 kb of wild type chromosomal DNA from the *dasC* region inserted into pBR322 (Figure 1B), was used to determine whether the presence of this plasmid in TC382 would confer temperature sensitivity to this *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain. Cultures of TC382 either lacking a plasmid, transformed with pJG31, or with the vector pBR322 were tested for the ability to grow at 30°C and 39°C. The *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain containing pJG31 was more temperature sensitive than either TC382 lacking a plasmid, or TC382 containing pBR322 (Table 3). This result indicated

Table 3

Interference of *dasC* function by multicopy number plasmids containing wild type chromosomal DNA.

Expt. A.	Transforming Plasmid	Efficiency of Plating .	
		0.75	
	pBR322	0.63	
	pJG31	3.5 x 10 ⁻²	
	pJG∆Kpn	0.81	
	pRH023	2 x 10 ⁻²	
	pRH0117	1 x 10 ⁻⁴	
	pTXA2	7 x 10 ⁻³ .	
Expt. B.	Transforming Plasmid	Efficiency of Plating .	
	pTXA2	4.1 x 10 ⁻²	
	pJG∆Kpn	0.71	
	pTXA114	1.0	
	pTXA115	0.45	

The dasC, dnaA46 strain TC382 was transformed by the indicated plasmids.

Ampicillin-resistant transformants grown at 30°C were then plated after dilution onto LB plates containing 30 ug/ml ampicillin and incubated at 30°C and 39°C (Expt. A) or at 30°C and 40°C (Expt. B) for 1 day. TC382 lacking a plasmid was plated on LB plates. The data are expressed as the efficiency of plating at 39°C or 40°C relative to 30°C. In comparable experiments, the efficiency of plating of TC187, the isogenic *dnaA46* strain not suppressed by the *dasC* mutation, was <10⁻⁵ at 40°C relative to 30°C.

that this 7 kb chromosomal fragment contained in pBR322 was responsible for the increase in temperature sensitivity.

Derivatives of pJG31 were then constructed to determine the region within this 7 kb chromosomal fragment essential for reversing the suppressive effect of dasC on the dnaA46 mutation. The recombinant plasmid, pJG\DeltaKpn, was constructed which lacks sequences encoding thioredoxin and rho protein (Figure 1B). TC382 (dasC, dnaA46) containing this plasmid was able to grow at 30°C and 39°C as well as either the untransformed strain or this strain harboring pBR322 (Table 3). This result indicates that *rho* and/or *trxA* are required for reversing the suppressive effect of the dasC mutation. It is also possible that an unknown gene product encoded by this region was responsible for the observed phenotype.

The *rho* and *trxA* genes from this region were subcloned from pJG31 to form the plasmid pRH023 (Figure 1B). As was observed with transformants of TC382 containing pJG31, this *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain harboring pRH023 was temperature sensitive for growth. This result indicates that the region lacking in pJG Δ Kpn and contained in pRH023 was required for reversing the suppressive effect of *dasC*.

Recombinants mutationally altered in the *rho* gene or lacking most of the *rho* coding sequence were prepared. These include pRH0117 containing a frame-shift mutation, and pTXA2 containing the N-terminal coding region of the *rho* gene (Figure 1B). The indicated plasmids altered in the *rho* gene were able to reverse the suppressing effect of the *dasC* mutation (Table 3). This indicates that the wild type *rho* gene in intact form apparently is not required for the increase in temperature sensitivity of the plasmid-containing *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain.

Based on DNA sequence information (34, 35) and restriction analysis, the recombinant pTXA2 contains the entire thioredoxin gene in active form (see below), the *rho* promoter, and coding sequences for 13 amino acids of the N-terminal region of the *rho* polypeptide. Upon transformation into TC382 (*dasC*, *dnaA46*), pTXA2 was able to counteract

65

the suppressive effect of the dasC mutation (Table 3).

The coding region for thioredoxin in pTXA2 was altered by cleavage with ClaI restriction endonuclease, and conversion of the cohesive termini to blunt ends by the large fragment of DNA polymerase I. The blunt ends were religated together which is expected to produce a frame-shift mutation to inactivate thioredoxin (see below). This construction also interrupts an open reading frame predicted to direct the synthesis from the coding strand of *trxA* of a polypeptide of 132 amino acids. As this coding sequence which would be complementary to the *trxA* message lacks even an infrequently used initiating codon (36), it is unlikely that this open reading frame, if transcribed, is translated. The resultant plasmids pTXA114 and pTXA115, as well as the vector pBR322 were unable to reverse the suppressive effect of the *dasC* mutation when introduced into TC382 (*dasC*, *dnaA46*) (Table 3).

Thioredoxin is the only intact gene known to be present in the inserted fragment of pTXA2. These results indicate that the *dasC* gene is allelic with *trxA*, the gene for thioredoxin. When contained in MC1061, a strain wild type for the *dasC* and *dnaA* genes, plasmids pJG31, pJG Δ Kpn, and pRH023 did not affect the growth of this strain at either 30°C or 39°C (data not shown). This indicates that conferral of temperature sensitivity by plasmids containing *trxA* is specific for the strain TC382.

The dasC mutation supports T7 and M13 growth.

Thioredoxin has been shown to be essential for M13 and T7 phage propagation (37, 38). The ability of these phages to form plaques on the *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain was determined in an attempt to detect an alteration in thioredoxin activity. T7 phage plated with approximately the same efficiency on TC382 (*dasC*, *dnaA46*), the isogenic parent strain TC187 (*dnaA46*), and on C600 (Table 4).

Table 4

Growth of phages T7 and M13Goril on dasC, and trxA mutant strains.

Strain (plasmid)	Relevant Genotype of Host	T7 Phage	M13Gori1 Phage
TC187	trxA+	+	+*
TC382	dasC	+	+*
C600	trxA+	+	ND
JM103	trxA+	ND	+
A307	trxA307	-	-
A307(pJG31, <i>trxA</i> +)	$\Delta trxA307$	+**	+
A307(pTXA2, <i>trxA</i> ⁺)	∆trxA307	+	+
A307(pTXA114, trxA ⁻	+) Δ <i>trxA307</i>	-	-
A307(pTXA115, trxA ⁻	+) Δ <i>trxA307</i>	-	-
A307(pBR322)	ΔtrxA307		

T7 or the filamentous phage M13Gori1 were plated on the strains listed and on A307 containing the indicated plasmids. LB plates were incubated overnight at 33°C for the indicated strains except for A307 which was incubated at 37°C. ND, not determined; +, sensitive to plaque formation; -, insensitive to plaque formation (<10⁻⁵ for T7, <10⁻⁸ for M13Gori1).

*, F1::Tn10 derivatives of TC187 and TC382 were used.

**, T7 plaque formation on this strain was 50-fold lower relative to C600.

The ability of M13 to form plaques was tested after introduction of an F factor from K603 into TC382 and the parent strain TC187 (Experimental Procedures). The filamentous phage M13Goril was able to form plaques with approximately equal efficiencies on F factor-containing derivatives of TC382 (*dasC*, *dnaA46*), TC187 (*dnaA46*), and on JM103. Both T7 and M13Goril were not able to form plaques on the thioredoxin deletion mutant A307 unless this strain harbored the recombinant plasmid pJG31, or pTXA2 (Table 4). The *trxA* deletion mutant A307 containing pTXA114 or pTXA115 altered by a 2 bp insertion in the *trxA* coding region remained insensitive to plaque formation with either M13 or T7 phage. These results indicate that only recombinant plasmids containing an intact *trxA* gene could complement the *trxA* deletion mutation to support T7 and M13 phage growth.

The result that both T7 and M13Goril can form plaques with approximately equal efficiencies on a wild type strain and on the *dasC*, *dnaA46* strain TC382 indicates that the *dasC* mutation does not dramatically decrease the ability of thioredoxin to function in T7 or M13 growth.

DISCUSSION

We have determined that a mutation, *dasC*, capable of suppressing the temperaturesensitive phenotype of the *dnaA46* mutation maps in the gene encoding thioredoxin, a protein initially isolated as a cofactor for the reduction of ribonucleoside diphosphates by ribonucleotide reductase (39). This conclusion is based on the inability to separate *dasC* from a *trxA::kan* mutation by P1 transduction and on the ability of multicopy number plasmids containing the *trxA* gene to reverse the suppressive effect of *dasC* on the *dnaA46* mutation. In contrast, alteration of the *trxA* coding region in the plasmid by a frameshift mutation abolished the ability of the recombinant plasmid to interfere with *dasC* function in suppression.

Thioredoxin is required for T7 phage growth as an essential subunit of T7 DNA polymerase (37, 40). The phage-encoded gene 5 protein and thioredoxin in a 1 to 1 stoichiometry comprise the active form of this enzyme. Whereas T7 cannot be propagated in mutants of *E. coli* lacking thioredoxin, *trxA* mutants which produce thioredoxins lacking redox activity will support T7 phage growth (33). Biochemical studies with mutant thioredoxin-gene 5 protein complexes indicate that while the reduced form of thioredoxin is necessary to reconstitute T7 DNA polymerase, DNA synthesis by this enzyme does not require further reductant (41).

Thioredoxin is also required as a host factor for filamentous phage assembly (38). Studies indicate that mutant forms of thioredoxin which are inactive as redox proteins will support filamentous phage growth (42). Thioredoxin is not apparently required as a reductant for phage assembly.

The studies reported here indicate that the *dasC* mutation in *trxA* does not alter the ability of this protein to function in growth of either T7 or M13. Russel and Model (42) described an in vivo assay of thioredoxin redox function. Mutants of thioredoxin inactive as redox proteins cannot grow on media containing methionine sulfoxide when the normal

69

methionine generating pathway is blocked. TC382 containing mutations in *metB* and *dasC* plated with equal efficiency on minimal media supplemented with either methionine sulfoxide or methionine and other required amino acids indicating that the *dasC* mutation does not appear to affect the redox activity of thioredoxin (unpublished data). Preliminary studies with partially purified preparations of thioredoxin from this *dasC* strain also indicated that it is active in reduction of 5,5'-dithiobis-(2-nitrobenzoic acid).

Eklund et al. (43) have described domains of thioredoxin which may be involved in interactions between thioredoxin and other proteins in oxido-reduction. Mutations in trxA which affect filamentous phage assembly have been mapped at or near these domains (42). Some of these mutations encode proteins which are active in redox reactions indicating a functional interaction between these mutant forms of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase. It is not known whether the *dasC* mutation maps in one of these domains.

Of its many activities, thioredoxin has been described as a protein disulfide reductase to regulate activity of enzymes involved in CO₂ fixation in plants (20). No evidence exists to indicate that the activity of dnaA protein is influenced by the redox state of its thiol groups. The existence of viable *E. coli* mutants lacking thioredoxin argues against a role of thioredoxin in modulating the activity of dnaA protein unless this effect is not absolutely required or unless another activity in *E. coli* can replace the function of thioredoxin. With regard to the latter possibility, it is thought glutaredoxin and glutaredoxin reductase function in the synthesis of deoxyribonucleotides in the absence of thioredoxin (44).

Thioredoxin has also been observed to function as an efficient protein disulfide isomerase to catalyse the refolding of denatured RNase (45). While no evidence exists to indicate that the native conformation of monomeric dnaA protein is stabilized by disulfide bonds or that its cooperative binding to dnaA protein binding sites requires disulfide bond formation between monomers of dnaA protein, it is possible that the form of thioredoxin encoded by the *dasC* mutation effectively maintains dnaA46 protein in an active form at the normally nonpermissive temperature. We have not been able to transduce the dasC mutation with phenotypic expression from TC382 into isogenic and nonisogenic *E. coli* strains harboring the dnaA46 allele. This inability suggests that an unlinked mutation unstable in the absence of selection is also required for dasC to function as a suppressor.

Attempts to identify the position of the dasC mutation by DNA sequence analysis have not been successful. Based on a cloning strategy described by Russel and Model (31), chromosomal DNA from TC382 (dasC, dnaA46) was inserted into an M13 vector followed by transformation of the thioredoxin deletion mutant A307 and selection for plaque formation. This cloning strategy requires that the trxA gene in the M13 recombinant complements the host trxA deficiency to allow phage growth. Sequence analysis of several recombinants obtained by this method indicated that the promotor and trxA coding region were identical to the wild type sequence. Under conditions which did not select for thioredoxin function in M13 phage growth, M13 recombinants identified by plaque hybridization (46) and analyzed by DNA sequencing or by restriction enzyme mapping lacked the C-terminal coding region of the trxA gene as well as a portion of the vector at the site of insertion. These results indicate that the deletion event occurred during propagation of the recombinant phage. Under identical conditions, the wild-type trxA gene inserted into M13 was not deleted. These results suggest that the dasC mutation reverts to wild type under conditions of selection. In the absence of selection, dasC may be deleterious to cell growth when present in multicopy. Cells capable of maintaining M13 recombinants may arise by deletion of a portion of the trxA coding region.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hirota, Y., Mordoh, J., and Jacob, F. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 53: 369-387.
- 2. Kogoma, T. (1976) J. Mol. Biol. 103: 191-197.
- 3. Zyskind, J.W. and Smith, D.W. (1977) J. Bact. 129: 1476-1486.
- 4. Filutowicz, M. and Jonczyk, P. (1983) Mol. Gen. Genet. 191: 282-287.
- 5. Lark, K.G. (1972) J. Mol. Biol. 64: 47-60.
- 6. Zyskind, J.W., Deen, T., and Smith, D.W. (1977) J. Bact. 129: 1466-1475.
- 7. Fuller, R.S. and Kornberg, A. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 5817-5821.
- 8. Chakraborty, T., Yoshinaga, K., Lother, H., and Messer, W. (1982) The EMBO Journal 1: 1545-1549.
- 9. Fuller, R.S., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 889-900.
- 10. Ogawa, T., Baker, T.A., van der Ende, A., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3562-3566.
- 11. van der Ende, A., Baker, T.A., Ogawa, T., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 7639-7643.
- 12. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1987) Cell 50: 259-265.
- 13. Jarvik, J.and Botstein, D. (1973) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.70: 2046-2050.
- 14. Atlung, T. (1981) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22: 297-314.
- 15. Emr, S.D., Hanley-Way, S., Silhavy, T.J. (1981) Cell 23: 79-88.
- 16. Wechsler, J.A., Zdzienicka, M. (1975) ICN-UCLA Symp. Mol. Cell. Biol. 3: 624-639.
- 17. Bagdasarian, M.M., Izakowska, M., Bagdasarian, M. (1977) J. Bact. 130: 577-582.
- 18. Ogawa, T., Pickett, G.G., Kogoma, T., Kornberg, A. (1984) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81: 1040-1044.
- 19. de Massey, B., Fayet, O., and Kogoma, T. (1984) J. Mol. Biol. 178: 227-236.
- Buchanan, B.B., Wolosiuk, R.A., Schurmann, P. (1979) Trends Biochem. Sci. 4: 93-96.
- 21. Russel, M. and Model, P. (1984) J. Bact. 157: 526-532.

- 22. Tessman, I., Fassler, J.S., and Bennett, D.C. (1982) J. Bact. 151: 1637-1640.
- 23. Kaguni, J. and Ray, D.S. (1979) J. Mol. Biol. 135: 863-878.
- 24. Gray, J.E., Patin, D.W., and Calhoun, D.H. (1981) Mol. Gen. Genet. 183: 428-436.
- 25. Miller, J.H. (1972) Experiments in Molecular Genetics, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY
- 26. Davis, R.W., Thomas, M., Cameron, J., John, T.P., Scherer, S., Padgett, R.A. (1980) *Methods Enzymol.* 65 (Part 1): 404-411.
- 27. Clewell, D.B. and Helinski, D.R. (1969) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 62: 1159-1166.
- 28. Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F., and Sambrook, J. (1982) Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY
- 29. Driver, R.P. and Lawther, R.P. (1985) J. Bact. 162: 598-606.
- 30. Anderson, R.P., Miller, C.G. and Roth, J.R.(1976) J. Mol. Biol. 105: 201-218.
- 31. Russel, M.and Model, P. (1984) J. Bact. 159: 1034-1039.
- 32. Brown, S., Albrechtsen, B., Pedersen, S., and Klemm, P. (1982) J. Mol. Biol. 162: 283-298.
- Huber, H.E., Russell, M., Model, P., Richardson, C.C. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 15006-15012.
- 34. Hoog, J-O., von Bahr-Lindstrom, H., Josephson, S., Wallace, B.J., Kushner, S.R., Jornvall, H., Holmgren, A. (1984) *Biosci. Rep.* 4: 917-923.
- 35. Pinkham, J.L.and Platt, T. (1983) Nucl. Acids Res. 11: 3531-3545.
- Singer, B.S., Gold, L., Shinedling, S.T., Colkitt, M., Hunter, L.R., Pribnow, D., Nelson, M.A. (1981) J. Mol. Biol. 149: 405-432.
- 37. Chamberlin, M. (1974) J. Virol. 14: 509-516.
- 38. Russel, M., and Model, P (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 29-33.
- 39. Laurent, T., Moore, E.C. and Reichard, P.(1964) J. Biol. Chem. 239: 3436-3444.
- 40. Mark, D.F.and Richardson, C.C. (1976) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73: 780-784.
- 41. Adler, S. and Modrich, P. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 258: 6456-6462.
- 42. Russel, M. and Model, P. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 14997-15005.

- 43. Eklund, H., Cambillau, C., Sjoberg, B-M., Holmgren, A., Jornvall, H., Hoog, J-O., Branden, C-I. (1984) The EMBO Journal 3: 1443-1449.
- 44. Holmgren, A. (1976) Proc. Natl.Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 73: 2275-2279.
- 45. Pigiet, V.P. and Schuster, B.J. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 7643-7647
- 46. Benton, W.D.and Davis, R.W. (1977) Science 196: 180-182.
- 47. Southern, E.M. (1975) J. Mol. Biol. 98: 503-517.
- 48. Saito, H.and Miura, K.I. (1963) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 72: 619-629.
- 49. Wu, T.T. (1966) Genetics 54:405-410.

Chapter III

THE Escherichia coli dnaA5 PROTEIN IS INACTIVE IN THE REPLICATION OF oriC PLASMIDS IN RECONSTITUTED ENZYME SYSTEMS

•

ABSTRACT

The purification of dnaA5 protein allowed for its characterization in comparison to dnaA protein. The biochemical characteristics of dnaA5 protein include: 1) a high affinity for DNA containing *oriC* and the *dnaA* promoter, 2) an ability to form proper protein-DNA contacts at the dnaA boxes within the *rpoH* and *dnaA* promoters, 3) the formation of an altered complex with *oriC*, 4) inactivity in *oriC* unwinding assays, 5) inactivity in *oriC* plasmid replication systems containing purified enzymes, 6) inhibition of dnaA protein replication activity suggesting that mixed complexes which form are inactive and 7) thermolabile replication activity in *oriC* plasmid replication systems containing a crude enzyme fraction.

INTRODUCTION

The initiation of DNA replication in *E. coli* is a highly regulated event occurring at regularly timed intervals within the cell cycle (1). The activity of the initiator protein, dnaA, is essential for replication initiating from the chromosomal origin, *oriC*, both *in vivo* (2) and *in vitro* (3). Other enzymes involved in the initiation stage have been identified genetically and biochemically, and include dnaB protein, dnaC protein, DNA gyrase, primase, RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and RNase H (4). A *dnaK* mutant defective in the initiation of DNA replication *in vivo* has been identified (5), indicating that there is a requirement for the *dnaK* gene product during initiation.

The biochemical characterization of the *dnaA* dependent initiation process has led to the reconstitution of purified enzymes that function to replicate *oriC* plasmids *in vitro* (3, 6, 7). Early events in the replication process result in the conversion of supercoiled *oriC* plasmid DNA into topologically altered forms by the actions of dnaA protein, and other initiation proteins (8), demonstrating the specific function provided by dnaA protein during a stage prior to DNA synthesis. Additional studies have demonstrated that dnaA protein can function as a site-specific helicase to locally unwind DNA at *oriC* (9), allowing for the formation of single-stranded regions capable of being bound by pre-primosomal enzymes.

The individual biochemical activities of dnaA protein which are required for its replication activity include 1) sequence specific binding to DNA containing the consensus sequence TTAT (C/A)CA (A/C)A, (10), 2) ATP binding with a K_d of 0.03 uM (11) which converts it to a form active for replication, 3) ADP binding which inhibits its replication activity, and 4) cardiolipin activation of the ADP form of dnaA protein (12, 13). The initial event in initiation involves dnaA protein binding to *oriC* through the interaction with four dnaA boxes to form a nucleoprotein complex which precedes its function in the ATP dependent duplex strand unwinding stage (14, 15). The sequence specific DNA binding activity of dnaA protein is also involved in transcriptional repression of certain genes. dnaA

77

protein binds to the dnaA box within its own promoter autoregulating its transcription (16-18) and to two dnaA boxes within the *rpoH* promoter to inhibit transcription initiating from *rpoH3P* and *rpoH4P* (19).

The identification of conditionally lethal *dnaA* mutants that are defective in the initiation of replication has led to the genetic mapping of the mutations and the positions were shown to be clustered within three regions of the *dnaA* coding region (20). The *dnaA* mutants were placed into three classes and the specific phenotypes associated with each class were categorized in order to associate a domain of the *dnaA* gene product with a specific function. The *dnaA* mutants that were categorized are temperature sensitive for cell growth presumably due to the inactivation of the *dnaA* gene product at elevated temperatures. Some of these conditionally lethal mutants, which include *dnaA46* and *dnaA5*, are cold sensitive in the merodiploid state and asynchronous in the frequency of initiation of DNA replication at permissive temperatures (21).

In a rapidly growing cell there is more than one initiation event during the cell cycle which results in an increase in the number of *oriC* origins. In response to the signal demanding that replication begin, initiations at all of the *oriC* origins occur simultaneously indicating that initiation is synchronous. In some *dnaA* mutants, initiation does not occur at each *oriC* origin as it does in the wild type *dnaA* cell indicating that the mutant has lost the ability to ensure that all *oriC* sites are simultaneously utilized. This un-coordinated initiation is termed asynchronous. The altered timing of initiation, under conditions in which the mutant protein is active, may reflect an intrinsic defect in its initiation activity or a regulatory deficiency.

The biochemical characterization of these mutant forms of dnaA protein may lead to a greater understanding of the role of the *dnaA* gene product in initiation of DNA replication. The purification and characterization of the biochemical deficiencies of dnaA5 protein are reported with the goal of understanding the mechanisms related to the physiological defects associated with *dnaA5* cells.

78

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Reagents and chemicals. Reagents were obtained from the following sources: ribonucleotides, tRNA, polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) (type II), phosphocreatine, heparin, ampicillin, L-arabinose and calf thymus DNA, Sigma; deoxynucleotides and sepharose 4-B, Pharmacia-PL Biochemicals; HEPES, Tris Base, and dithiothreitol (DTT), Calbiochem-Behring; (α - ³²P) ATP (800 Ci/mmol or 3000Ci/mmol and (γ -³²P) ATP (6000 Ci/mmol), DuPont-New England Nuclear Corp.; (³H) TTP, ICN Radiochemicals; hydroxylapatite, Biorad; acrylamide, Boehringer Manheim; TB media contains per liter, 12 g yeast extract (Difco), 24 g tryptone (Difco), 100 mM sodium phosphate (pH 7.0), and 4% glycerol; DNA cellulose was prepared according to the published methods (22) ; and Blue Dextran agarose was a gift from Dr. J. Wilson of this University.

Enzymes and proteins. Enzymes and proteins were obtained from the following sources: bovine serum albumin, Sigma; T4 polynucleotide kinase, restriction endonucleases AvaI, HinfI, ClaI, and TaqI, New England Biolabs; calf intestinal phosphatase (CIP), Klenow fragment, restriction endonucleases AccI and EcoRI, Boehringer Manheim; restriction endonuclease BamHI, Bethesda Research Laboratories.

Highly purified replication proteins were obtained as described (23), dnaA protein (fraction IV, $2 \ge 10^5$ units/mg); dnaA5 protein (fraction V, $6 \ge 10^4$ units/mg) (Chapter III); dnaB protein (fraction V, $6 \ge 10^5$ units/mg); dnaC protein (fraction VI, $3 \ge 10^6$ units/mg); primase (fraction V, $2 \ge 10^6$ units/mg); single stranded DNA binding protein (SSB) (fraction IV $4 \ge 10^4$ units/mg); DNA polymerase III holoenzyme (fraction V, $2 \ge 10^5$ units/mg); DNA gyrase subunit A (fraction III, $2 \ge 10^5$ units/mg); DNA gyrase B subunit (fraction V, $1 \ge 10^5$ units/mg) and RNA polymerase (fraction V, 250 munits/mg). RNase H (fraction IV, $8 \ge 10^5$ units/mg); topoisomerase I (fraction IV, $5 \ge 10^4$ units/mg) and HU protein (fraction IV, $5 \ge 10^4$ units/mg) were gifts from Dr. A. Kornberg, Stanford University. repA protein (fraction V, 8 x 10⁵ units/mg) (29) was a gift from Dr. A. Abeles.

Bacterial strains and plasmid DNAs. Escherichia coli WM433 was obtained from Dr. W. Messer (24); K37 HfrC supD (lambda) is a laboratory stock; TD2, is a derivative of MC1061 containing *tnaA::TN10* and the *dnaA5 allele*; M13oriC26 (25) contains oriC and adjacent *E. coli* chromosomal DNA in M13Gori1; M13oriC2LB5 (3) contains oriC on a 345 bp EcoRI fragment in M13Gori1; pTSO182 (27) contains oriC and adjacent chromosomal DNA on a HaeIII fragment in pBR322; M13P1ori49 contains the P1 phage replication origin cloned into M13mp18 (31); pDS105 (23) contains the *dnaA5* gene cloned under the control of the *araB* promoter in the vector pING1 (26); pBF1509 contains the *dnaA* gene cloned into the *BamH1* site of pAD329 (10); and pFN42 contains the promoter of the *rpoH* gene and a portion of the N-terminal coding region of *rpoH* cloned into the *PstI* site of pBR322 (19). Plasmid DNAs were prepared by the cleared lysis method followed by sedimentation in CsCl2-ethidium bromide gradients (32).

DNA replication assays. DNA replication reactions that employ a crude enzyme fraction deficient in dnaA protein were performed as previously described (28). DNA replication assays using *oriC* plasmid DNA and a crude enzyme fraction capable of sustaining DNA synthesis upon the addition of dnaA protein were performed in a 25 ul reaction volume containing: 25 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.8; ATP, 2 mM; CTP, UTP, and GTP, each at 0.5 mM; dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and (³H) TTP (25 to 40 cpm/pmol), each at 100 uM; magnesium acetate, 11 mM; PVA, 8 % (w/v); phosphocreatine, 40 mM; creatine kinase, 100 ug/ml; supercoiled M13*oriC*26, 200 ng; and Fraction II from WM433 (28), 160 ug to 200 ug of protein. The reaction mixtures were assembled at 0°C and subsequently incubated at 30°C for 25 minutes unless otherwise indicated. The incorporation of tritiated nucleotide into trichloroacetic acid precipitable DNA was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting (23). One unit of replication activity represents one pmol of nucleotide incorporated into DNA per minute at the indicated temperature.

The conditions used to demonstrate DNA replication initiating from P1 phage origin DNA templates involved the use of a replication system that employs a crude enzyme fraction, dnaA protein and phage encoded repA protein as previously described (30). The conditions used were identical to those used for the *oriC* plasmid replication assay employing WM433 Fraction II as the crude enzyme source, except 100 ng of M13P1*ori*49 plasmid DNA and purified repA protein were used.

DNA replication reactions using purified enzymes were performed as previously described (23). The 25 ul reactions contained: HEPES-KOH, pH 7.8, 25 mM; Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 20 mM; sucrose 4% (w/v); ATP, 2mM; CTP, GTP, and UTP, each at 0.5 mM; dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and (³H) TTP (25 to 40 cpm/pmol) each at 100 uM; magnesium acetate, 11 mM; phosphocreatine, 2 mM; DTT, 5 mM; creatine kinase, 100 ug/ml; BSA, 0.08 mg/ml; SSB, 220 ng; HU, 25 ng; topoisomerase I, 2.5 units, and RNase H, 3 ng, were used only in the RNA polymerase dependent reactions; gyrase A subunit, 470 ng; gyrase B subunit, 600 ng; primase, 10 ng; dnaB protein, 100 ng; dnaC protein, 25 ng; RNA polymerase, 500 ng, where noted; DNA polymerase III holoenzyme, 270 ng; M13*oriC*2LB5 supercoiled DNA, 200 ng; and the indicated amounts of dnaA protein or dnaA5 protein. The reactions were assembled at 0°C and the incubations were performed at 30°C for 30 minutes unless otherwise indicated. The total nucleotide incorporation was measured as previously described (26)

DNA binding assays. DNA fragment retention assays on nitrocellulose filters followed by gel analysis to visualize the DNA have been previously described (10). The binding of dnaA protein or dnaA5 protein to DNA fragments was performed by the addition of the indicated amounts of protein at 0°C in a 25 ul reaction volume containing; 100 ng of pTSO182 DNA restricted with TaqI endonuclease and end-labeled with (α -32P) dCTP and DNA polymerase I (large fragment); 40 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.8; 5 mM MgCl₂; 2 mM DTT; and 50 mM KCl. Following the incubation at 30°C or 38°C for 10 minutes, the samples were filtered through Millipore HAWP nitrocellulose filters (0.22um pore size)

81

and washed with 250 ul of the reaction buffer. The DNA bound to the filters was eluted by incubating the filter in elution buffer (0.5% (w/v) SDS, 500 mM magnesium acetate, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), and 10 mM EDTA) at 65°C for 20 minutes. The DNA was precipitated from the fractions contained in the flow through and bound samples by the addition of tRNA to 100 ug/ml, NaCl to 100 mM, ethanol to 70% (v/v), and incubation at - 70°C for 10 minutes. The samples were centrifuged at 12, 000 x g for 15 minutes and the pellets were resuspended in 25 ul of gel loading buffer (10% glycerol, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0)). Portions of each reaction were separated by electrophoresis in a 6% polyacrylamide gel in TBE. The gels were dried on a Hoefer Scientific gel dryer (model SE 540) and exposed to Kodak XAR-5 film at -70°C using a Crona Quanta III intensifying screen.

The binding affinity of dnaA5 protein for DNA containing the *dnaA* promoter and for *oriC*, in comparison to dnaA protein, involved quantitating the amount of DNA bound to nitrocellulose filters following the methods which are described above. A 463 bp AvaI DNA fragment from M13*oriC*26, which contains *oriC*, and a 390 bp BamHI/EcoRI DNA fragment from pBF1509 containing the *dnaA* promoter fragment were separately treated with CIP and end-labeled with (γ -³²P) ATP and T4 polynucleotide kinase. In the binding reaction, 15 fmol of either end-labeled DNA fragments was incubated at 30°C or 40°C for 10 minutes in a 25 ul volume containing; 150 fmol of unlabeled pBR322 DNA restricted with HinfI; 40 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 8.0); 5 mM MgCl₂; 2 mM DTT; 25 mM (NH4)₂SO4 and the indicated amounts of dnaA or dnaA5 proteins. Following the incubations, the samples were filtered through Millipore HAWP nitrocellulose membranes and washed with 250 ul of pre-warmed reaction buffer. The radioactive DNA bound to the filter was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting.

ATP binding assays. The conditions used to demonstrate ATP binding by dnaA protein have been previously described (11, 31). A 25 ul reaction volume contained: 2 pmol of dnaA protein or dnaA5 protein; 0.5 uCi of (α -³²P) ATP; the indicated concentrations of

82

ATP; 0.5 mM magnesium acetate; 5 mM DTT; 15 % (v/v) glycerol; 0.01% (v/v) triton X-100; and 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0. The incubations were performed at 0°C for 15 minutes, filtered through Millipore HAWP nitrocellulose membranes and the filters were washed with 500 ul of the reaction buffer. The radioactive ATP bound to the nitrocellulose filter was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting.

DNase I protection assays. The conditions used to perform DNase I protection experiments have been previously described (10). A standard 10 ul reaction mixture contained; DNase I binding buffer (10 % glycerol (v/v), 40 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 10 mM MgCl₂, 0.2 mM EDTA (pH 7.0), 2 mM DTT, and 100 ug/ml BSA), 50 mM (NH4)₂SO₄ unless otherwise indicated, 25 fmol of (α -32P) end-labeled DNA (*oriC* was a 463 bp Aval restriction fragment from M13oriC26 end-labeled and restricted with Hinfl; the dnaA promoter was a 390 bp BamHI/EcoRI fragment from pBF1509 end-labeled and restricted with Hinfl; and the *rpoH* promoter was labeled as described (19)) and the indicated amounts of dnaA protein or dnaA5 protein. The incubations were performed at 30°C for 10 minutes, after which 0.25 ul of a DNase I solution (prepared by diluting a 2 ug/ml solution of DNase I 200 fold in DNase I binding buffer containing 200 mM NaCl) was added. The incubations were continued at 30°C for 30 to 60 seconds and the reactions were quenched by the addition of 12 ul of DNase I stop buffer (0.1 % (w/v) SDS, 300 mM sodium acetate, 20 mM EDTA, and 100 ug/ml tRNA). The reaction products were precipitated by the addition of two volumes of ethanol and incubation at -70°C for 15 minutes. Following centrifugation at 12,000 x g, the pellets were resuspended in DNase I gel loading buffer (80 % formamide (v/v), 10 mM NaOH, 0.01% (w/v) Bromophenol Blue, and 1 mM EDTA). The samples were boiled for two minutes before electrophoresis in a 7 M urea/ 6 % (w/v) polyacrylamide sequencing gel. The gels were dried under a vacuum and exposed to Kodak XAR-5 X-ray film at room temperature.

Immunological methods. The ELISA was performed as previously described (33) in order to localize dnaA5 protein during chromatography. Rabbit serum containing antibodies to

dnaA protein was obtained after the injection of the protein (Mono S fraction V) into the popliteal lobes of rabbits as previously described (33). Portions of the fractions that eluted during chromatography were incubated for one hour at room temperature in microtiter wells (Nunc) containing 100 ul of 50 mM sodium borate (pH 9.0). The wells were washed four times with PBS containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20, 100 ul of a 1:2000 dilution of dnaA anti-serum (in PBS containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) BSA) was added to the microtiter wells and the incubations were continued for one hour at room temperature. The wells were washed four times with PBS containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20, 100 ul of a 1:1000 dilution of goat-anti rabbit HRP (Biorad) (in PBS containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) BSA) was added to the microtiter wells and the incubations were containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.3 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) tween 20, 100 ul of a 1:1000 dilution of goat-anti rabbit HRP (Biorad) (in PBS containing 0.05 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) tween 20 and 0.3 % (v/v) tween 20 and 0.2 % (w/v) tween 20 and 0.3 % (v/v) tween 20 and HRP activity was detected as previously described (33).

Protein determination. Protein determinations were performed by the method of Bradford (23).

RESULTS

Overproduction of dnaA5 protein.

dnaA5 protein was purified from TD2 cells (*dnaA5*, *tnaA*::*TN10*) harboring the plasmid pDS105 which contains the *dnaA5* gene cloned into the protein overproducing vector pING1 (26). This vector contains a cloning site downstream of the *araB* control region and the induction of cloned genes can occur after the addition of arabinose to the cell culture.

The initial experiments involved maximizing the expression of dnaA5 protein in midlog phase cell cultures containing pDS105 by the addition of arabinose to 0.75 % (w/v). A time course of the induction of dnaA5 protein was performed to determine the time required for maximal expression. The extent of dnaA5 protein overproduction was quantitated by immunological detection of antigenic material from induced whole cell lysates (data not shown) and by determining the levels of dnaA5 protein dependent replication activity present in crude lysates obtained from the induced cells. dnaA5 protein activity in replication systems that utilize a crude enzyme fraction was detected in lysates obtained from cells which were grown in TB media, induced with arabinose and grown for an additional 3 to 4 hours (data not shown). Activity was not detected in lysates obtained from cells grown and induced in LB media under identical conditions, demonstrating the importance of the media and the state of the cell in obtaining elevated quantities of dnaA5 protein (data not shown).

Purification of dnaA5 protein.

The chromatographic steps utilized during the purification of dnaA5 protein were similar to those used during the purification of dnaA protein (23). Presumably, the missense mutation in dnaA5 protein would not have altered its chromatographic characteristics in comparison to dnaA protein. The purification of dnaA protein involves: 1) lysis of cells which contain the *dnaA* gene cloned into pING to obtain a soluble protein fraction; 2) chromatography on heparin agarose; 3) chromatography on gel filtration resins; and 4) anion exchange chromatography on Mono S. Of these resins, only heparin agarose could be used in the purification of dnaA5 protein because its elution characteristics were drastically different in comparison to dnaA protein. In general, dnaA5 protein eluted broadly from the resins examined and sufficient purification was not achieved. Alternative methods were used for the purification of dnaA5 protein are summarized in Table 1.

TD2 cells harboring the plasmid pDS105 were grown in 12 L of TB media, containing 30 ug/ml of ampicillin, at 30°C to an O.D.595 of 0.5 and arabinose was added to a final concentration of 0.75 % (w/v). The cells were grown for an additional 3.5 to 4 hours with vigorous aeration and harvested by centrifugation at 5,000 x g for 15 minutes. The cells were resuspended in TS buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0) and 25% sucrose (w/v)) to an O.D. 595 of 200 to 250 and frozen in liquid nitrogen. The purification listed in Table 1 was initiated using two 12 L preparations of cells.

The frozen cells were thawed at 4°C and the following components were added to facilitate lysis: KCl to 500 mM, spermidine-HCl to 20 mM, DTT to 5 mM, and lysozyme to 0.3 mg/ml. After the addition of these reagents, the cells were incubated at 0°C for 30 minutes followed by quick-freezing in liquid nitrogen. The lysate was thawed at 2°C, centrifuged at 15, 000 x g for 12 minutes, and the soluble protein fraction was recovered (Fraction I). Fraction I was diluted five fold with Buffer A (40 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.6), 20 % (v/v) glycerol, and 5 mM DTT) to a conductivity equivalent to Buffer A containing 130 mM KCl. The protein was batch adsorbed to the heparin agarose by adding 200 ml of pre-equilibrated resin to the protein solution and the protein was allowed to bind to the resin by stirring for one hour at 4°C. The resultant slurry was packed into a solid column support and washed with Buffer A containing 130 mM KCl. The bound protein was eluted with a ten column volume linear gradient extending from 130 mM to 1 M KCl in Buffer A. The physical presence of dnaA5 protein was detected using an ELISA (see Table 1

A summary of dnaA5 protein purification

fraction	volume	protein	activity spe	cific activity	activity yield
	(ml)	(mg)	(units)	(units/mg)	(%)
I. Lysate	51.0	1926	240, 000	127	(100)
II. heparin agarose*	72.0	76.0	62,000	842	26
III. Blue Dextran agaro	ose 26.4	8.2	66,000	8,250	27
IV. DNA Cellulose	23.2	0.32	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
V. hydroxylapatite	1.21	0.24	14.080	0 64.000	5.8

N.D. not determined

* One half of fraction II was used for subsequent chromatographic steps. The values listed for fractions III-V are corrected for by a factor of two.

Experimental Procedures). The fractions containing dnaA5 protein were pooled (Fraction II) and assayed for replication activity. The units recovered and the specific activity of the fractions are summarized in Table 1.

The heparin agarose fractions of dnaA5 protein were dialyzed against Buffer A until the conductivity was equivalent to Buffer A containing 150 mM KCl. The protein was applied to a Blue Dextran agarose column (5 ml), equilibrated in Buffer A containing 150 mM KCl and the bound protein was eluted with a linear gradient extending from 150 mM KCl to 1 M KCl in Buffer A. A substantial purification of dnaA5 protein was achieved because most of the proteins present in Fraction II flowed through the resin. dnaA5 protein was detected in the gradient eluent fractions using an ELISA and it was found to elute broadly in fractions with a conductivity equivalent to Buffer A containing 450 mM KCl. The fractions containing elevated levels of dnaA5 protein were pooled (Fraction III) and assayed to determine the recovery of replication activity (Table 1).

The fractions of dnaA5 protein that eluted from the Blue Dextran agarose column were 25% to 40% pure. A DNA cellulose column was used to further purify dnaA5 protein to near homogeneity. Fraction III was dialyzed against Buffer A until the conductivity was equivalent to Buffer A containing 100 mM KCl and it was applied to a single-stranded DNA cellulose column, equilibrated in the same buffer, at 5 mg of protein per ml of resin. The protein that bound to the resin was eluted with a 20 column volume linear gradient extending from 100 mM to 1 M KCl in Buffer A. An ELISA was used to localize dnaA5 protein and it was found to elute broadly during the later part of the gradient (data not shown). It is possible that this purification was efficient because dnaA5 protein had a tendency to aggregate, which effectively retarded its elution from the resin compared to the bulk of the contaminants. dnaA5 protein obtained from this column was too dilute to assay and it was concentrated using hydroxylapatite. The fractions containing dnaA5 protein (Fraction IV) were loaded directly onto a 0.2 ml hydroxylapatite column, equilibrated with Buffer A containing 50 mM KCl, and the bound protein was eluted using Buffer A

containing 500 mM (NH4)₂SO₄. Hydroxylapatite fractions (Fraction V) were sufficiently concentrated to assay directly in replication reactions and the specific activity of the purified protein was determined to be 64,000 units/mg (Table 1). The purity of the individual fractions obtained during the chromatography is shown in Figure 1.

dnaA5 protein is temperature sensitive in the replication of oriC plasmids in a system containing a crude enzyme fraction.

An *in vitro oriC* plasmid replication system which specifically initiates DNA synthesis from *oriC* has been previously reported (29). The activity of dnaA protein in this replication system can be measured using a crude enzyme fraction deficient in dnaA protein. A titration of dnaA protein in this assay is shown in Figure 2A. The addition of 50 ng of 200 ng of dnaA protein resulted in initiation activity as measured by DNA synthesis. dnaA protein dependent replication activity was observed over temperatures ranging from 25°C to 38°C (Figure 2A), with an increasing temperature giving rise to increasing extents of DNA synthesis.

Purified dnaA5 protein (Fraction V) was active in this replication system at temperatures of 25°C and 30°C (Figure 2B). The specific activity of dnaA5 protein at 30°C was reduced 2 to 4 fold compared to the specific activity of dnaA protein and the dependence upon recombinant plasmids containing *oriC* was observed (data not shown).

Genetic studies demonstrated that cells harboring the *dnaA5* allele exhibit, among other characteristics, a temperature sensitive defect in the initiation of DNA replication (20). Cells are able to initiate DNA synthesis at 30°C, but initiation is blocked at 40°C, presumably due to the thermal inactivation of the dnaA5 polypeptide. The ability of purified dnaA5 protein to initiate DNA synthesis at higher temperatures was tested to determine if it exhibited a thermolabile initiation defect *in vitro*. Although 100 ng or 200 ng of dnaA5 protein could sustain DNA synthesis at 25°C or 30°C, DNA synthesis was not

Figure 1. SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of dnaA5 protein fractions. Various fractions of dnaA5 protein obtained after chromatography were separated by electrophoresis in a 10% polyacrylamide gel. The fractions which are represented include; lane 1, molecular weight markers, gyrase A subunit (105 kd), dnaB protein (54 kd), and SSB (18 kd); lane 2, dnaA protein (fraction IV); lane 3, dnaA5 protein (fraction II); lane 4, dnaA5 protein (fraction III); and lane 5, dnaA5 protein (fraction V).


observed after adding dnaA5 protein into the replication assays that were incubated at 35°C or 38°C (Figure 2B). This indicates that the thermolabile defect associated with *dnaA5* cells is due directly to the thermolability of dnaA5 protein in initiation.

dnaA5 protein is active in the replication of P1 phage origin containing plasmids.

An *in vitro* DNA replication system has been developed for P1 phage (30). The reaction requires the presence of the P1 origin on a recombinant plasmid, phage encoded repA protein, host encoded dnaA protein, and a crude enzyme fraction capable of sustaining DNA synthesis. Other enzymes required for the replication of P1 phage DNA, which are present in the crude enzyme fraction, include DNA gyrase, RNA polymerase, DNA polymerase III holoenzyme, dnaB, dnaC, dnaJ, dnaK, grpE, and dnaG proteins (34).

A titration of repA protein in this system is shown in Figure 3A. The addition of 50 ng to 200 ng of purified repA protein did not result in DNA synthesis in the absence of exogenously added dnaA protein. In the presence of a presumed excess of dnaA protein (90 ng), the addition of repA protein resulted in increasing extents of DNA synthesis until approximately 20 % of the input DNA template was replicated.

The dependence of P1*ori* plasmid replication upon dnaA protein is shown in Figure 3B. The reaction contained saturating levels of repA protein (200 ng) as determined from the assay described in Figure 3A. The addition of increasing levels of dnaA protein resulted in increasing extents of DNA synthesis demonstrating the dnaA protein dependence in the reaction.

Assays were performed in parallel in which dnaA protein was titrated into an *oriC* plasmid replication system to examine the relative amounts required for initiation, in comparison to the levels of dnaA protein required for observing DNA synthesis in the Pl*ori* replication system (Figure 3B). The similar amounts of dnaA protein required for

observing high levels of DNA synthesis in both reactions indicates that dnaA protein may provide the same function in both systems.

It is known that the ATP form of dnaA protein is active in *oriC* plasmid replication (11) while the ADP form of dnaA protein is inactive. In the P1*ori* plasmid replication system it is not known if differing biochemical activities of dnaA protein are required in comparison to the *oriC* plasmid replication system. It is possible that dnaA5 protein may represent a form of dnaA protein which is deficient in the biochemical properties required for the replication of *oriC* plasmids, but not P1*ori* plasmids.

The replication system dependent upon the P1 origin was examined to see if dnaA5 protein was active in the initiation of DNA synthesis (Figure 4A). The titration of dnaA protein in the presence of saturating levels of repA protein resulted in the production of up to 140 pmol of DNA synthesis. The titration of dnaA5 protein in this system resulted in up to 85 pmol of DNA synthesis indicating that it is capable of initiating DNA synthesis from the P1*ori* templates. As with its activity in *oriC* plasmid replication, dnaA5 protein activity in P1*ori* plasmid replication is 2 to 4 fold lower in comparison to dnaA protein.

In an attempt observe a biochemical distinction between dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein function in the P1*ori* plasmid replication system, the temperature dependence of DNA synthesis was examined. If dnaA5 protein activity is not thermolabile in P1*ori* plasmid replication, like it is in *oriC* plasmid replication, then this would indicate that a biochemical function utilized during the *oriC* dependent initiation reaction is not used during the initiation of P1*ori* plasmid replication. dnaA protein can function in the initiation of DNA replication of *oriC* plasmids over a wide temperature range, while dnaA5 protein is temperature sensitive (Figure 2B). dnaA protein remained active in the P1*ori* dependent replication system at elevated temperatures (Figure 4B), while dnaA5 protein was inactive. The thermolability exhibited by dnaA5 protein indicates that a labile activity operates during the initiation stage of both *oriC* and P1*ori* plasmid replication.

Figure 2. The temperature dependent replication activity of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins. DNA replication reactions employing a crude enzyme fraction were assembled according to the experimental procedures. dnaA protein (A) or dnaA5 protein (B) was titrated into the reactions and incubations were performed at $25^{\circ}C$ (\bigcirc), $30^{\circ}C$ (\bigcirc), $35^{\circ}C$ (\blacksquare), or $38^{\circ}C$ (\Box) for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



protein (ng)

.

____]

Figure 3. The requirements for the replication of P1*ori* plasmids. Replication reactions that detect DNA synthesis dependent upon repA protein, dnaA protein, and P1*ori* plasmids were assembled according to the experimental procedures. (A) repA protein titration in the presence (\bullet) and absence (\odot) of 90 ng of dnaA protein. (B) dnaA protein titration in the *oriC* plasmid replication system (\bullet) and the P1*ori* plasmid replication system containing 200 ng of repA protein (\odot). The incubations were performed at 30^oC for 25 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.





Figure 4. The temperature dependent replication activity of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins in a P1*ori* plasmid replication system. P1*ori* plasmid replication assays containing 200 ng of repA protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. (A) dnaA5 protein (\bullet) and dnaA protein (O) were added and the reactions were incubated at 30°C for 25 minutes. (B) dnaA5 protein (\bullet) and dnaA protein (O) were added and the reactions were incubated at 38°C for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.





dnaA5 protein retains affinity for DNA containing oriC at permissive temperatures.

Nitrocellulose filter binding assays demonstrated that dnaA protein is a sequence specific DNA binding protein that recognizes DNA containing a dnaA box (10). The binding affinity of dnaA5 protein was examined to determine the influence of the mutation on this activity.

Nitrocellulose filter binding assays in conjunction with polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis allows for the direct visualization of DNA fragments which are bound by protein. Figure 5A represents a titration of dnaA protein at 30°C into DNA binding reactions containing pTSO182 DNA restricted with TaqI and end-labeled. The DNA retained by dnaA protein on the nitrocellulose filter was visualized after eluting the DNA from the filter, separating the fragments by electrophoresis in a 6% polyacrylamide gel, and detecting the radioactive fragments by autoradiography. At low amounts of dnaA protein (50 ng), only the DNA fragment containing *oriC* was retained on the filter (lane 3) while most other DNA fragments flowed through (lane 2). At higher amounts of dnaA protein added, most of the DNA containing *oriC* was retained along with DNA fragments containing the *mioC* promoter and the pBR322 origin of DNA replication. The latter two fragments each contain one dnaA box (18).

At a temperature of 30°C, which is the permissive temperature for cell growth, dnaA5 protein is active in the replication of *oriC* plasmids (Figure 2B). dnaA5 protein at this temperature bound to DNA fragments containing *oriC* (Figure 5A). The addition of elevated amounts of dnaA5 protein also resulted in the retention of DNA fragments containing the *mioC* promoter and the pBR322 origin of DNA replication.

There was an increase in the non-specific DNA binding affinity of dnaA5 protein in comparison to dnaA protein. A DNA fragment which migrated near the DNA fragment containing the pBR322 origin of replication was retained at high levels of dnaA5 protein added to the reaction. dnaA5 protein appeared to bind specifically to DNA containing *oriC*

indicating that the mutation residing in *dnaA5* does not drastically affect DNA binding property of dnaA5 protein.

The apparent binding affinity of dnaA5 protein for *oriC* DNA was quantitated using the nitrocellulose filter binding assay containing 15 fmol of ³²P end-labeled *oriC* DNA fragment and 150 fmol of unlabeled competitor DNA (Figure 6A). The addition of increasing amounts of dnaA protein resulted in the retention of the *oriC* DNA fragment with its near complete binding observed at the highest level added. Similarly, the addition of dnaA5 protein to the reactions at 30°C resulted in the retention of the *oriC* DNA fragment with an affinity comparable to dnaA protein.

dnaA5 protein retains affinity for DNA containing oriC at the nonpermissive temperature.

At a temperature of 42°C, due to the thermolability of dnaA5 protein, cells harboring the *dnaA5* allele do not grow (20). At 38°C, dnaA5 protein exhibited a thermolability in the initiation of DNA synthesis *in vitro* (Figure 2B). Although the binding affinity of dnaA5 protein to DNA containing *oriC* is similar to dnaA protein at 30°C, the mutation residing in *dnaA5* may result in a protein with thermolabile DNA binding affinity, which could then explain its absolute thermolability in replication.

Nitrocellulose filter binding assays were used to quantitate the amounts of oriC DNA fragment bound by dnaA5 protein at 38°C. dnaA protein binding at 38°C is shown in Figure 5B. The results are similar to that observed at 30°C in that after the addition of lower amounts of dnaA protein, only the DNA fragment containing *oriC* was bound demonstrating its preference for this sequence. dnaA5 protein binding to *oriC* was somewhat thermolabile compared to dnaA protein binding, however there was a preference for the DNA fragment containing *oriC*.

The binding affinity of dnaA and dnaA5 proteins at elevated temperatures was quantitated using a nitrocellulose filter binding assay containing 15 fmol of ³²P labeled *oriC* DNA fragment and 150 fmol of unlabeled competitor DNA. The addition of dnaA5

protein into the reactions at 38°C resulted in a two-fold decrease in the amount of DNA bound in comparison to dnaA protein (Figure 6B). The most notable difference in binding was observed at levels of 12 ng and 25 ng of dnaA5 protein added. However, substantial binding of the *oriC* DNA fragment by dnaA5 protein at this temperature indicates that the absolute thermolability in replication activity (Figure 2B) cannot be attributed solely to a thermolability in *oriC* DNA binding.

dnaA5 protein retains its affinity for DNA containing the dnaA promoter.

dnaA protein not only binds to four dnaA boxes within *oriC* to catalyze the initiation of DNA replication (10), but also to a single dnaA box within the *dnaA* promoter to autoregulate its own transcription (16-18). The binding affinity of dnaA5 protein to its own promoter containing one dnaA box was examined in comparison to dnaA protein (Figure 7).

With dnaA protein, the retention of DNA containing the *dnaA* promoter was observed at amounts added from 11 ng to 270 ng, which is similar to the levels observed previously (18). Higher amounts of dnaA protein are required for binding to the *dnaA* promoter in comparison to DNA containing *oriC* presumably due to the presence of four dnaA boxes in *oriC*. dnaA5 protein binding to DNA containing the *dnaA* promoter under identical conditions is shown in Figure 7. As with dnaA protein, the titration of 11 ng to 270 ng of dnaA5 protein resulted in an increasing retention of DNA containing the *dnaA* promoter.

These nitrocellulose filter binding experiments demonstrate that the binding affinity of dnaA5 protein to DNA containing *oriC* and the *dnaA* promoter is similar to dnaA protein. In comparison to dnaA protein, dnaA5 protein also exhibits an identical binding affinity to the two dnaA boxes in the *rpoH* promoter (19), (data not shown). The binding to DNA fragments containing one, two or four dnaA boxes demonstrates that the mutation in *dnaA5* does not alter the affinity of dnaA5 protein for its consensus DNA binding sequence.

Figure 5. The binding of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins to *oriC*. Nitrocellulose filter binding reactions containing linearized and ³²P end-labeled pTSO182 DNA containing *oriC* were assembled according to the experimental procedures. The amounts of dnaA protein and dnaA5 protein were added as indicated and the reactions were incubated at (A) 30°C or (B) 38°C for 10 minutes. The samples were applied to nitrocellulose filters and the flow through (F) and bound (B) samples were processed according to the experimental procedures. The letter, L, represents labeled fragments as molecular weight markers.





Figure 6. dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein affinity to *oriC*. Nitrocellulose filter binding assays containing a radioactively labeled *oriC* restriction fragment were prepared according to the experimental procedures. (A) dnaA5 protein (\bullet) or dnaA protein (O) was added and the incubations were performed at 30^oC for 10 minutes. (B) dnaA5 protein (\bullet) or dnaA protein (O) was added and the incubations were performed at 38^oC for 10 minutes. The reaction products were filtered through nitrocellulose and radioactively bound *oriC* DNA was quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 7. dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein binding to the *dnaA* promoter fragment. dnaA5 protein (\odot) or dnaA protein (\bigcirc) was incubated with radioactively labeled DNA containing the *dnaA* promoter at 30^oC for 10 minutes. DNA complexed to protein was filtered through nitrocellulose and the quantitation of DNA bound by protein was performed according to the experimental procedures.



dnaA5 protein retains specificity in binding to its consensus DNA sequence.

DNase I protection experiments were performed to determine if the specificity of dnaA5 protein in binding to the dnaA box is altered. Although the mutation in dnaA5 protein does not change its affinity for DNA containing the dnaA box (Figure 7), the protein-DNA contacts may be altered.

The DNase I protection pattern of the *dnaA* promoter region when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins is shown in Figure 8. With increasing amounts of dnaA protein added protection from DNase I cleavage was observed within and adjacent to the dnaA box (hatched box) and hypersensitive sites were induced within the same region. In comparison, the region protected from DNase I cleavage by dnaA5 protein and the hypersensitive sites induced within the dnaA box region were nearly identical. This indicates that the mutation in *dnaA5* does not alter the ability of dnaA5 protein to form a proper protein-DNA complex at the dnaA box within the *dnaA* promoter.

Similar results were obtained in DNase I protection experiments with the *rpoH* promoter region (Figure 9). With a fixed level of dnaA and dnaA5 proteins, known to be present at saturating levels (unpublished data) in DNase I protection reactions containing two different amounts of ammonium sulfate, the areas within the *rpoH* promoter protected from cleavage by DNase I were nearly identical. These experiments demonstrate that the interaction of dnaA5 protein with DNA containing one or two dnaA boxes is not dramatically affected indicating that the mutation does not seem to affect the ability of the protein to form proper protein-DNA contacts in the respective regions.

The interaction of dnaA5 protein with DNA containing oriC is altered.

The affinity of dnaA5 protein for DNA containing *oriC*, the *dnaA* promoter and the *rpoH* promoter was similar to dnaA protein (Figure 6 and Figure 7) and the sequence specific binding to the dnaA boxes within the *dnaA* and *rpoH* promoters was similar to dnaA protein (Figures 8 and 9). DNase I protection experiments were performed using ³²P end-

labeled DNA containing *oriC* to probe the structure of *oriC* when bound by dnaA5 protein in comparison to dnaA protein (Figure 10).

At low levels of dnaA protein protection from DNase I cleavage was observed at some regions, specifically near dnaA boxes 3 and 4. Higher levels of dnaA protein resulted in a more elaborate pattern of DNase I cleavage to yield the periodic pattern of hypersensitive sites and protected regions characteristic of a dnaA protein-*oriC* complex (10, 37). The areas bound by dnaA protein included sequences immediately to the left of dnaA box 4 and sequences throughout *oriC*, most notably near dnaA box 2 and dnaA box 1 where a strong hypersensitive region exists. The binding did not appear to extend into the 13-mer region, yet the poor resolution of the DNase I ladder prevents a precise determination of the end-point of dnaA protein binding. This area of strong dnaA protein dependent hypersensitive site induction and protection from DNase I cleavage is near the point at which the protein is known to function as a helicase locally unwinding the DNA (9).

dnaA5 protein formed an unusually different nucleoprotein complex at *oriC* in comparison to dnaA protein in the region encompassing dnaA box 1 (Figure 10). At low amounts of dnaA5 protein protection from DNase I cleavage and induction of hypersensitive sites were nearly identical to that observed with dnaA protein. Higher amounts of dnaA5 protein resulted in the elimination of some hypersensitive sites and a more extensive and general protection from DNase I cleavage was observed. The most notable difference in the binding between dnaA and dnaA5 proteins was in the region encompassing dnaA box 1. dnaA5 protein did not yield a nucleoprotein structure similar to dnaA protein. This difference may account for its lack of *oriC* dependent replication activity in systems containing purified enzymes (described below).

dnaA5 protein is defective in ATP binding.

ATP binding by dnaA protein is essential for its replication activity *in vitro* (11) and it is required for the destabilization of the double helix in the A-T rich region of *oriC* (8, 9).

ATP binding by dnaA protein was measured (Figure 11). The Kd was calculated to be 0.03 uM and the stoichiometry of binding was 0.17 ATP per monomer, both of which are near the values previously reported (11, 23). In contrast, ATP binding by dnaA5 protein was not measurable under these conditions. The nitrocellulose filter binding assay can only detect stable protein-nucleotide complexes and it is possible that dnaA5 protein has some affinity for ATP that could not be detected using this assay.

dnaA5 protein is inactive in the replication of oriC plasmids in systems containing purified enzymes.

An *oriC* plasmid replication system utilizing purified enzymes was developed (3). The dependence of dnaA protein in two different reconstituted enzyme systems reflects the essential role of dnaA protein as the initiator. One replication system is dependent upon primase for the RNA priming of DNA synthesis (6). The activity of dnaA5 protein was compared to dnaA protein in this replication system (Figure 12). The addition of 50 ng to 100 ng of dnaA protein resulted in the replication of greater than 40% of the input DNA template. In contrast, the addition of up to 200 ng of dnaA5 protein did not result in any detectable DNA synthesis.

The second replication system contains primase and RNA polymerase as well as topoisomerase I, RNase H, and other replication enzymes. RNase H and topoisomerase I function to maintain the template specificity of the reaction. The addition of 45 ng to 90 ng of dnaA protein catalyzed maximal extents of DNA synthesis, while the addition of up to 200 ng of dnaA5 protein did not result in DNA synthesis (Figure 13).

Due to the essential role of ATP in dnaA protein function (11) and the requirement for a proper association of dnaA protein with *oriC* (10), the demonstration that dnaA5 protein is defective in both of these activities may explain its inactivity in *oriC* plasmid replication. This result is in contrast with data demonstrating that dnaA5 protein is active in the replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction (Figure 2B). The reason for this

Figure 8. The DNase I protection pattern of the *dnaA* promoter when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins. DNase I protection reactions containing the *dnaA* promoter and the indicated levels of protein (lane 1, no protein; lane 2, dnaA protein (50 ng); lane 3 dnaA protein (100 ng); lane 4, dnaA protein (200 ng); lane 5, dnaA protein (300 ng); lane 6, dnaA5 protein (50 ng); lane 7, dnaA5 protein (100 ng); lane 8, dnaA5 protein (200 ng); and lane 9, dnaA5 protein (300 ng)) were assembled and processed according to the experimental procedures. The regions within the *dnaA* promoter that were protected from DNase I cleavage are represented by the hatched boxes and DNase I hypersensitive sites are indicated by the arrows.

23456789



•

.

Figure 9. The DNase I protection pattern of the *rpoH* promoter when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins. DNase I protection reactions containing the *rpoH* promoter and the indicated amounts of salt (lanes 1-3, 25 mM ammonium sulfate; lanes 4-6, 50 mM ammonium sulfate) and protein (lanes 2 and 5, dnaA protein (50 ng); lanes 3 and 6, dnaA5 protein (50 ng)) were assembled and processed according to the experimental procedures. The regions within the *rpoH* promoter that were protected from DNase I cleavage are represented by the hatched boxes.



Figure 10. DNase I protection pattern of *oriC* when bound by dnaA and dnaA5 proteins. DNase I protection reactions containing an *oriC* fragment and the indicated amounts of protein (lane 1, no protein; lane 2, dnaA protein (25 ng); lane 3, dnaA protein (50 ng); lane 4, dnaA protein (100 ng); lane 5, dnaA protein (200 ng); lane 6, dnaA5 protein (25 ng); lane 7, dnaA5 protein (50 ng); lane 8, dnaA5 protein (100 ng); and lane 9, dnaA5 protein (200 ng)) were assembled and processed according to the experimental procedures except that the salt concentration was elevated three fold. The regions within *oriC* that were protected from DNase I cleavage by dnaA and dnaA5 protein are represented by filled boxes and hatched boxes, respectively. Differences observed in the induction of hypersensitive sites by dnaA or dnaA5 proteins are indicated by an asterisk.



•

•

Figure 11. dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein binding affinity to ATP. dnaA5 protein (\bullet) or dnaA protein (O) was incubated with various concentrations of (α -³²P) labeled ATP for 15 minutes at 0°C according to the experimental procedures. The reaction products were filtered through nitrocellulose and radioactively labeled ATP bound to protein was quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 12. dnaA5 protein is inactive in the reconstituted enzyme system containing primase as the sole priming enzyme. DNA replication reactions containing purified enzymes (which include primase as the sole priming enzyme and the BSA-sucrose solvent system) were assembled according to the experimental procedures. dnaA protein (\bigcirc) or dnaA5 protein (\blacksquare) was added and the incubations were performed at 30^oC for 30 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 13. dnaA5 protein is inactive in the RNA polymerase dependent reconstituted enzyme system. The replication system containing RNA polymerase and primase as priming enzymes were assembled according to the experimental procedures. Various levels of dnaA protein (O) and dnaA5 protein (•) were added and the reactions were incubated at 30°C for 30 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



discrepancy is not due to the different solvents used in the reaction. The replication system utilizing the crude enzyme fraction contains and requires PVA at levels of 6% to 8% (28). The reconstituted enzyme system containing RNA polymerase and the specificity factors, topoisomerase I and RNase H, was originally developed using PVA at levels of 7% in the reactions (3). The addition of PVA to the reconstituted enzyme systems did not restore activity to dnaA5 protein under conditions in which dnaA protein was active (data not shown, Chapter IV (35)). These results suggest that a factor in the crude enzyme fraction is responsible for activating dnaA5 protein in replication. This factor may be absent in the reconstituted enzyme system, which presumably accounts for the inactivity of dnaA5 protein.

An extended lag precedes dnaA5 protein activity in a replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction.

A time course of DNA synthesis in the replication system utilizing a crude enzyme fraction, dependent upon the addition of dnaA protein or dnaA5 protein, is shown in Figure 14. A characteristic 5 minute lag preceded DNA synthesis at the amount of dnaA protein added. In contrast, a 7 to 10 minute lag preceded dnaA5 protein dependent initiation of DNA synthesis in this system. In view of the fact that dnaA5 protein is inactive in a reconstituted enzyme system possibly due to deficiencies in *oriC* binding (Figure 10) or ATP binding (Figure 11), but it is active in a replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction, the extended lag may represent the time required for activation of dnaA5 protein by some factor present in the crude fraction.

dnaA5 protein inhibits dnaA protein activity in a replication system containing purified enzymes.

A characteristic of *dnaA5/dnaA* merodiploids is that their growth is cold sensitive (20). Colonies can form at temperatures ranging from 37°C to 42°C, but very small or no Figure 14. Time course of dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein activity in the replication system containing a crude enzyme fraction. DNA replication reactions containing a crude enzyme fraction were assembled according to the experimental procedures. dnaA protein, 50 ng (\bigcirc), dnaA5 protein, 100 ng (\bigcirc) or dnaA5 protein, 200 ng (\blacksquare) were added and at the indicated times the reactions were stopped by the addition of 10% TCA/ 0.1 M Sodium Pyrophosphate. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.


colonies form at 30°C. To gain possible insight into this physiological phenomenon, mixing experiments were performed to study the effects of mixed complexes between dnaA and dnaA5 proteins *oriC* plasmid replication.

dnaA5 protein was added into a reconstituted enzyme system containing fixed levels of dnaA protein (50 ng) (Figure 15). The addition of equimolar amounts of dnaA5 protein inhibited the reaction by 50%, with the addition of higher amounts proportionally inhibiting DNA synthesis. As a control, the addition of up to 200 ng of dnaA protein did not significantly reduce DNA synthesis to the extents observed after the addition of dnaA5 protein. The inhibition is not dependent upon the order of addition or temperature (data not shown). Assuming that this inhibition occurs prior to DNA synthesis, this suggests that the mutation in the dnaA5 protein does not alter the ability of the protein to associate with dnaA protein in a cooperative manner. Mixed complexes which form are subsequently inactive because the conformation of the initiator protein complex which forms is not suitable for initiation.

dnaA5 protein inhibits dnaA protein dependent unwinding at oriC.

To further subdivide the dnaA5 protein dependent inhibition of dnaA protein activity to a stage preceding DNA synthesis, a second replication system was utilized which detects dnaA protein activity in a stage preceding DNA synthesis. The addition of the proteins dnaA, dnaB, dnaC, HU, SSB and DNA gyrase to supercoiled *oriC* plasmid DNA results in the unwinding and conversion of the FI DNA to a highly single-stranded and more negatively supercoiled structure (FI* DNA) (8). The stable intermediate produced after the reaction is the substrate capable of supporting RNA priming and DNA synthesis.

A dnaA protein titration in this system is shown in Figure 16A. Eleven ng of dnaA protein did not result in the conversion of FI DNA to FI* DNA. However, the addition of 45 ng to 180 ng of dnaA protein catalyzed the conversion of up to 95 % of FI DNA to FI*

DNA. dnaA5 protein lacks unwinding activity in this system, as the addition of up to 180 ng of dnaA5 protein did not result in the production of FI* DNA.

The ability of dnaA5 protein to form mixed complexes with dnaA protein as detected by the inhibition of dnaA protein unwinding activity is shown in Figure 16B. Forty-five ng of dnaA protein resulted in a conversion of FI DNA to FI* DNA. The addition of increasing amounts of dnaA5 protein to the reactions containing fixed levels of dnaA protein (45 ng) resulted in the inhibition of FI* DNA formation. The addition of equimolar amounts of dnaA5 protein inhibited the reaction by 40%, and higher levels inhibited the reaction in a proportional manner.

dnaA5 protein interferes with the formation of a structure characteristic of an active dnaA protein-oriC complex.

To associate the dnaA5 protein dependent inhibition of dnaA protein activity to a structural perturbation of a normal dnaA protein-*oriC* complex, a DNase I protection experiment was performed on *oriC* DNA bound by dnaA protein (45 ng) in the absence and presence of increasing amounts of dnaA5 protein (Figure 17). The addition of 3 ng to 11 ng of dnaA5 protein did not interfere with the characteristic DNase I protection pattern dependent upon dnaA protein. However, the addition of 22 ng to 90 ng of dnaA5 protein did interfere with the dnaA protein dependent DNase I protection pattern within *oriC*. The specific loss of the unique dnaA protein dependent induction of hypersensitive sites near the dnaA box 1 region may reflect the ability of mixed complexes of dnaA and dnaA5 protein to form and subsequently become abortive in the initiation of DNA replication. The cold sensitivity of the merodiploids may be due to the abortive dnaA5-dnaA protein complexes that form in the cell.

Figure 15. dnaA5 protein inhibition of dnaA protein replication activity. Reconstituted enzyme systems containing primase as the sole priming enzyme were assembled according to the experimental procedures. To each reaction, 50 ng of dnaA protein was added followed by the titration of either dnaA protein (O) or dnaA5 protein (\bullet). The reactions were incubated at 30^oC for 30 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 16. dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein influence on FI* formation. oriC unwinding reactions were assembled as previously described (8). A 25 ul reaction volume contained: 25 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.6); 12% glycerol; 0.2 mM ATP; 1 mM calcium chloride; 0.2 mM EDTA; 0.1 mg/ml BSA; 100 ng of M13oriC2LB5 supercoiled plasmid; HU protein (25 ng); SSB (640 ng); dnaB protein (90 ng); and dnaC protein (25 ng). dnaA protein and dnaA5 protein were added as indicated and incubations were performed at 33°C for 30 minutes. The reactions were placed on ice and the following components were added: gyrase A (500 ng); gyrase B (450 ng); ATP to 10 mM; and magnesium acetate to 20 mM. The incubations were continued at 24°C for 8 minutes, 6 ul of SDS stop buffer (2% SDS, 50 mM EDTA) were added to each reaction, and the samples were heated at 65°C for 2 minutes. The samples were separated by electrophoresis at 20 volts for 16 hours in a 1% agarose gel containing 0.5 ug/ml of ethidium bromide in TBE. (A). A titration of dnaA and dnaA5 proteins. Lane1, no dnaA protein; lanes 2-6, 11 ng, 22 ng, 45 ng, 90 ng, 180 ng of dnaA protein, respectively; lanes 7-11, 11 ng, 22 ng, 45 ng, 90 ng, and 180 ng of dnaA5 protein, respectively. (B). dnaA5 protein inhibition of dnaA protein unwinding activity. Lane 1, no dnaA or dnaA5 protein; lane 2, dnaA protein (45 ng); lanes 3-7 contain dnaA protein (45 ng) and increasing amounts of dnaA5 protein (11 ng, 22 ng, 45 ng, 90 ng, and 180 ng, respectively).



B. 1234567

A.



•

Figure 17. dnaA5 protein inhibition of dnaA protein binding to *oriC*. DNase I protection reactions were assembled and performed at 30°C according to the experimental procedures. Lane 1 no protein; lane 2, dnaA protein (45 ng); lanes 3-8, dnaA protein (45 ng) and increasing levels of dnaA5 protein (6 ng, 12 ng, 22 ng, 45 ng, 90 ng, and 180 ng, respectively). The dnaA protein induced DNase I pattern within *oriC* was altered by dnaA5 protein as represented by hatched boxes and arrows.



DISCUSSION

Highly purified preparations of dnaA5 protein have allowed for its biochemical characterization in comparison to dnaA protein. The biochemical properties of dnaA5 protein include: 1) high-affinity binding to DNAs containing the dnaA protein consensus sequence in the *dnaA* promoter, the *rpoH* promoter, and *oriC*, 2) normal protein-DNA contacts within the recognition sequences in the *dnaA* and *rpoH* promoters, 3) altered protein-DNA interactions at *oriC*, 4) no detectable ATP binding, 5) inactivity in *oriC* unwinding (FI *), 6) inactivity in replication systems which utilize purified enzymes, 7) ability to form mixed, inactive complexes with dnaA protein and 8) thermolabile activity in replication systems which upon *oriC* or P1*ori* plasmids.

The mutational alteration within dnaA5 protein, presumably giving rise to a conformational change, was expected to correlate with one or more biochemical activities contained in wild type dnaA protein. The most straightforward possibility is one in which the amino acid substitution affects one activity of a protein permitting a correlation to be formed between mutational change and function. However, the defect in dnaA5 protein leads to multiple changes in biochemical activities, and immediate cause and affect relationships are more difficult to interpret. ATP binding, interaction with *oriC*, DNA strand unwinding activity, and initiation activity are affected by the mutation. Complex as the alterations are, some conclusions can be formulated.

The properties of dnaA protein known to be essential for its replication activity include ATP binding (11) and sequence specific DNA binding (10). Kinetic data led to the interpretation that ATP influences the activity of dnaA protein during two separate stages in initiation. One stage involves the requirement for low levels of ATP to allow for the formation of an open complex, and the second stage requires a high level of ATP to allow for the formation of a pre-priming complex with dnaB and dnaC proteins (8, 9, 12).

Given the essential role of ATP in promoting dnaA protein dependent replication, the inability of dnaA5 protein to bind ATP was expected to influence negatively its replication activity. This is the case as dnaA5 protein is inactive in all replication systems containing purified enzymes. The biochemical explanation for the inactivity is not definitive, but once binding to *oriC* occurs, the simple defect in ATP binding may prevent duplex strand opening at *oriC* and subsequent initiation of DNA synthesis. It is possible that dnaA5 protein exhibits a low affinity for ATP that was not detected using the assay described. Since dnaA5 protein is not active in the reconstituted enzyme systems containing a high concentration of ATP, it is unlikely that it exhibits a low affinity for ATP that could be utilized for initiation.

The inability of dnaA5 protein to bind ATP does not alter its affinity for DNAs containing the dnaA boxes in a variety of DNA fragments. In addition, protein-DNA contacts in various DNAs are equivalent to that obtained with dnaA protein. The functional independence of the biochemical activities of dnaA protein have been reported (40). The ability of a partially proteolyzed form of dnaA protein to retain ATP binding properties despite elimination of its *oriC* binding and replication activity suggests that these individual biochemical activities of dnaA protein are distinct. Communication may exist within or between molecules of dnaA protein as inferred from the influence of ATP on strand unwinding by dnaA protein (4). However, the ability of dnaA5 protein to retain a high affinity in binding to DNAs containing dnaA boxes implies that communication does not exist between the ATP binding and DNA binding functional domains to facilitate recognition of its consensus sequence.

The essential role of structural motifs residing in DNA bound by dnaA protein is well documented (38). Deletions of various regions of oriC (39) or of the A-T rich region at the left end of oriC (9) inactivate the cis-acting contribution of oriC to dnaA protein dependent replication. The requirement for the dnaA boxes is presumed to be in allowing for the formation of a proper nucleoprotein structure and the A-T rich region is required as it is

thermodynamically less stable and can be melted to allow for the formation of a pre-priming complex (38). dnaA5 protein binds into the A-T rich region, distinguishing it from dnaA protein. This may prevent strand unwinding in this essential region of the origin and lead to dnaA5 protein inactivity in reconstituted enzyme systems. It is unlikely that the defect in ATP binding directly influences the formation of a proper *oriC*-dnaA5 protein complex as detected by DNase I protection, since ATP, ADP or the nucleotide free forms of dnaA protein retain similar affinities for *oriC* DNA and exhibit indistinguishable DNase I protection patterns (11).

The physiological defects associated with *dnaA5* cells include: 1) asynchrony in initiation of DNA replication at the permissive temperature, 2) thermolability in initiation of DNA replication at the nonpermissive temperature, and 3) cold sensitivity in the merodiploid state (20). The association of the genetic defect exhibited by *dnaA5* cells to biochemical characteristics of dnaA5 protein may further our understanding of initiation of DNA replication.

The cold sensitive phenotype associated with *dnaA5/dnaA* merodiploids was proposed to occur through the association of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins to form mixed complexes which are inactive in initiation (20). The biochemical explanation for this process may relate to the ability of dnaA5 and dnaA proteins to form mixed complexes that are inactive in replication. The amounts of dnaA5 protein required for the loss of dnaA protein activity in *oriC* unwinding assays (FI*) or in replication assays suggests that a 1:1 association can occur. The mechanism of inhibition appears to be the disruption of *oriC* binding near dnaA box 1. In addition, the mutation in dnaA5 protein does not appear to alter its ability to associate cooperatively with dnaA protein.

The defects of dnaA5 protein in ATP binding, in *oriC* binding, and in its inactivity in reconstituted enzyme systems contrasts with its activity in replication systems which utilize a crude enzyme fraction. This replication activity is preceded by an uncharacteristically long lag phase in comparison to dnaA protein. Presumably, this extended lag reflects the

time required for the activation of dnaA5 protein in initiating DNA replication. The hypothesis that a factor in the crude enzyme system, which is lacking in the reconstituted enzyme system, acts to restore activity to dnaA5 protein was confirmed by subsequent experimentation (Chapter IV(35)). Two *E. coli* heat shock proteins, grpE and dnaK, are required for this activation of dnaA5 protein in *oriC* plasmid replication (Chapters IV and V(35, 36)). These activators may restore the biochemical defects associated with dnaA5 protein to allow initiation to occur or they may allow dnaA5 protein to function despite its' handicaps.

Thermolabile cell growth (20) is a characteristic of a subclass of *dnaA* mutants, including *dnaA5*. The replication activity of dnaA5 protein is thermolabile in systems utilizing a crude enzyme fraction, confirming the hypothesis that the thermolabile defect in *dnaA5* cells was due to its replication activity. It is possible that the temperature sensitivity relates to an inherent instability within dnaA5 protein or to some unknown secondary defect. This thermolability is not due to the loss of dnaA5 protein binding affinity to *oriC* at elevated temperatures, as the the binding affinity is reduced only two-fold at temperatures where its replication activity is completely blocked. From studies to be discussed (Chapter IV and V (35, 36)), it is apparent that dnaA5 protein is inherently unable to initiate DNA replication from *oriC* plasmids. The interaction between dnaA5 protein and the activating proteins restores its DNA replication activity. This interaction appears to be the point at which temperature sensitivity is observed (Chapter V(36)), indicating that the thermolability resides in the activation stage of dnaA5 protein function.

REFERENCES

- 1. Donachie, W.D. (1968) Nature 219: 1077-1079.
- 2. Hirota, Y., Mordah, J., and Jacob, F. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 53: 369-387.
- 3. Kaguni, J. and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 183-190.
- 4. McMaken, R., Silver, L., and Georgopoulos, C. (1987) Escherichia coli and Salmonella Typhimurium pp. 564-612. American Society for Microbiology, Washington, D.C.
- 5. Sakakibara, Y. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 972-979.
- 6. van der Ende, A., Baker, T.A., Ogawa, T., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 4078-4084.
- 7. Ogawa, T., Baker, T.A., van der Ende, A., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3563-3566.
- 8. Baker, T.A., Sekimizu, K., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1986) Cell 45: 53-64.
- 9. Bramhill, D. and Kornberg, A. Cell 52: 743-755.
- 10. Fuller, R.S., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 889-900.
- 11. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 50: 259-265.
- 12. Sekimizu, K. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7131-7135.
- 13. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 7202-7205.
- 14. Funnell, B.E., Baker, T.A., and Kornberg, A. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 5616-5624.
- 15. Funnell, B.E., Baker, T.A., and Kornberg, A. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262: 10327-10334.
- 16. Atlung, T., Clausen, E.S., and Hansen, F.G. (1985) Mol. Gen. Genet. 200: 442-250.
- 17. Braun, R.E., O'Day, K., and Wright, A. (1985) Cell 40: 159-169.
- 18. Wang, Q.P. and Kaguni, J. M. (1987) Mol. Gen. Genet. 209: 518-525.
- 19. Wang, Q.P. and Kaguni, J.M. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 7338-7344.
- 20. Hansen, E.B., Atlung, T., Hansen, F.G., Skovgaard, O., and von Meyenburg, K. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 387-396.

- 140
- 21. Skarstad, K., Hansen, F.G., and Boye, E. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 852-859.
- 22. Alberts, B. and Hernck, G. (1971) Meth. Enzymology 21: 198-217.
- 23. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10625-10632.
- 24. Tippe-Schindler, R., Zahn, G., and Messer, W. (1979) Mol. Gen. Genet. 168: 185-195.
- 25. Kaguni, J.M., LaVerne, L.S., and Ray, D.S. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 76: 6250-6254.
- 26. Johnston, S., Lee, J.H., and Ray, D.S. (1985) Gene 34: 137-145.
- 27. Oka, A., Sugimoto, K., Takanami, M., and Hirota, Y. (1980) Mol. Gen. Genet. 178: 9-20.
- 28. Fuller, R.S., Kaguni, J.M., and Kornberg, A. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78: 7370-7374.
- 29. Abeles, A.L. (1986) J. Biol. Chem. 261: 3548-3555.
- 30. Abeles, A.L. and Austin, S.J. (1987) The EMBO Journal 6: 3185-3189.
- 31. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10633-10640.
- 32. Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F., and Sambrook, J. (1982) *Molecular Cloning* Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- 33. Harlow, E. and Lane, D. (1988) Antibodies Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- 34. Wickner, S.H. and Chattoraj, D.K (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84: 3668-3672.
- 35. Hupp, T. Ph. D. thesis, Chapter IV
- 36. Hupp, T. Ph. D. thesis, Chapter V
- 37. Matsui, M., Oka, A., Takanami, M., Yasuda, S., and Hirota, Y. (1985) J. Mol. Biol. 184: 529-533.
- 38. Bramhill, D. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 52: 743-755.
- 39. Oka, A., Sasaki, H., Sugimoto, K., and Takanami, M. (1984) J. Mol. Biol. 176: 443-458.
- 40. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 6146-6150.

Chapter IV

THE Escherichia coli dnaA5 PROTEIN IS ACTIVATED IN oriC PLASMID REPLICATION BY grpE AND dnaK HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS.

ABSTRACT

An assay was devised that could detect the activation of dnaA5 protein in the replication of oriC plasmids using a reconstituted enzyme system. The activation of dnaA5 protein was dependent upon factors from a crude enzyme fraction obtained by fractionation of a cell lysate. The purification of the activating factors resulted in the demonstration that two heat shock proteins, grpE and dnaK, are required for the activation of dnaA5 protein. The participation of dnaK protein in the activation reaction was examined based on studies demonstrating that it stimulates the replication activity of dnaA46 protein in replication assays containing a crude enzyme fraction (21). Although dnaK protein alone could not activate dnaA5 protein, it was one participant in the activation reaction which required at least one other protein. The inclusion of dnaK protein in reconstituted enzyme systems allowed for the partial purification of the second activating protein. grpE protein was deduced to be the second activating protein based on three criteria: 1) a protein with a molecular weight similar to grpE protein was co-incident with activity, 2) the activity was co-incident with a protein that reacted to grpE antibody, and 3) purified preparations of grpE protein could replace the partially purified fractions of the second activating protein in activation reactions.

INTRODUCTION

The biochemical properties of dnaA protein which are required for the initiation of DNA replication include ATP binding (1) and sequence specific DNA binding (2), both of which are needed for unwinding of the duplex DNA in the vicinity of *oriC* (3). The ATP dependent unwinding of *oriC* DNA in the vicinity of the A-T rich region (4) is essential for the nucleation of other replication proteins required for events subsequent to dnaA protein function. dnaA protein binding to ATP induces a conformational change in the protein (5), presumably yielding the energy for strand unwinding activity.

Biochemical evidence describing factors that may regulate dnaA protein include the observation that ADP inhibits the replication activity of dnaA protein (6). This inhibition does not relate to an altered affinity to the chromosomal origin, but to the inability of dnaA protein to unwind *oriC* DNA. The reactivation of the ADP form of dnaA protein can occur through the action of acidic phospholipids, specifically cardiolipin (7), which displaces the bound ADP to allow dnaA protein to bind ATP. Membrane involvement in *oriC* dependent DNA replication has been implied from various studies (8, 9) and the phospholipid involvement in the regulation of dnaA protein activity *in vitro* may be related to a possible mode of dnaA protein regulation in the cell.

Physiological studies of DNA replication in *E. coli* have revealed a coupling between cell growth and chromosomal replication (10), indicating that initiation of replication is highly regulated. It has been proposed that the regulation of initiation of DNA replication occurs through the regulation of the activity of the *dnaA* gene product (11). Quantitation of the levels of the *dnaA* gene product in the cell indicated that it remains constant throughout the cell cycle (12). Other studies have shown that the levels of the *dnaA* gene product influence the accumulation of initiation potential (13, 14) and is therefore a rate-limiting factor in initiation of DNA replication. The existence of another rate-limiting factor has also been proposed (15).

Mutations in *dnaA*, including *dnaA5* and *dnaA46*, are conditionally lethal. Cells exhibit phenotypes of temperature sensitivity in initiation of DNA replication at non-permissive temperatures (16) and asynchrony in the frequency of initiation of replication at permissive temperatures (17). The altered timing of the initiation of DNA synthesis in *dnaA* mutant cells may result from an inefficient regulation of the mutant dnaA protein activity or from a deficient interaction with the replication machinery during the initiation process.

The biochemical understanding of the physiological defects associated with dnaA mutants has been initiated through the purification and characterization of the dnaA46 and dnaA5 gene products (18, 19). Both mutant proteins were shown to be deficient in one or more of the biochemical activities known to be required for dnaA protein function. dnaA46 protein is defective in its affinity for both ATP and oriC DNA (20). dnaA5 protein is defective in its affinity for ATP, and though it retains a high affinity for oriC DNA, it forms altered contacts in the A-T rich region (19). The biochemical deficiencies associated with the mutant forms of dnaA protein are reflected in the inability of dnaA46 and dnaA5 proteins to initiate DNA replication in a system composed of purified enzymes. This observation contradicts results demonstrating that dnaA46 and dnaA5 proteins are active in initiation of DNA synthesis in a replication system which utilizes a crude enzyme fraction. This indicates that there may be an activating factor in crude enzyme fraction, which is absent in the replication system composed of purified enzymes. In the replication system employing the crude enzyme fraction, dnaA5 and dnaA46 proteins exhibited a pronounced lag in comparison to dnaA protein. This may represent the time required for the activation to occur.

dnaA46 protein activity in replication systems containing a crude enzyme fraction is stimulated by the prior incubation of dnaA46 protein with dnaK protein and another unidentified factor in a crude extract (21), indicating that there may be a possible role for dnaK protein in the initiation of *oriC* plasmid replication. The discovery of a *dnaK* mutant specifically deficient in initiation of DNA replication *in vivo* provides genetic evidence of the involvement of the *dnaK* gene product in initiation (22).

This study extends the characterization of dnaA5 protein by demonstrating that it is activated by two proteins. These two activating proteins were purified based on an assay containing a reconstituted enzyme system which replicates *oriC* plasmids (23). In the absence of these two proteins, dnaA5 protein was inactive. Two heat shock proteins, grpE and dnaK, were shown to be essential for activating dnaA5 protein in replication. This activation of dnaA5 protein may relate to the physiological defects associated with dnaA5 cells. This is addressed in the accompanying Chapter (24).

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Reagents and enzymes. Commercials enzymes, solvents, chemicals and radioactive isotopes were obtained as described in Chapter III, (19). Trypsin, trypsin inhibitor, and ATP-agarose, Type III, were obtained from Sigma; Affigel-10 was obtained from Biorad; Mono Q, Mono S, and Superose 12 FPLC were obtained from Pharmacia P-L Biochemicals.

Replication assays. DNA replication assays containing purified enzymes were as described in Chapter III (19), except that EDBS Buffer was replaced by an 8% (w/v) solution of PVA. WM433 Fraction II was prepared as described in Chapter III (19). A highly purified fraction of grpE protein used as a molecular weight marker was obtained from Dr. M. Zylicz, University of Utah.

Bacterial strains and plasmids. Bacterial strains were as described in Chapter III (19); E.coli RLM893 containing the dnaK gene on a high copy number plasmid (25) was a gift from Dr. Roger McMacken, Johns Hopkins University; E.coli DA31 (relevant genotype dnaK103) containing the grpE gene in a high copy number plasmid (26) was a gift from Debbie Ang, University of Utah.

Buffers. Buffer A was described in Chapter III (19). Buffer B contains 10 mM Imidazole-HCl, pH 7.0, 10 mM MgCl₂, 10% (w/v) sucrose, and 5 mM DTT.; Buffer C contains 25 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.6, 5 mM DTT, and 20% (v/v) glycerol; Buffer D contains 500 mM KCl, 80 mM CaCl₂, 100 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.0, and 5 mM DTT; Buffer E contains 25 mM HEPES-KOH, pH 7.6, and 5 mM DTT.

Purification of dnaK protein. Purification of dnaK protein was performed by a modification of the published protocol (25). 12 liters of *E. coli* RLM893 was grown in LB media containing 10 ug/ml of chloramphenicol at 30°C until the O.D.595 was 0.5. At this point, an equal volume of LB media pre-heated to 55°C was added to the culture and the cells were incubated an additional three hours at 42°C. Cells were harvested, frozen, and

lysed to obtain a soluble Fraction I as previously described in Chapter III, (19). To the soluble supernatant (Fraction I), solid ammonium sulfate was added over a 15 minute period to a final concentration of 0.4 grams/ml, and stirred for an additional hour at 4°C. The suspension was centrifuged at 15,000 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C and the ammonium sulfate pellet was dialyzed against Buffer E until the conductivity was equivalent to Buffer E containing 400 mM KCl to obtain Fraction II. Six hundred mg of Fraction II protein was dialyzed for 12 hours at 4°C against Buffer B. The protein was applied at 4 column volumes per hour to a 5 ml ATP-agarose column equilibrated in Buffer B. The column was washed sequentially with 10 ml of Buffer B, 30 ml of Buffer B containing 1 M KCl, and with 25 ml of Buffer B. Bound protein, highly enriched for dnaK protein protein (greater than 95% pure), was eluted with Buffer B containing 20 mM MgCl₂ and 10 mM ATP. Fractions containing dnaK protein were pooled, precipitated by the addition of an equal volume of saturated ammonium sulfate, and sedimented at 15,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The pellet was resuspended in Buffer A, and dialyzed against Buffer A containing 50 mM KCl for 16 hours at 4°C. ATP-free dnaK protein was obtained by chromatography of the ATP eluent fractions on Mono Q. Fractions containing dnaK protein eluted from ATP agarose were directly injected onto Mono Q and ATP was removed by washing with Buffer A containing 150 mM KCl. Bound protein was eluted with Buffer A containing 600 mM KCl, and dialyzed for 16 hours at 4°C against Buffer A containing 50 mM KCl. Preparation of a dnak protein affinity column. dnak protein was coupled to Affigel-10 according to the manufacturers' suggestions. Twenty mg of dnaK protein in 2 ml (ATPagarose fractions) were dialyzed against Buffer D for 16 hours at 4°C. The protein was mixed with 1.5 ml of Affigel-10 resin for 24 hours at 4°C. The resin was washed with 20 ml of Buffer A containing 50 mM KCl, then with 10 ml of Buffer A containing 2 M KCl, and equilibrated in Buffer A until no protein eluted from the column. A coupling efficiency of 60% was achieved. The final wash with a buffer containing no salt was an important step in the column preparation, since some of the dnak protein that was retained on the

Affigel resin was not bound covalently and the wash without salt may have aided in the disruption of hydrophobic aggregates between coupled and uncoupled dnaK protein. The column was stored at 4°C in Buffer C for one day prior to use.

Immunological methods. Polyclonal antibodies to dnaK protein were obtained according to standard procedures (27). Protein fractions (Fraction III) were used for production of dnaK antibodies (21). Polyclonal antibody to grpE protein was a gift of Debbie Ang, University of Utah. The ELISA was performed according to the experimental procedures described in Chapter III (19). Serum containing antibodies to grpE or dnaK proteins was diluted 1:1000 in PBS containing 0.05% tween 20 and 0.2% BSA prior to use. *Protein determinations*. Protein determinations were performed as described (18).

RESULTS

The activation of dnaA5 protein in a DNA replication system containing purified enzymes.

dnaA5 protein activity can be detected in replication systems dependent on a crude enzyme fraction, but not in systems utilizing purified replication enzymes (19). This suggests that dnaA5 protein is inherently inactive in initiating DNA synthesis and that some factor(s) in the crude enzyme fraction, required for activation of dnaA5 protein, is absent in the replication system composed of purified enzymes.

Cells which harbor the *dnaA5* mutation are thermolabile in initiation of DNA replication (16) and are defective in the proper timing of initiation of DNA replication at the permissive temperatures (17). The physiological properties may relate to the rate-limiting activation of dnaA5 protein. The identification of the factor(s) required for dnaA5 protein activity may indicate how initiation of DNA replication is regulated. An assay was developed which was dependent on factor(s) from a crude enzyme fraction which conferred replication activity to dnaA5 protein in the reconstituted enzyme system. This assay would allow for the purification of the factor(s) and characterization of the activation reaction.

dnaA5 protein was shown to be inactive in replication systems composed of purified enzymes, which include BSA and sucrose as protein stabilizing agents (19). Initial experiments designed to detect activation of dnaA5 protein involved the replacement of BSA and sucrose with PVA, an essential component in replication assays utilizing the crude enzyme fraction. This difference in the reaction conditions cannot account for activation of dnaA5 protein (data not shown, Table 1) as it is inactive in a replication system composed of purified enzymes in the presence of PVA. The most complex replication system containing purified enzymes contains PVA at 8% and 12 highly purified enzyme fractions, including RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and RNase H (23). This complement of replication enzymes and reaction conditions comes the closest at mimicking the conditions of the replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction where dnaA5

protein activity can be detected. Replication assays which contain purified enzymes including RNA polymerase, RNase H, and topoisomerase I, are thought to authentically reflect the nature of initiation of replication in the cell (28), and are more physiologically relevant. For these reasons, this assay system was used to test for activation of dnaA5 protein.

The addition of Fraction II from WM433, a resuspended ammonium sulfate precipitate of a cell lysate, to this replication system resulted in the activation of dnaA5 protein replication activity (Table 1). The addition of either dnaA5 protein or Fraction II from WM433 alone to the replication assay did not result in DNA synthesis. The titration of Fraction II into reactions containing fixed amounts of dnaA5 protein resulted in proportionately increasing levels of DNA synthesis. Presumably, this assay reflects the activation of dnaA5 protein in the initiation of DNA synthesis. The activation of dnaA5 protein required PVA and RNA polymerase dependent replication reactions (data not shown). Other assay conditions could not be used to detect activation of dnaA5 protein.

The activating factor is heat sensitive.

Fraction II containing the activating factor contains many nucleases and other uncharacterized inhibitors of *in vitro* DNA replication reactions. Heat treatment of Fraction II was attempted in order to remove inhibitors from the assay and to examine the heat sensitivity of the activating factor. Fraction II was incubated at various temperatures and the resultant fractions were assayed in the replication system containing purified enzymes and dnaA5 protein (Table 2). The incubation of Fraction II at 55°C resulted in a 3-fold increase in the specific activity of the factor. Incubations at higher temperatures resulted in complete inactivation of the factor. The temperature sensitivity of the factor suggests that it is a protein.

Assays were performed to address whether the DNA synthesis observed with the 55°C heat treated Fraction II (called Fraction III) was dependent upon dnaA5 protein (Table 3).

Addition of various amounts of either Fraction III or dnaA5 protein alone resulted in background levels of DNA synthesis. The combination of the two fractions resulted in increasing levels of DNA synthesis indicating that dnaA5 protein was being activated. The relative heat stability of the factor resulted in the removal of a large proportion of the contaminating protein and this step was incorporated into the purification regime (see below).

The activating factor is a protein.

Trypsin treatment of Fraction III was performed to determine if the activating factor is a protein (Table 4). Fractions were assayed for activation in the replication system composed of purified enzymes in the presence of dnaA5 protein. The addition of Fraction III, which was treated with buffers only, resulted in 201 pmol of DNA synthesis. This is ten times the level of DNA synthesis observed without the addition of any crude fraction. The treatment of Fraction III by first adding trypsin inhibitor then trypsin resulted in 119 pmol of DNA synthesis, or a two-fold reduction in activity compared to the untreated control. The treatment of Fraction III by the addition of trypsin followed by trypsin inhibitor completely inactivated the factor, as background levels of DNA synthesis were observed. The trypsin sensitivity of the factor indicates that it is a protein.

dnaK protein is one of the activating proteins.

Purification of the activating protein from Fraction III as the starting material was unsuccessful. The activating protein did not bind to resins including; heparin agarose, DNA cellulose, CM sepharose, Mono S, or Blue Dextran agarose (data not shown). The only resin capable of binding the activating protein at neutral pH was Mono Q. The elution profile of the protein from Mono Q was broad and the activity recovered after chromatography was very poor (data not shown). In an attempt to obtain a foothold on the purification of the activating protein, the effect of purified dnaK protein on the activation of dnaA5 protein was examined.

dnaK protein (in addition to an unidentified factor in a crude cell lysate) stimulates the replication activity of dnaA46 protein 3 to 4 fold in a replication system containing a crude enzyme fraction (21). The biochemical mechanism for this stimulation has not been clarified. It seemed conceivable that the mechanism of dnaK protein action in the stimulation of dnaA46 protein activity was similar to the mechanism of activation of dnaA5 protein in the replication system composed of purified enzymes.

The influence of dnaK protein in the activation of dnaA5 protein was investigated by the addition of various amounts of Fraction III into the activation reactions in the absence and presence of a presumed excess of dnaK protein (Figure 1). The addition of Fraction III resulted in extents of DNA synthesis previously observed. However, in the presence of 2 ug of dnaK protein, the level of Fraction III required for activation of dnaA5 protein decreased 5-fold, indicating that there may be more than one activating protein.

A titration of dnaK protein was performed in the presence and absence of Fraction III to confirm that activation of dnaA5 protein requires both enzyme fractions (Figure 2). The addition of up to 5 ug of dnaK protein alone did not result in DNA synthesis indicating that dnaK protein alone cannot activate the replication function of dnaA5 protein. However, in the presence of low levels of Fraction III, the amounts of dnaK protein required for complete activation of dnaA5 protein were 1 ug to 2 ug. These results indicate that dnaK protein is one participant in the activation reaction and at least one other factor is required for activation of dnaA5 protein.

The second activating factor is a protein.

Fraction III was treated with either trypsin, trypsin inhibitor, or buffer only, as described above in order to examine the trypsin sensitivity of the second activating factor in the activation of dnaA5 protein (Figure 3). Fraction III treated with buffer only resulted in

up to 189 pmol of DNA synthesis. The treatment of Fraction III with trypsin inhibitor followed by trypsin resulted in similar levels of DNA synthesis. However, Fraction III treated first with trypsin then with trypsin inhibitor resulted in a complete loss of activity. This indicates that the second factor required for activation is a protein.

The second activating protein is heat sensitive

The heat stability of the second activating protein was examined with the goal of finding a unique property of the protein that could be used to facilitate its purification. The second activating protein is somewhat heat resistant at 55°C since Fraction III (Fraction II heated at 55°C) is the source material used. Fraction II was incubated at various temperatures and 6 ug of protein from each heat treated fraction was added to the reconstituted enzyme system containing dnaA5 protein and 2 ug of dnaK protein. At temperatures of 55°C or 60°C, substantial soluble activity was recovered, but this activity was inactivated at higher temperatures (Table 5).

The partial purification of the second activating protein.

The inclusion of dnaK protein in the reconstituted enzyme system containing dnaA5 protein allowed for the partial purification of the second activating protein (Table 6). Upon gel filtration chromatography of this activity on Superose 12, four polypeptides in the peak fractions were co-incident with activity based on resolution in a SDS polyacrylamide gel stained with Coomasie Blue (data not shown). The difficulty in purifying the second activating protein to near homogeneity resulted in attempts at finding alternative methods for determining its identity. An attempt was made to correlate the protein of interest to a known *E. coli* protein by comparing the sizes of these four polypeptides to that of a known *E. coli* protein. One of these four polypeptides was a protein with a molecular weight of 24 kd. dnaK protein is known to form a complex with another heat shock protein, the 24 kd grpE protein (29).

Antibody to grpE protein was obtained and an ELISA was performed to see if there was a protein in the Superose 12 fractions that would cross react to the grpE antibody. An ELISA profile of grpE protein and dnaK protein (also present in these Superose 12 fractions) is shown in Figure 5B. The peak of dnaK protein trailed that of activity, while the peak of grpE protein was coincident with activity. This result suggested that the second activating protein was a known *E. coli* protein, grpE protein.

The purification of grpE protein

To confirm whether the second activating protein was grpE protein, it was purified from an overproducing strain by published methods (29). The ability of grpE protein to replace the Superose 12 gel permeation fraction in the activation of dnaA5 protein would result in the identification of the second activating protein.

The purification of grpE protein is a one step procedure which involves the ability of grpE protein to form a salt-resistant, ATP-sensitive complex with dnaK protein (29). A dnaK protein affinity column was prepared and used according to the Experimental Procedures. *E. coli* DA31, which overproduces the grpE protein, was grown in 5 L of LB media at 37°C to an O.D.595 of 1.0 and the cells were harvested, frozen, and lysed. A Fraction II was prepared according to published methods (32).

Fraction II (45 mg), containing elevated levels of grpE protein, was diluted to a conductivity equivalent to Buffer C containing 50 mM KCl and loaded at four column volumes per hour onto a dnaK protein Affigel-10 column equilibrated in the same buffer. The column was washed successively with 6 ml Buffer C containing 50 mM KCl, 8 ml of Buffer C containing 2 M KCL, and Buffer C containing 50 mM KCl until protein in the eluent was not detected. The bound protein was eluted with Buffer C containing 50 mM KCl, 20 mM MgCl₂, and 10 mM ATP at a flow rate of 0.5 ml per hour. The protein in the ATP eluent fraction, grpE protein Fraction III, was analyzed by SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis to demonstrate that a protein of 24 kd, corresponding to grpE protein, was

present (Figure 6, lane 7). A band at the 24 kd position migrated at the position of grpE protein obtained from another laboratory (Figure 6, lane 3), indicating that this purification resulted in highly purified fractions of grpE protein. In addition, this fraction of grpE protein contains a minor contaminant of 68 kd, which corresponds in molecular weight to dnaK protein. Apparently, some dnaK protein non-covalently bound to the dnaK protein affinity resin was eluted by the buffer containing ATP. The contaminating dnaK protein did not originate from the Fraction II obtained from the grpE overproducing cells. The strain used, harboring the *dnaK103* allele, does not synthesize a stable full length *dnaK* gene product (29). Densitometric scanning of the lanes containing purified grpE protein indicated a purity of 85%. This highly purified fraction of grpE protein was tested for its ability to activate dnaA5 protein in the reconstituted enzyme systems containing dnaK protein.

grpE protein is the second activating protein.

The addition of purified grpE protein and a Superose 12 peak fraction containing the second activating protein to activation assays is shown in Figure 7. The specific activities of the Superose 12 peak fraction and grpE protein in the activation assay were 2,095 and 42,600 units per mg of protein, respectively. Based on the specific activity of the highly purified grpE protein preparation, the amount of grpE protein present in the Superose 12 peak fraction was estimated to be 5%, which correlates well with the physical abundance of the 24 kd protein in this fraction. These results indicate that, in addition to dnaK protein, grpE protein is required for the activation of dnaA5 protein.

The amounts of dnaK protein and grpE protein required for activation of dnaA5 protein.

The optimal amounts of dnaK and grpE heat shock proteins required for the activation of dnaA5 protein were examined. Purified dnaK protein was optimal at 5 ug of protein added to a reconstituted enzyme system containing fixed levels dnaA5 protein (100 ng) and grpE

protein (100 ng) (Figure 8A). Purified grpE protein was optimal at 120 ng of protein added to a reconstituted enzyme system containing fixed levels of dnaA5 protein (100 ng) and differing levels of dnaK protein (Figure 8B). Activation was dependent on the addition of both dnaK and grpE proteins. Based on the molar quantities of each protein required for activation, the ratio of dnaA5 protein: grpE protein: dnaK protein in the activation reaction is 1: 2: 40. Figure 1. The influence of dnaK protein on Fraction III dependent activation of dnaA5 protein. Replication reactions containing purified enzymes and dnaA5 protein (90 ng) were assembled according to the experimental procedures. Fraction III was titrated into the reactions in the presence (\bullet) and absence (\bigcirc) of 2 ug of dnaK protein. The incubations were performed at 30^oC for 60 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 2. Titration of dnaK protein in activation reactions. Replication reactions containing purified enzymes and dnaA5 protein (90 ng) were assembled according to the experimental procedures. dnaK protein was titrated into the reactions in the presence (\bullet) and absence (O) of 12 ug of Fraction III. The incubations were performed at 30^oC for 60 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 3. The second activating factor is trypsin sensitive. Fraction III was treated with trypsin (O), trypsin inhibitor (\blacksquare), or buffer only (\bullet) and incubated at 30^oC for 10 minutes. The fractions were then treated with trypsin inhibitor (O), trypsin (\blacksquare), or buffer only (\bullet), respectively, and incubated at 30^oC for 10 minutes. Replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein were assembled and the indicated amounts of the treated fractions were added. The incubations were performed at 30^oC for 60 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.


Figure 4. Mono Q chromatography of the second activating protein. Fraction III was injected onto a Mono Q column (8 cm x 1 cm) as stated in Table 6. The activation of dnaA5 protein was measured using a replication reaction containing purified enzymes, 90 ng of dnaA5 protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein. The extents of DNA synthesis (\bullet) and protein determinations (O) were determined according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 5. (A). Superose 12 chromatography of Fraction IV. Three hundred ug of Mono Q fraction number 25 was injected onto a Superose 12 column (25 cm x 1 cm) equilibrated in Buffer A containing 250 mM KCl as described in Table 6. Fractions (500 ul) were collected and 1 ul was assayed in replication reactions containing purified enzymes, 90 ng of dnaA5 protein and 2 ug of dnaK protein. The reactions were assembled according to the experimental procedures and incubated at 30° C for 60 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis (\bullet) and protein determinations (O) were performed according to the experimental procedures. (B). ELISA of Superose 12 fractions. Two ul of each fraction were assayed in an ELISA according to the experimental procedures. grpE protein (\bullet) and dnaK protein (O) levels were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.





Figure 6. SDS polyacrylamide gel of grpE protein containing fractions. Protein samples were separated by electrophoresis in a 12% polyacrylamide gel and stained with Coomasie Blue. The fractions represented are: lane 1, molecular weight markers, gyrase subunit A (105 kd), dnaB protein (54 kd) and SSB, (18 kd); lane 2, dnaK protein (Fraction III); lane 3, purified grpE protein from Dr. M. Zylicz; lane 4, Mono Q fraction 25 containing the second activating protein; lane 5, Superose 12 fraction number 28 containing the second activating protein; lane 6, Fraction II from a grpE overproducing cell strain; and lane 7, grpE protein eluted from a dnaK protein affinity column.



Figure 7. grpE protein replaces a Superose 12 fraction in the activation of dnaA5 protein. Replication reactions containing purified enzymes, 90 ng of dnaA5 protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. grpE protein (•) or Superose 12 fraction number 28 (O) was added and the incubations were continued at 30°C for 60 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 8. (A). dnaK protein titration in activation reactions. dnaK protein was added into replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein without grpE protein (O), or with 100 ng of grpE protein (\bullet). (B) grpE protein titration in activation reactions. grpE protein was titrated into replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein without dnaK protein (O), with 1.2 ug of dnaK protein (\blacksquare), or with 2.5 ug of dnaK protein (\bullet). The reactions were assembled according to the experimental procedures and incubated at 30°C for 60 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures





The activation of dnaA5 protein by WM433 Fraction II

Components added	Fraction II (ug)	DNA synthesis (pmol)	
dnaA5	-	19	
Fraction II + dnaA5	25	18	
Fraction II + dnaA5	50	70	
Fraction II + dnaA5	100	184	
Fraction II	50	8	
Fraction II	100		

DNA replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein, where indicated, were assembled according to the experimental procedures. The indicated components were added and incubations were performed at 30° C for 45 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

The activating factor is heat sensitive

Fraction added	protein (ug)	incubation temperature	DNA synthesis (pmol)
-	-	-	6
II (diluted)	12	0°C	36
II (diluted)	25	0 ⁰ C	102
IIIa	6	55 ⁰ C	79
IIIa	12	55 ⁰ C	151
Шь	6	71 ⁰ C	9
Шь	12	71 ⁰ C	10
IIIc	6	91 ^o C	6
IIIc	12	91 ^o C	5

WM433 Fraction II was diluted two fold with Buffer A and portions were incubated at the indicated temperatures for 7 minutes. Insoluble material was removed by centrifugation at 12,000 x g for 5 minutes and the indicated amounts of protein were added to replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein. The incubations were performed at 30° C for 45 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

dnaA5 protein is required to observe Fraction III dependent replication activity

dnaA5 protein (90 ng)	Fraction III (ug)	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
+	-	19
+	6	77
+	12	139
-	6	4
	12	5

Replication reactions containing purified enzymes were assembled according to the experimental procedures. The indicated components were added and incubations were performed at 30^oC for 45 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

The activating factor is trypsin sensitive

dnaA5 protein	Fraction III (50 ug)	treatment	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
+	-	-	20
+	+	buffer	201
+	+	try/ti	4
+	+	ti/try	119

Fraction III (15 ul) was treated with Buffer A only, 2.5 ug of trypsin (try) or 2.5 ug of trypsin inhibitor (ti) and incubated at 30^oC for 10 minutes. The reactions were then treated, respectively, with Buffer A only, 2.5 ug of trypsin inhibitor, or 2.5 ug of trypsin and incubated at 30^oC for 10 minutes. The indicated amounts of the treated fractions were added to replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA5 protein. The reactions were incubated at 30^oC for 60 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

The second activating protein is heat sensitive

Fraction added	protein (ug)	incubation temperature	DNA Synthesis (pmol)	
-	-	-	48	
IIIa	12	55 ^o C	197	
IIIb	12	60 ⁰ C	169	
IIIc	12	65 ⁰ C	95	
IIId	12	70 ⁰ C	46	

WM433 Fraction II was diluted two fold with Buffer A and portions were incubated at the indicated temperatures for 7 minutes. The insoluble material was removed by centrifugation at 12,000 x g for 5 minutes. The indicated components were added to replication reactions containing purified enzymes, 90 ng of dnaA5 protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein. The reactions were incubated at 30° C for 60 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

Fraction	volume (ml)	protein (mg)	units x 10 ³	specific activity (units/mg)	unit yield (%)	fold purification
I	62.0	1220	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.
II	7.50	795	48	60	N.D	N.D
III	29.0	272	369	1354	(100)	22
IV	16.5	64.4	286	4440	77	74
V *	66.0	38.1	267	6915	67	115

The partial purification of the second activating protein

* 1/33 of fraction IV was used to produce Fraction V and the values obtained were corrected for by a factor of 33.

WM433 Fraction II was diluted two-fold with Buffer A, DNase I was added to a final concentration of 0.01 ug/ml, and an incubation was performed at $37^{\circ}C$ for 20 minutes. The inclusion of DNase I resulted in the degradation of contaminating DNA that interfered with the replication assay after Mono Q chromatography (data not shown). The fraction was incubated at $55^{\circ}C$ for 7 minutes, followed by centrifugation to remove insoluble material. An additional heat step was incorporated to remove additional contaminating protein as well as to inactivate residual DNase I. The resultant soluble fraction, Fraction III, was diluted to a conductivity equivalent to 50 mM KCl in Buffer A and applied to a Mono Q column (8 cm x 1 cm) equilibrated in the same buffer. Bound protein was eluted with a twenty ml linear gradient extending from 50 mM KCl to 600 mM KCl in Buffer A. Every fifth fraction was assayed in the reconstituted enzyme system containing dnaA5 protein and 2 ug of dnaK protein. The protein and activity profiles are summarized in Figure 4. The activity eluted between 250 mM and 350 mM KCl. A 90% yield of activity was obtained (Fraction IV) with a 3-4 fold purification. The second activating protein did not bind to DNA cellulose, heparin agarose, Mono S, or Blue Dextran agarose (data not shown). Gel filtration was performed in order to determine the molecular weight of the protein as well as to aid in its purification. Fraction number 25 from Mono Q was injected onto a Superose 12 gel filtration column equilibrated in Buffer A containing 250 mM KCl. The activity profile is shown in Figure 5A. The fractions containing activity are not highly enriched for one particular polypeptide (Figure 6) and the purification was only two-fold compared to the starting material. The recovery of units was 85% (Fraction V) and the activity detected was also dependent upon exogenousely added dnaK protein (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

dnaA5 protein is inactive in replication systems containing purified enzymes (19). By contrast, it is active in a replication system employing a crude enzyme fraction suggesting that an activating factor in the crude enzyme fraction is absent in the reconstituted enzyme system. The extended lag preceding DNA replication dependent on dnaA5 protein in the crude enzyme system may reflect the time required for this activation to occur (19). An assay was developed which detects the ability of a factor from a crude enzyme fraction to activate dnaA5 protein in the replication system containing purified enzymes.

dnaA protein involvement in the *in vitro* replication of *oriC* plasmids was first demonstrated using crude enzyme fractions obtained from *dnaA* mutants (32). A feature of this system was the requirement for an ATP regenerating system and PVA. Such crude enzyme fractions, deficient in dnaA protein activity, could support bidirectional initiation of DNA replication from *oriC* upon the addition of dnaA protein (33); this was used as an assay to purify dnaA protein (34).

Reconstitution of the replication system containing a crude enzyme fraction into purified components led to the formation of a system composed of 12 highly purified enzyme fractions, including RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and RNase H (23). This reconstituted enzyme system supports *oriC* plasmid replication dependent upon dnaA protein. Simplification of this replication system dependent upon RNA polymerase has led to the discovery of an RNA polymerase independent replication system, where primase is the sole priming enzyme (30, 31). Further refinement resulted in the discovery that dnaA protein functions to unwind the double helix at A-T rich regions in the vicinity of *oriC* (4), facilitating the formation of a pre-priming intermediate including dnaB and dnaC proteins (3).

The replication system containing RNA polymerase, topoisomerase I, and RNase H is thought to be more physiologically relevant (28). The influence of these proteins on dnaA

protein activity is not completely understood. A transcriptional event by RNA polymerase is thought to alter the topology of DNA through transcriptional activation (35). This topological alteration may facilitate dnaA protein dependent unwinding of *oriC*. Topoisomerase I and RNase H maintain *oriC* dependence by preventing nonspecific transcription that leads to *oriC* independent initiation of DNA synthesis (23).

The activation of dnaA5 protein was not observed in RNA polymerase dependent replication assays in the absence of PVA, in replication systems where primase is the sole priming enzyme, or in *oriC* unwinding assays (FI* formation) (unpublished data). The assay used to detect activation of dnaA5 protein was the RNA polymerase dependent replication system containing PVA. The requirement for RNA polymerase in the replication reaction may indicate that the activated form of dnaA5 protein requires RNA polymerase to facilitate unwinding of *oriC*.

grpE and dnaK heat shock proteins are both required for activation of dnaA5 protein replication activity. Initially, purification of the activator was unsuccessful. The demonstration that one of the activators was dnaK protein allowed for the partial purification of the second factor, subsequently shown to be grpE protein.

The observation that the second protein required for the activation of dnaA5 protein was grpE protein was deduced from the following evidence: 1) a 24 kd protein, isolated by gel filtration and resolved in a SDS polyacrylamide gel stained with Coomasie Blue, was coincident with activity, 2) the active fractions obtained by gel filtration were coincident with a protein that cross reacted to grpE antibody and 3) purified fractions of grpE protein replaced a Superose 12 fraction which activated dnaA5 protein with a similar efficiency.

The heat shock proteins dnaK, dnaJ, and grpE (36) function at an early step in lambda phage DNA replication (37-39). The dnaK protein involvement in initiation of lambda DNA replication occurs at a stage after the formation of a lambda O-lambda P-dnaB-dnaJ initiation complex at the origin (40-44). Its action results in the displacement of lambda P protein from dnaB protein (46-49), permitting dnaB protein to function as a helicase. grpE protein is dispensable in the *in vitro* lambda replication system composed of purified enzymes as its role is to reduce the levels of dnaK protein required by 10-fold (45).

grpE and dnaK proteins form a complex (54) that is dissociated by ATP (29). The levels of ATP present in the lambda replication reaction are sufficiently high to maintain them in the dissociated state. grpE protein may function to reduce the level of dnaK protein required for initiation of lambda DNA replication by sequestering free lambda P protein to prevent its reassociation with dnaB helicase (50). In the absence of grpE protein, the elevated levels of dnaK protein may be required to, similarly, prevent reassociation of lambda P protein with the dnaB helicase.

The activation of dnaA5 protein absolutely requires both grpE and dnaK protein; the addition of either protein alone, even up to 10 ug of dnaK protein (unpublished data), results in no dnaA5 protein activation. This seems to differ from the involvement of dnaK and grpE proteins in lambda DNA replication, as dnaK protein can function in the absence of grpE protein. The activation of dnaA5 protein may proceed through a readily reversible process during which dnaA5 protein can assume the inactive form. dnaK protein alone may be unable to prevent the reaction reversal, and by analogy to the lambda DNA replication system, grpE protein may prevent the activation from reversing and thus maintain dnaA5 protein in its active state.

grpE and dnaK mutants are temperature sensitive for E. coli growth (51, 52) demonstrating their essential role in cellular metabolism. A dnaK mutant defective in initiation of DNA replication (22) indicates its participation in this process *in vivo*. Until recently, no direct biochemical evidence existed which demonstrated a role for dnaK protein in oriC plasmid replication *in vitro*. A form of wild type dnaA protein that is inactive in oriC DNA replication systems composed of purified enzymes, elutes as an aggregate upon gel filtration (34) and contains elevated levels of phospholipid (53). This form of dnaA protein becomes active upon incubation with dnaK protein or phospholipase A2, indicating that dnaK protein may regulate the pool of dnaA protein in the cell by converting it from the aggregate to the monomeric state by the dissociation of phospholipid (53). dnaA5 protein was not activated in replication by phospholipase A2 (data not shown), indicating the mechanism of activation may be different from the activation of the aggregated form of dnaA protein.

The physiological defects associated with *dnaA5* cells may relate to the activation of dnaA5 protein by heat shock proteins. The mechanism involving activation and its relation to physiological defects will be discussed in Chapter V (24).

REFERENCES

- 1. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 50: 259-265.
- 2. Fuller, R.S., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 889-900.
- 3. Baker, T.A., Sekimizu, K., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1986) Cell 45: 53-64.
- 4. Bramhill, D. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 52: 743-755.
- 5. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 6146-6150.
- 6. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7124-7130.
- 7. Sekimizu, K. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7131-7135.
- 8. Jacq, A., Kern, R., Tsugita, A., and Kohiyama, M. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 1409-1414.
- 9. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 7202-7205.
- 10. Donachie, W.D. (1968) Nature 219: 1077-1079.
- 11. Hansen, F.G. and Rasmussen, K.V. (1977) Mol. Gen. Genet. 155: 219-225.
- 12. Sakakibara, Y, and Yuasa, S. (1982) Mol. Gen. Genet. 186: 87-94.
- 13. Chiaramello, A. and Zyskind, J.W. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 4272-4280.
- 14. Skartstad, K., Lobner-Olesen, A., Atlung, T., and von Meyenburg, K. (1989) Mol. Gen. Genet. 218: 50-56.
- 15. Atlung, T., Lobner-Olesen, A., and Hansen, F.G. (1987) Mol. Gen. Genet. 206: 51-59.
- 16. Hansen, E.B., Atling, T., Hansen, F.G., Skovgaard, O., and von Meyenburg, K. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 387-396.
- 17. Skarstad, K., Steen, H.B., and Boye, E. (1985) J. Bact. 163: 661-668.
- 18. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10625-10632.
- 19. Hupp, T., Ph. D. Thesis, Chapter III.
- 20. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10633-10640.
- 21. Hwang, D.S., Carr, K.M., and Kaguni, J.M. (1990) manuscript in preparation.
- 22. Sakakibara, Y. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 972-979.
- 23. Kaguni, J.M. and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 183-190.

- 24. Hupp, T., Ph. D. thesis, Chapter V.
- 25. Zylicz, M. and Georgopoulos, C. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259: 8820-8825.
- 26. Lipinska, B., King, J., Ang, D., Georgopoulos, C. (1988) Nucl. Acids Res. 16: 7545-7562.
- 27. Harlow, E. and Lane, D. (1988) Antibodies Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. Cold Spring Harbor, New York.
- 28. Ogawa, T. and Okazaki, T. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 193: 231-237.
- 29. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., and Georgopoulos, C. (1987) J. Biol.Chem. 262: 17437-17442.
- 30. van der Ende, A., Baker, T.A., Ogawa, T., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 4078-4084.
- 31. Ogawa, T., Baker, T.A., van der Ende, A., and Kornberg, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3536-3566.
- 32. Fuller, R.S., Kaguni, J.M., and Kornberg, A. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.78: 7370-7374.
- 33. Kaguni, J.M., Fuller, R.S., and Kornberg, A. (1982) Nature 296: 623-627.
- 34. Fuller, R.S. and Kornberg, A. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 80: 5817-5820.
- 35. Baker, T.A. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 55: 113-123.
- 36. Neidhart, F.C. and VanBogelen, R.A. (1982) Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium: Cellular and Molecular Biology American Society for Microbiology, Washington.
- 37. Georgopoulos, C. (1977) Mol. Gen. Genet. 151: 35-39.
- 38. Saito, H. and Uchida, H. (1977) J. Mol. Biol. 113: 1-25.
- 39. Saito, H. and Uchida, H. (1978) Mol. Gen. Genet. 164: 1-8.
- 40. Ander, I.A. and Klein, A. Nucl. Acids Res. 10: 1733-1740.
- 41. Tsurimoto, T. and Matsubora, K. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 7639-7643.
- 42. Wold, M., Mallory, J., Roberts, J., LeBowitz, J., and McMacken, R. (1982) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79: 6176-6180.
- 43. LeBowitz, J.H., Zylicz, M., Georgopoulos, C., and McMacken, R. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 4678-4682.
- 44. Dodson, M., Echols, H., Wickner, S., Alfano, C., Mensa-Wilmot, K., Gomes, B., LeBowitz, J., Roberts, J.D., and McMacken, R. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.

U.S.A. 83: 7638-7642.

. -

- 45. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., Libereck, K., and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) The EMBO Journal 8: 1601-1608.
- 46. Alfano, C. and McMacken, R. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 10709-10718.
- 47. Dodson, M., McMacken, R., and Echols, H. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 10719-10725.
- 48. Alfano, C. and McMacken, R. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 10699-100708.
- 49. Libereck, K., Georgopoulos, C., and Zylicz, M. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 6632-6636.
- 50. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., Libereck, K., Yamamoto, T., and Georgopoulos, C. (1988) Biochim Biophys. Acta 951: 344-350.
- 51. Bukav, B. and Walker, G.C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 6030-6038.
- 52. Ang, D. and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 2748-2755.
- 53. Hwang, D.S. and Kornberg, A., personal communication.
- 54. Johnson, C., Chandrasakhar, G.N., and Georgopoulos, C. (1989) J. Bact. 171: 1590-1596.

Chapter V

THE Escherichia coli dnaA5 PROTEIN IS ACTIVATED BY grpE AND dnaK HEAT SHOCK PROTEINS PRIOR TO ITS INTERACTION WITH oriC DNA

ABSTRACT

The replication activity of dnaA5 protein in a reconstituted enzyme system is restored through the combined actions of grpE and dnaK heat shock proteins (Chapter IV). The activation was divided into two stages which separated the activation event from DNA synthesis. The minimal components necessary during Stage I for the efficient activation of dnaA5 protein included: ATP at concentrations greater than 0.25 mM, PVA at levels of 8% or glycerol at concentrations of at least 10%, 50 ng to 100 ng of grpE protein, and dnaK protein at concentrations of at least 0.1 mg/ml. The subsequent addition of the activated form of dnaA5 protein to the reconstituted enzyme system (Stage II) resulted in high levels of replication with a lag preceding DNA synthesis characteristic to that of wild type dnaA protein. Although grpE and dnaJ proteins stimulate the ATPase activity of dnaK protein ten-fold, the presence of grpE and dnaA5 proteins had no effect on its ATPase activity. Using a monoclonal antibody that differentiates dnaA5 from dnaA protein a conformational change in dnaA5 protein was detected in the ATP dependent activation reaction. The interaction between dnaA5 protein and the heat shock proteins was thermolabile suggesting that the thermolability of dnaA5 cells may be related to the interaction of the dnaA5 gene product with the heat shock proteins.

INTRODUCTION

The initiation of DNA replication, *in vivo* (1) and *in vitro* (2), requires the function of the dnaA initiator protein. dnaA protein functions at an early stage in the initiation of replication of *oriC* plasmids, during which duplex DNA in the vicinity of *oriC* is converted to a single-stranded form (3). This intermediate is capable of supporting RNA priming and DNA synthesis (4). The individual biochemical properties of dnaA protein required for its replication activity include ATP binding (5) and sequence specific DNA binding to *oriC* (6).

The *dnaA* dependent initiation of replication occurs at a specific time within the cell cycle (7) indicating that chromosomal DNA replication is tightly coupled to cell growth. It is not known if or how the replication activity of dnaA protein is modulated in vivo, but accumulating evidence suggests that it may be under some form of regulation. dnaA protein bound to ADP is inactive in replication (8). The regulation of dnaA protein activity in vivo has been proposed to occur through the phospholipid reactivation of the ADP form of dnaA protein (9). The concentration of dnaA protein affects the initiation of replication in vivo in that overproduction of dnaA protein from expression vectors containing the dnaA gene increases the rate of initiation of DNA synthesis (10), suggesting that dnaA protein is the rate-limiting factor in initiation. However, other rate-limiting factors may exist as these initiation events are abortive (11). The concentration of dnaA protein per cell increases linearly with the growth rate (12), possibly on the demand for increasing the rate of initiation events in more rapidly growing cells. Clearly, there is a correlation between the levels of dnaA protein in the cell and the frequency of initiations, but the mechanism responsible for the coupling of dnaA protein activity in chromosomal DNA replication to cell growth is not known.

Cells harboring mutations in *dnaA*, including *dnaA5* and *dnaA46*, are temperature sensitive (13) and are asynchronous in the initiation of replication (14). An understanding

of the biochemical deficiencies associated with mutant forms of dnaA protein may allow for a greater understanding of initiation of DNA replication and its regulation. For this reason, mutant forms of dnaA protein, including dnaA5 (15) and dnaA46 (17, 18), have been purified and characterized in comparison to wild type dnaA protein. These mutant forms of dnaA protein are unable to bind ATP and interact inefficiently with *oriC* DNA resulting in their inability to initiate DNA synthesis in replication systems composed of purified enzymes (15, 17, 18). However, dnaA5 and dnaA46 proteins were observed to be active in replication systems employing a crude enzyme fraction and it was thought that components in the crude fractions were able to restore replication activity to the defective proteins. This hypothesis was confirmed by designing an assay which measured the activation of dnaA5 protein in replication systems composed of purified enzymes (16). Further purification of these activators has demonstrated that two heat shock proteins, grpE and dnaK, are required for the activation of dnaA5 protein.

DNA replication initiating from the lambda origin, *oriL*, requires phage encoded lambda O and P proteins (19, 20) and host encoded heat shock proteins including grpE, dnaJ, and dnaK (21). Biochemical studies on the replication of plasmids containing *oriL* has resulted in the reconstitution of the enzymes and proteins required for the process. The lambda O initiator protein binds to its consensus sequence within *oriL* and unwinds the duplex DNA in the vicinity of the origin (22). Lambda P protein interacts with lambda O protein and forms a complex with dnaB protein at the lambda origin (23). The requirement for dnaJ and dnaK heat shock proteins occurs after events leading to the formation of a lambda Olambda P-dnaB nucleoprotein complex at *oriL*. In the presence of dnaJ protein, dnaK protein dissociates the lambda P protein from the initiation complex (24) in an ATP dependent manner to activate the helicase activity of dnaB protein (25). grpE protein is dispensable in this replication system containing purified enzymes (21) as its function is to reduce the level of dnaK protein required for initiation of DNA replication (26).

190

The identification of a *dnaK* mutant which is conditionally defective in initiation of DNA replication *in vivo* (27) indicates that dnaK protein is involved in the initiation of replication from *oriC*. The demonstration that dnaK and grpE proteins are required for activation of dnaA5 protein in *oriC* plasmid replication (16) provides a new system for the study of the function of heat shock proteins and a possible direction in understanding the regulation of DNA replication. This study extends the characterization of the heat shock protein mediated activation of dnaA5 protein by providing evidence that dnaK and grpE proteins function prior to dnaA5 protein association with *oriC* DNA. This interaction is temperature sensitive indicating that the thermolability in cell growth is related to the interaction between the *dnaA5* gene product and the *dnaK* and *grpE* gene products and not with an inherent instability of dnaA5 protein at elevated temperatures. The timing defect associated with *dnaA5* and *dnaA46* cells may be related to the inherent inactivity of the mutant initiator protein in initiating DNA replication. A rate limiting reaction involving the grpE and dnaK heat shock proteins may be required for the accumulation of initiation potential *in vivo* giving rise to an asynchronous initiation phenotype.

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

Reagents and enzymes. Commercial enzymes, solvents, chemicals, and radioactive isotopes were obtained as described (15). Polyethyleneimine TLC plates were obtained from Macherey-Nagel. dnaJ protein was a gift of Dr. M. Zylicz, University of Utah. DNA replication assays. RNA polymerase dependent oriC plasmid replication assays which include PVA at 8% (w/v)were performed as previously described (16). The protein fractions used include: dnaA protein (fraction V, 2 x 10⁵ units/mg) (17); dnaA5 protein (fraction III, (15)); dnaK protein (fraction IV, (16)); and grpE protein (fraction III, (16)). Staging activation. The activation of dnaA5 protein in the RNA polymerase dependent replication system containing PVA was divided into two stages. Stage I contained the following components in a 5 ul volume: PVA at 8%, 40 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.6), 40 mM creatine phosphate, 0.4 mg/ml creatine kinase, 2 mM ATP, 10 mM magnesium acetate and, unless otherwise indicated, 100 ng of dnaA5 protein (fraction III or IV, (15)), 2 ug of dnaK protein (fraction IV, (16)), and 100 ng of grpE protein (fraction III, (16)). The reactions were incubated at 30°C for one hour, unless otherwise indicated. During Stage I incubations, Stage II components were assembled at 0°C in a 20 ul volume and contained the following reagents: PVA (8%) (w/v), 40 mM HEPES-KOH (pH 7.6), 40 mM creatine phosphate, 2 mM ATP, 0.5 mM GTP, 0.5 mM CTP, 0.5 mM UTP, 1 mM dNTP (³HdNTP at 20 to 40 cpm/pmol nucleotide), 0.4 mg/ml creatine kinase, 10 mM magnesium acetate, 200 ng of M13oriC2LB5 plasmid, and purified replication enzymes and proteins as described in Chapter III (15). After Stage I, the Stage I reactions were placed on ice and 20 ul of a mixture containing Stage II components were added. The incubations were continued at 30°C for 25 minutes unless otherwise indicated. The extents of DNA synthesis were determined according to published procedures (15).

ATPase assays. The methods used for assembling the reactions were previously described (47) and are indicated in Figure 7. The products of the reaction were chromatographed on

polyethyleneimine TLC plates by spotting a one ul aliquot onto the origin, drying under a heat lamp, and developing the chromatogram in 1 M Formate / 500 mM LiCl. After the TLC plates were dried, the positions of the radioactive species were visualized by exposing the plates to X-ray film. The radioactive products were excised and the radioactivity was quantitated by liquid scintillation counting.

Immunological methods. Monoclonal antibodies to dnaA protein were produced (data not shown) and purified on protein A Superose resin according to standard procedures (46). Quantitating the levels of monoclonal antibody bound to its antigen in an ELISA was performed by the incubation of a 1:1000 dilution of goat anti-mouse HRP (Biorad) in PBS buffer containing 0.05% tween 20 and 0.2% BSA for one hour at room temperature. Following four washes with PBS containing 0.05% tween 20, the levels of goat anti-mouse HRP present were quantitated as previously described (46).

RESULTS

The time course of DNA synthesis in activation reactions.

The activation of dnaA5 protein in replication depends upon grpE and dnaK proteins (Chapter IV (16)). This coupled assay measures the activation of dnaA5 protein as detected by its ability to initiate DNA synthesis dependent upon other replication enzymes. An extended time course of activation (Figure 1A) revealed that a lag of about 30 minutes preceded DNA synthesis, then proceeded linearly for up to 100 minutes. Presumably, the 30 minute lag preceding DNA synthesis reflects the time required for activation of dnaA5 protein by the combined action of grpE and dnaK proteins.

This extended lag is not characteristic of DNA synthesis initiated by dnaA protein (2). The initiation of DNA synthesis dependent upon dnaA protein (Figure 1B) occurred much earlier in this replication system, which is expected, since it is thought that dnaA protein is in an active form when isolated from the cell and does not need grpE and dnaK proteins for activity. Once replication was initiated by both the dnaA protein dependent and the dnaA5 protein dependent systems, DNA synthesis proceeded linearly for up to 60 minutes.

Staging the activation of dnaA5 protein.

The extended lag required for dnaA5 protein to initiate DNA synthesis in a replication system composed of purified enzymes (Figure 1A) may reflect the time required for activation to occur. Presumably, the assay measures two events that are independent; the activation of dnaA5 protein by the heat shock proteins and subsequent initiation of replication catalyzed by the activated form of dnaA5 protein. The reaction was initially divided into two stages which involved the incubation of dnaA5 protein with a presumed minimal complement of proteins and reaction substrates. In the first stage (Stage I), dnaA5 protein was incubated with grpE and dnaK proteins at 30°C for 1 hour in a 5 ul reaction mixture as described in the Experimental Procedures. The second stage (Stage II) involved

the addition of a 20 ul reaction mixture containing *oriC* DNA, ³H-dNTP, and replication enzymes to the Stage I mixture followed by incubations at 30°C for 30 minutes. The results are summarized in Table 1A. Control reactions containing only dnaA5 protein, or a sub-set of the three proteins (dnaA5, grpE and dnaK), showed that DNA synthesis did not occur. The addition of dnaA5, grpE, and dnaK proteins to Stage I resulted in high levels of DNA synthesis. The control reactions which involved the omission of dnaA5, grpE and dnaK proteins in Stage I but their addition to Stage II did not result in DNA synthesis. This is expected since the activation of dnaA5 protein in the coupled system requires that at least 30 minutes elapse before any detectable DNA synthesis occurs (Figure 1 A). These results indicate that grpE and dnaK proteins activate dnaA5 protein at a stage preceding binding to *oriC* DNA and can occur in the absence of general replication enzymes.

It is possible that one of the two heat shock proteins function during Stage I and the other functions during an early part of Stage II. To demonstrate that grpE and dnaK proteins are both required during Stage I, experiments were performed which involved the incubation of dnaA5 protein with one of the two heat shock proteins in Stage I and subsequent addition of the omitted component to Stage II (Table 1B). The incubation of dnaA5 protein with grpE or dnaK proteins in a Stage I reaction mixture and subsequent addition of either dnaK or grpE proteins to Stage II, respectively, did not result in DNA synthesis. The control reaction in which all three components were incubated together during Stage I resulted in high levels of DNA synthesis. These results indicate that one of the two heat shock proteins cannot function individually during Stage I, but both grpE and dnaK proteins are required to observe activation of dnaA5 protein.

The time course of the staged activation of dnaA5 protein.

To determine the time course of DNA synthesis (Stage II), dnaA5, grpE and dnaK proteins were incubated in a Stage I reaction mixture at 30°C for 60 minutes, the time required for efficient activation of dnaA5 protein. Stage II components were added to the Stage I reactions and the incubations were performed at 30° C from 0 to 60 minutes (Figure 2A). A lag of 5 minutes preceded DNA synthesis, which is linear for up to 20 minutes. This short lag phase preceding DNA synthesis is similar to that observed with dnaA protein in the same replication system (Figure 1B) (2). The 30 to 40 minute reduction in the lag phase preceding dnaA5 protein dependent initiation of DNA synthesis in the staged system compared to the coupled activation reaction (Figure 1B) demonstrates that efficient and complete activation of dnaA5 protein can occur before its interaction with the general set of replication enzymes and *oriC* DNA. The extents of DNA synthesis observed also indicate that the specific activity of the activated form of dnaA5 protein is similar to dnaA protein.

The time required for the activation of dnaA5 protein to occur during Stage I is described in Figure 2B. dnaA5 protein was incubated with dnaK and grpE proteins at 30°C in a Stage I reaction mixture for the indicated times, after which Stage II components were added and incubations were continued at 30°C for 25 minutes. The activation of dnaA5 protein is linear from 10 to 30 minutes with a low level of increased activity observed with extended times of incubation.

dnaK protein exhibits a concentration dependence in staged activation reactions.

The optimal amounts of dnaK and grpE proteins required for dnaA5 protein activation in the coupled activation reaction (Chapter IV, (16)) were 5 ug and 120 ng, respectively. The reduction in volume from 25 ul in the coupled activation reaction to 5 ul in Stage I reactions may result in a change in the levels of the heat shock proteins required for activation to proceed. Preliminary experiments demonstrated that five fold less dnaK protein was required for the activation of dnaA5 protein in the staged activation reaction (data not shown). Stage I incubations are performed in a 5 ul volume, which is a five fold lower volume than that used during the coupled activation reaction. Therefore, the observation that five fold less dnaK protein was required during the staged activation of dnaA5 protein may be due to the five fold volume reduction. The replication observed after the titration of dnaK protein into differing volumes of a Stage I reaction and subsequent addition to Stage II is shown in Figure 3A. Maximal activation of dnaA5 protein during Stage I required only 0.5 ug of dnaK protein in 2.5 ul reaction volumes. Doubling the volumes of the Stage I reaction up to 5 ul and 10 ul resulted in increasing amounts of dnaK protein required for the activation of dnaA5 protein. This differs from the amount of dnaK protein required during the coupled activation reaction up to as much as 10 fold. Five ug of dnaK protein are required for maximal activation of dnaA5 protein in the coupled activation reaction. Under these conditions, there is a decrease in the ratio of dnaK protein to dnaA5 protein from 40:1 to 4:1. These data indicate that the relative amount of dnaK protein required for the activation for the activation of dnaA5 protein is not critical, but that the concentration may be important.

grpE protein is required in stoichiometric levels during the activation of dnaA5 protein.

The amount of grpE protein required for the staged activation reaction is shown in Figure 3B. grpE protein dependence was observed from 30 ng to 120 ng of protein added. This level of grpE protein required for the activation of dnaA5 protein is the same as that required in the coupled activation reaction (Chapter IV, (16)). This indicates that the relative molar quantity of grpE protein is essential for activation and is independent of the reaction volume. The amounts of grpE protein required for maximal activation of dnaA5 protein suggest that two molecules of grpE protein are required for the activation of one molecule of dnaA5 protein.

The temperature dependence of the activation reaction.

dnaA5 protein is thermolabile in initiation of DNA synthesis in a replication system containing a crude enzyme fraction (15) and *in vivo* (13). The replication activity of dnaA5 protein depends upon dnaK and grpE proteins in systems containing purified enzymes. It was of interest to determine whether the thermolabile defect of dnaA5 protein was during Stage I in the interaction with grpE and dnaK proteins or whether it became manifest during Stage II when dnaA5 protein functioned in replication.

The complete Stage I activation reaction (containing dnaA5, grpE, and dnaK proteins), was incubated for one hour at temperatures ranging from 25°C to 38°C followed by Stage II incubations at 30°C for 25 minutes. Increasing the temperature of the Stage I incubations resulted in decreasing replication activity observed during Stage II (Figure 4A). This suggests that the interaction between dnaA5 protein and the heat shock proteins is temperature sensitive.

If the above conclusion is valid, then the activated form of dnaA5 protein should become thermally insensitive. The complete Stage I activation reaction (containing dnaA5, grpE, and dnaK proteins), was incubated at 30°C for one hour, during which complete activation of dnaA5 protein should occur. Aliquots from the Stage I reactions were titrated into Stage II reactions and incubations were performed at 30°C and 38°C for 25 minutes (Figure 4B). The activated form of dnaA5 protein resulted in normal extents of DNA synthesis at 30°C and reasonably high levels of replication activity were observed at 38°C. Although the specific activity of dnaA5 protein was reduced three fold at 38°C compared to 30°C, there was substantial replication activity at elevated temperatures, confirming that the thermolabile deficiency is in the interaction between dnaA5 protein and the heat shock proteins.

The influence of solvents on the activation reaction.

The activation reaction, whether staged or coupled, has included 8% PVA. The initial inclusion of PVA resulted from the knowledge that activation of dnaA5 protein could not be detected in its absence (data not shown). The replacement of PVA by solvents known to stabilize proteins, like glycerol, was initiated in order to understand the affects of solvents on the activation of dnaA5 protein. Although less efficient than PVA, glycerol at 20%
could replace PVA in Stage I (Table 2). The activation of dnaA5 protein in the presence of 20% glycerol was dependent upon grpE and dnaK proteins.

The addition of glycerol in Stage I reactions resulted in background levels of DNA synthesis at concentrations less than or equal to 5% (Figure 5). DNA synthesis increased linearly at levels of glycerol ranging from 10% to 30%, demonstrating the requirement of stabilizing solvents during Stage I.

Attempts at replacing PVA in Stage II have not been successful (Table 3). dnaA5 protein, activated during Stage I reactions which contain PVA or glycerol was active in Stage II reactions containing PVA (Table 3, experiments 1 and 2). However, dnaA5 protein that was activated in Stage I reactions containing PVA or glycerol was not able to initiate DNA synthesis in Stage II reactions in the absence of PVA (Table 3, experiments 3 and 4). There is some labile event, yet to be understood, which requires the inclusion of PVA during the initiation of DNA replication by the activated form of dnaA5 protein.

ATP is required for the activation of dnaA5 protein.

To determine whether ATP was required during activation, Stage I reactions were assembled according to the Experimental Procedures in the presence of various concentrations of ATP (Figure 6). In the absence of ATP, no activation was observed indicating that the reaction requires ATP. The maximal concentrations of ATP required for efficient activation were from 0.5 mM to 1 mM.

The ATPase activity of dnaK protein is not stimulated by dnaA5 protein.

The heat shock proteins, dnaJ and grpE, are both required to stimulate the ATPase activity of dnaK protein up to 10 fold (46), while grpE or dnaJ proteins alone do not influence the ATPase activity of dnaK protein. The ATPase activity of uncoating ATPase, a 70 kd heat shock protein analogous to dnaK protein, is stimulated when clathrin is bound to coated vesicles. This indicates that a specific conformation is recognized by uncoating ATPase before catalyzing protein disassembly (34, 35). By analogy, it is possible that dnaA5 protein serves as a substrate for dnaK protein to stimulate its ATPase activity.

The effects of grpE and dnaJ proteins on the stimulation of the ATPase activity of dnaK protein, under conditions used during Stage I incubations, is shown in Figure 7A. The incubation of either grpE or dnaJ proteins with dnaK protein resulted in the level of ATPase activity similar to that catalyzed by dnaK protein alone. ATPase activity was not detectable with grpE and dnaJ proteins in the absence of dnaK protein. In contrast, the presence of both grpE and dnaJ proteins stimulated the rate of ATP hydrolysis by dnaK protein.

The effects of dnaA5 protein on the ATPase activity of dnaK protein is shown in Figure 7B. dnaA5 protein alone did not exhibit ATPase activity and its addition to dnaK protein did not stimulate the ATPase activity of dnaK protein. grpE protein is also essential for activation, yet dnaA5 and grpE proteins did not stimulate the ATPase activity of dnaK protein. This suggests that the mechanism of dnaK, dnaJ, and grpE protein dependent disassembly of the *oriL* initiation complex may be different from the dnaK and grpE protein dependent activation of dnaA5 protein.

dnaA5 protein and dnaA protein react differentially with monoclonal antibodies.

Monoclonal antibodies that recognize dnaA protein were produced by standard procedures (unpublished results). An ELISA was performed to determine if dnaA5 protein exhibited a differential reactivity with a particular monoclonal antibody, when compared to dnaA protein. This would indicate a conformational alteration is associated with the mutant protein.

The affinity of monoclonal antibody, M1, for dnaA and dnaA5 proteins was determined using an ELISA (Figure 8A). The monoclonal antibody, M1, had a similar affinity to dnaA and dnaA5 proteins, indicating that the epitope recognized by M1 is apparently identical in both proteins. In contrast, the monoclonal antibody, A4, exhibited a differential affinity to dnaA5 protein in comparison to dnaA protein. The monoclonal antibody, A4, reacted very weakly with dnaA protein under these conditions, while it was five to ten-fold more reactive to dnaA5 protein. Presumably, there is a conformational change in dnaA5 protein that results in a greater affinity of A4 to its epitope.

The activation of dnaA5 protein produces a conformational change in the protein.

A prediction derived from these studies on the activation of dnaA5 protein is that the heat shock proteins can induce a conformational change in dnaA5 protein to allow it to assume a conformation more similar to its wild type counterpart. The monoclonal antibody, A4, exhibits a higher affinity for dnaA5 protein than dnaA protein in an ELISA (Figure 8A). If dnaA5 protein undergoes a conformational change after activation, then it may assume a conformation more closely related to dnaA protein and may bind with a lower affinity to monoclonal antibody, A4.

As the activation of dnaA5 protein requires ATP (Figure 6), Stage I reactions (containing dnaA5, grpE and dnaK proteins) were assembled in the presence and absence of ATP and incubated at 30°C for 30 minutes. Presumably, the omission of ATP in Stage I would prevent the heat shock protein dependent activation of dnaA5 protein. An ELISA was performed on the activated and inactivated forms of dnaA5 protein using monoclonal antibody A4 (Figure 8B). In the presence of ATP, during which the presumed conformational change associated with activation of dnaA5 protein occurs, a decrease in the affinity of A4 to its epitope was observed relative to dnaA5 protein under similar conditions but in the absence of ATP. This suggests that a conformational change is induced within dnaA5 protein after activation and that this conformation is more closely related to dnaA protein resulting in a lower affinity to monoclonal antibody, A4. Figure 1. (A). Time course of activation of dnaA5 protein. DNA replication reactions containing purified enzymes, 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 2 ug of dnaK protein and 100 ng of grpE protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. (B). Time course of DNA synthesis dependent upon dnaA protein. DNA replication reactions containing purified enzymes and 90 ng of dnaA protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. Incubations were performed at 30°C for the indicated times and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.





actoria of grif f DNA (F f DNA (F najuma)

Figure 2. Time course of staged activation of dnaA5 protein. (A). Stage I reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 2 ug of dnaK protein, and 100 ng of grpE protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. The reactions were incubated at 30°C for the indicated times and, after the addition of Stage II components, the reactions were incubated at 30°C for 30 minutes. (B). Stage I reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 100 ng of grpE protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures and incubated at 30°C. Stage II components were added and reactions were incubated at 30°C for the indicated times and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures and incubated for one hour at 30°C. Stage II components were added and reactions were incubated at 30°C for the indicated times. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.







Figure 3. (A). The amounts of dnaK protein required during Stage I. Stage I reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein and 100 ng of grpE protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures, except that the final volumes were 2.5 ul (O), 5 ul (\bullet) or 10 ul (\bullet). dnaK protein was titrated into the reactions and incubations were performed at 30°C for one hour. Following the addition of Stage II components such that the final reaction volume was 25 ul, the reactions were incubated at 30°C for 25 minutes. (B) The amounts of grpE protein required during Stage I. Stage I reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. grpE protein was titrated into the reactions and incubations were continued at 30°C for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.





Figure 4. (A). Thermolability of Activation. Stage I reactions containing 60 ng or 120 ng of dnaA5 protein, 2 ug of dnaK protein and 100 ng of grpE protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. The reactions were incubated at $25^{\circ}C$ (O), $30^{\circ}C$ (\bullet), $33^{\circ}C$ (\Box), $35^{\circ}C$ (\blacksquare), or $38^{\circ}C$ (\blacktriangledown) for one hour. Following the addition of Stage II components, the reactions were incubated at $30^{\circ}C$ for 25 minutes, and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to experimental procedures. (B). Thermoresistance of the activated form of dnaA5 protein. Stage I reactions containing 30 ng, 60 ng, or 120 ng of dnaA5 protein, 2 ug of dnaK protein and 100 ng of grpE protein were assembled according to the experimental procedures. Stage I reactions were incubated at $30^{\circ}C$ for one hour, and following the addition of Stage II components, the incubations were performed at $30^{\circ}C$ (\bigcirc) or $38^{\circ}C$ (\bullet) for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



nynei I

للمتبا بالملاط لأراد

d iom in

in, 29, 53

enai ma

icon d^{ise} 5

juri



200

100

₀€

30

60

dnaA5 protein (nanograms)

90

Figure 5. The concentrations of glycerol in Stage I required for the activation of dnaA5 protein. Stage I reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein (\bigcirc); 100 ng of grpE protein and 2 ug of dnaK protein (\bigcirc); or 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 100 ng of grpE protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein (\bigcirc) were assembled according to the experimental procedures, except that PVA was replaced by the indicated concentrations of glycerol. The incubations were performed at 30°C for one hour, and following the addition of Stage II components, the incubations were continued at 30°C for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



Figure 6. The concentrations of ATP in Stage I required for the activation of dnaA5 protein. Staged activation reactions containing 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 100 ng of grpE protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled and processed according to the experimental procedures, except that differing levels of ATP were added during Stage I incubations.



Figure 7. The influence of dnaA5 protein on the ATPase activity of dnaK protein. Stage I activation reactions containing glycerol at 30 % were assembled according to the experimental procedures, except, ATP was present at only 0.1 mM (with ³²P gamma ATP present at 0.1 uCi /ul) and there was not an ATP regenerating system. After the addition of the appropriate protein fractions, the incubations were continued at 30°C for the indicated times. The amounts of hydrolyzed ATP were quantitated according to the experimental procedures. (A.) Stimulation of the ATPase activity of dnaK protein by grpE and dnaJ proteins. grpE and dnaJ (**a**), dnaK (O), dnaK and grpE (**a**), dnaK and dnaJ (**b**), and dnaK, grpE, and dnaJ (**b**). (B). dnaA5 protein does not stimulate the ATPase activity of dnaK protein. dnaA5 protein (**b**), dnaK and grpE proteins (**c**), dnaK protein (**c**), dnaK protein (**c**), dnaK, grpE and dnaJ proteins (**c**).



erpette Sentu III

pr.llee

0111

المنتأ.

Figure 8. (A). The affinity of monoclonal antibodies to dnaA and dnaA5 proteins. Various amounts of dnaA or dnaA5 protein were incubated for five hours at room temperature in microtiter plates containing 100 ul of 50 mM sodium borate (pH 9.0). The individual wells were washed four times with PBS containing 0.05% tween 20 and 0.2% BSA. One hundred nanograms of monoclonal antibodies, M1 or A4, were added to the appropriate wells and incubations were continued for one hour. The amounts of monoclonal antibody bound to the antigen were quantitated according to the experimental procedures. dnaA5 protein + M1(), dnaA protein + M1(\Box), dnaA5 protein+A4 (\bigcirc), and dnaA protein + A4 (\bigcirc) are indicated. (B). The affinity of monoclonal antibody A4 to dnaA5 protein after Stage I reactions in the presence and absence of ATP. Stage I reactions containing 30% glycerol, 100 ng of dnaA5 protein, 100 ng of grpE protein, and 2 ug of dnaK protein were assembled without ATP (O) and with 1 mM ATP (O) according to the experimental procedures. The incubations were performed at 30°C for 30 minutes, after which, aliquots of each reaction were titrated into microtiter wells containing 100 ul of 50 mM sodium borate (pH 9.0) and incubated at room temperature for 4 hours. Following four washes with PBS containing 0.05% tween 20 and 0.2% BSA, 100 ng of monoclonal antibody, A4, was added to each reaction and incubations were continued at room temperature for one hour. The levels of monoclonal antibody bound to the antigen were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.



1

1

asta ata ata any any

1

17

ن مان

. .

j'

بكر

0.20 **Apsorbance** 0.10 0.00**0** 18 protein (nanograms) 36 Table 1

A. Staged activation of dnaA5 protein

reaction	Stage	addition		Star			
	dnaA5	grpE	dnaK	dnaA5	grpE	dnaK	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
1	+						16
2		+					8
3			+				10
4		+	+				9
5	+	+					14
6	+		+				24
7	+	+	+				360
8					+	+	26

Activation of dnaA5 protein was staged by first incubating the indicated components in a 5 ul reaction volume according to the the experimental procedures (Stage I addition). Following the one hour incubation at 30° C, Stage II reaction components, were added to the Stage I reactions and incubations were continued at 30° C for 30 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

B. grpE and dnaK proteins are required during Stage I reactions

	Stage I addition		Stage II addition				
reaction	dnaA5	grpE	dnaK	dnaA5	grpE	dnaK	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
1	+						12
2	+				+	+	18
3	+	+	+				221
4		+	+	+			12
5	+		+		+		17
6	+	+				t	21

Activation of dnaA5 protein was staged as indicated in Table 1A, except one of the two heat shock proteins was omitted during Stage I incubations and the omitted component was added to Stage II. Incubations and quantitations of the extents of DNA synthesis were performed as indicated in Table 1A. Table 2

Stage I solvent requirements

Stage I solvent system	dnaA5	grpE	dnaK	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
PVA	+			14
PVA		+	+	5
PVA	+	+	+	379
glycerol	+			14
glycerol		+	+	3
glycerol	+	+	+	213

Stage I reactions were assembled according to the experimental procedures except that, where indicated, PVA was replaced by glycerol at a concentration of 20%. Following the addition of the indicated components, the reactions were incubated at 30° C for one hour. Stage II components were assembled according to the experimental procedures, added into Stage I reactions and the incubations were continued at 30° C for 25 minutes. The extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

Solvent replacements in the staged activation reactions

experiment	components added	Stage I solvent	Stage II solvent	DNA Synthesis (pmol)
1	-	PVA	PVA	8
	dnaA5	PVA	PVA	16
	grpE, dnaK	PVA	PVA	14
	dnaA5, grpE, dnaK	PVA	PVA	360
2	dnaA5	30% glycerol	PVA	6
	grpE, dnaK	30% glycerol	PVA	7
	dnaA5, grpE, dnaK	30% glycerol	PVA	152
3	-	PVA	EDBS	14
	dnaA	PVA	EDBS	195
	dnaA5	PVA	EDBS	8
	dnaA5, grpE, dnaK	PVA	EDBS	5
4	-	30% glycerol	EDBS	10
	dnaA	30% glycerol	EDBS	281
	dnaA5	30% glycerol	EDBS	11
	dnaA5, grpE, dnaK	30% glycero	I EDBS	77

Stage I reactions were assembled with the indicated components according to the experimental procedures, except that PVA is replaced by 30% glycerol where indicated. The incubations were performed at 30°C for one hour. Stage II reactions were assembled according to the experimental procedures with either the PVA or EDBS buffer system. The incubations were continued at 30°C for 25 minutes and the extents of DNA synthesis were quantitated according to the experimental procedures.

DISCUSSION

The activation of dnaA5 protein occurs prior to its interaction with oriC DNA. grpE and dnaK proteins activate dnaA5 protein at a stage preceding its action in initiation, indicating that this modification can occur prior to the stage in which an *oriC* initiation complex is formed. The role for grpE and dnaK proteins seems to be distinct from the role associated with these two proteins in lambda phage DNA replication based on two criteria. First, the activation of dnaA5 protein shows an absolute dependence on grpE protein, whereas in the lambda replication system, grpE protein is dispensable (21), its role being to reduce the level of dnaK protein required for activity. Second, dnaK protein functions after the formation of an *oriL* initiation complex by dissociating lambda P protein from the complex (24), while it participates in the activation of dnaA5 protein before the formation of an oriC initiation complex. dnaK protein function in the oriC replication system could be similar to its function in the lambda replication system, but this requires a dual role for dnaK protein function. If so, dnaK protein in conjunction with grpE protein first converts dnaA5 protein to a form active for replication. Second, dnaK protein may also function in the dissociation of proteins bound to the oriC initiation complex to activate some component involved in subsequent steps in initiation, by analogy with the role of dnaK protein in lambda replication. However, this role for dnaK protein in *oriC* plasmid replication seems unlikely as the lag preceding DNA synthesis dependent on dnaA protein, in which dnaK protein is absent, is similar to the lag preceding DNA synthesis catalyzed by the activated form of dnaA5 protein. The similar kinetics in the lag phase implies that, after dnaA5 protein is "modified", it is fully active and must follow the same pathway as dnaA protein to catalyze the initiation of replication.

The detection of replication activity by the activated form of dnaA5 protein. Activation of dnaA5 protein after its interaction with grpE and dnaK proteins requires that two constraints are met. The first is the requirement for PVA or high concentrations of glycerol for activation of dnaA5 protein during Stage I and the requirement for PVA to detect replication activity in Stage II reactions. These reagents may act by macromolecular crowding (28) or by the stabilization of the protein complexes. This indicates that some labile property of the mutant protein related to its initiation activity is not understood.

The second feature characterizing the activation reaction is the requirement for the RNA polymerase dependent replication system, regardless of whether activation is coupled or staged. The observation that the activated form of dnaA5 protein cannot function in the *oriC* unwinding assay (F1* formation) (unpublished data) in the presence of levels of PVA sufficient for replication activity suggests that RNA polymerase is required to facilitate unwinding of *oriC*.

RNA polymerase is thought to function in *oriC* replication through transcriptional activation (29) which is thought to alter the superhelical density of DNA to facilitate dnaA protein dependent unwinding of *oriC*. The activated form of dnaA5 protein may be more sensitive to the restraints of superhelicity and transcriptional activation may aid it in unwinding *oriC* DNA and lead to initiation of replication. The activity of dnaA protein in unwinding *oriC* DNA under these conditions is unaffected by the presence of dnaK and grpE proteins (data not shown) indicating that the inactivity of dnaA5 protein is not due to an inhibitor in the dnaK or grpE protein preparations.

The mechanism of heat shock protein function. E. coli dnaK protein and its eukaryotic counterpart, the hsp70 family, display a high affinity for ATP and require ATP for function. dnaK protein binds ATP and may hydrolyze ATP in the process of dissociating lambda P protein from an initiation complex (25). Hsp 70 from S. cerevisieae catalyzes the translocation of precursor proteins destined for membranes. This process requires ATP (30, 31). In addition, the dissociation of clathrin from coated vesicles by the heat shock

protein, uncoating ATPase (32, 33), requires the hydrolysis of ATP. Only the form of clathrin bound to a vesicle can elicit the ATPase response from this heat shock protein (34, 35) suggesting that a specific conformation in clathrin is required before uncoating ATPase can function. The activation of dnaA5 protein by the *E. coli* heat shock proteins requires ATP indicating the similarity between this system and other systems involving heat shock protein function.

The importance of the dnaJ and grpE protein dependent stimulation in the rate and extents of the ATP hydrolysis by dnaK protein (47) is not known. dnaA5 protein does not influence the ATPase activity of dnaK protein indicating that there may be a mechanistic difference between dnaK protein function in the lambda replication system and the dnaA5 protein dependent *oriC* initiation system. dnaA5 protein does not seem to function in concert with dnaK protein in a mechanism similar to clathrin and uncoating ATPase (34, 35), as dnaA5 protein does not serve as a substrate for increasing the ATPase activity of dnaK protein.

Heat shock proteins have been characterized in many systems and these biochemical studies have revealed insights into their function. Heat shock proteins are thought to alter the conformation of proteins (41) through an ATP dependent, multi-step process involving protein unfolding and refolding. It is possible that dnaK and grpE proteins function by a similar process to unfold and refold a domain of dnaA5 protein required for its initiation activity, thus restoring a conformation suitable for functioning in initiation. Given the known biochemical function of the *E. coli* dnaK protein in lambda DNA replication, it is also possible that activation of dnaA5 protein occurs through a process in which deaggregation of dnaA5 protein occurs and this form of dnaA5 protein can function to initiate DNA replication.

dnaA5 protein has an altered conformation compared to dnaA protein as determined by its differential affinity to a monoclonal antibody. The differential reactivity may be due to the inherent difference in the epitope due to the amino acid change or dnaA5 protein may exist in an improperly folded state. If the latter is true, the activated form of dnaA5 protein may have assumed a conformation similar to wild type dnaA protein.

dnaA5 protein is defective in ATP binding (Chapter III (15)) and the heat shock proteins may alter the conformation of the mutant protein to activate ATP binding, which in turn allows for the initiation of DNA replication. Attempts at detecting ATP binding by dnaA5 protein after activation by grpE and dnaK proteins have not been successful (data not shown).

The physiological defects associated with dnaA mutants may involve heat shock protein function. dnaA5 and dnaA46 cells exhibit an asynchronous initiation frequency (14) and are thermolabile in the initiation of DNA replication (13). These two distinct physiological defects may be related to the same phenomenon. The activation of dnaA5 protein and dnaA46 protein (data not shown) by both grpE and dnaK proteins demonstrates a role for these two heat shock proteins in modulating the activity of the mutant initiator proteins *in vitro*, suggesting that asynchrony in initiation results from the rate limiting interaction between the heat shock proteins and the mutant forms of dnaA protein. An alternative explanation for asynchrony involves the requirement for RNA polymerase in detecting dnaA5 protein activity after activation by the heat shock proteins. It is possible that the rate limiting step in initiation of replication catalyzed by mutant forms of dnaA protein, though dependent upon heat shock proteins, is the availability and distribution of free RNA polymerase for initiating the transcriptional event at *oriC*.

The activation of dnaA5 and dnaA46 proteins (data not shown) is thermolabile suggesting that the temperature sensitivity of cells harboring *dnaA5* or *dnaA46* mutations is related to the interaction between the *dnaA5* gene product and the heat shock proteins. The inability of the heat shock proteins to activate dnaA5 and dna46 proteins at elevated temperatures suggests that the conformation of the mutant initiator proteins at elevated temperatures may be skewed preventing a proper association with the heat shock proteins.

Heat shock proteins are induced upon the accumulation of foreign or abnormal proteins in the cell (37-39) and they may accelerate the recovery from the possible damage afforded under these conditions through the dissociation and refolding of the abnormal or foreign proteins (40, 41). The *dnaA5* gene product is reversibly denatured at elevated temperatures (42). It is possible that heat shock proteins aid in the restoration of the activity of dnaA5 protein after the transfer to permissive conditions.

Heat shock proteins in *E. coli* are regulated by a complex regulon (43). Recently, it was shown that dnaA protein negatively regulates transcription of the *rpoH* gene (44), involved in the expression of heat shock proteins including grpE and dnaK. It is not known if dnaA protein regulates cell growth by functioning to maintain a balance between the cell mass and synthesis of proteins involved in normal cell physiology. Heat shock proteins may function in the *dnaA* dependent initiation pathway by modifying dnaA protein prior to initiation of DNA replication and dnaA protein may, in turn, regulate the expression of the heat shock proteins through regulation of levels of the *rpoH* gene product. A role for the heat shock proteins in regulating dnaA protein activity in the cell suggests that a self-controlling regulatory circuit may be involved in regulating the initiation of replication.

In regards to this possibility, dnaA protein isolated from a *dnaK* mutant exhibits the same biochemical characteristic as mutant forms of dnaA protein, that being activity in a crude enzymatic replication system, but inactivity in a reconstituted enzyme system (45). This may indicate that heat shock proteins modulate dnaA protein dependent initiation of DNA synthesis.

REFERENCES

- 1. Hirota, Y., Mordah, J., and Jacob, F. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 53: 369-387.
- 2. Kaguni, J.M. and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 183-190.
- 3. Bramhill, D. and Kormberg, A. (1988) Cell 52: 743-755.
- 4. Baker, T.A., Sekimizu, K., Funnell, B. E., and Kornberg, A. (1986) Cell 45: 53-64.
- 5. Sekimizu, K., Bramhill, D., and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 50: 259-265.
- 6. Fuller, R.S., Funnell, B.E., and Kornberg, A. (1984) Cell 38: 889-890.
- 7. Donachie, W.D. (1968) Nature 219: 1077-1079.
- 8. Sekimizu, K. and Kornberg, A. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 7131-7135.
- 9. Yung, B.Y. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 7202-7205.
- 10. Skarstad, K., Lobner-Olesen, A., Atlung, T., and von Meyenburg, K. (1989) Mol. Gen. Genet. 218: 50-56.
- 11. Atlung, T., Lobner-Olesen, A., and Hansen, F.G. (1987) Mol. Gen. Genet. 206: 51-56.
- 13. Hansen, E.B., Atlung, T., Hansen, F.G., Skovgaard, O., and von Meyenburg, K. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 387-396.
- 14. Skarstad, K., Steen, H.B., and Boye, E. (1985) J. Bact. 163: 661-668.
- 15. Hupp, T., Ph. D. thesis, Chapter III.
- 16. Hupp, T., Ph. D. thesis, Chapter IV.
- 17. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10625-10632.
- 18. Hwang, D.S. and Kaguni, J.M. (1988) J. Biol. Chem. 263: 10633-10640.
- 19. Zahn, K. and Blatner, F. (1985) The EMBO Journal 4: 3605-3616.
- 20. Zylicz, M., Gorska, I., Taylor, K., and Georgopoulos, C. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 401-406.
- 21. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., Libereck, K., and Georgopoulos, C. The EMBO Journal 8: 1601-1608.
- 22. Schnos, M., Zahn, K., Inman, R.B., and Blatner, F.R. (1988) Cell 52: 385-395.

- 23. LeBowitz, J.H., Zylicz, M., Georgopoulos, C., and McMacken, R. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82: 3988-3992.
- 24. Libereck, K., Georgopoulos, C., and Zylicz, M. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85: 6632-6636.
- Dodson, M., Echols, H., Wickner, S., Alfano, C., Mensa-Wilmot, K., Gomes, B., LeBowitz, J.H., Roberts, J.D., and McMacken, R. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83: 7638-7642.
- 26. Zylicz, M., Ang, D., Libereck, K., Yamamoto, T., and Georgopoulos, C. (1988) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 951: 344-350.
- 27. Sakakibara, Y. (1988) J. Bact. 170: 972-979.
- 28. Tanford, C. (1961) Physical Chemistry of Macromolecules Wiley, New York.
- 29. Baker, T.A. and Kornberg, A. (1988) Cell 55: 113-123.
- 30. Deshaies, R.J., Koch, B.D., Werner-Washburne, M., Craig, E.A., and Schekman, R. (1988) Nature 332: 800-805.
- 31. Chirico, W.J., Waters, M.G., and Blobel, G. (1988) Nature 332: 805-810.
- 32. Schlossman, D.M., Schmid, S.L., Braell, W.A., and Rothman, J.E. (1984) J. Cell Biol. 99: 723-733.
- 33. Braell, W.A., Schlossman, S.L., Schmid, S.L., and Rothman, J.E. (1984) J. Cell Biol. 99: 734-741.
- 34. Schmid, S.L. and Rothman, J.E. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 10044-10049.
- 35. Schmid, S.L. and Rothman, J.E. (1985) J. Biol. Chem. 260: 10050-10056.
- 36. Greene, L.E. and Eisenberg, E. (1990) J. Biol. Chem. 265: 6682-6687.
- 37. Munro, S. and Pelham, H. (1988) Nature 317: 477-478.
- 38. Anathan J., Goldberg, A., and Voellmy, R. (1986) Science 232: 522-524.
- 39. Golf, S.A. and Goldberg, A.L. (1988) Cell 41: 587-597.
- 40. Pelham, H. (1984) The EMBO Journal 3: 3095-3100.
- 41. Pelham, H. (1986) Cell 46: 959-961.
- 42. Hansen, E.B., Atlung, T., Hansen, F.G., Skovgaard, O., and von Meyenburg, K. (1984) Mol. Gen. Genet. 196: 387-396.
- 43. Grossman, A.D., Erickson, J.W., aand Gross, C.A. (1984) Cell 38: 383-390.
- 44. Wang, Q.P. and Kaguni, J.M. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264: 7338-7444.

- 46. Harlow, E. and Lane, D. (1988) Antibodies Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory.
- 47. Zylicz, M. personal communication.

Chapter VI

SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

A greater understanding of dnaA protein dependent initiation of replication *in vivo* and *in vitro* was obtained by studying the activity of mutant forms of dnaA protein. The extragenic suppressor of the *dnaA46* mutation, *dasC*, was shown to be allelic with *trxA*.. This indicates that thioredoxin and dnaA46 protein may interact in the cell. The presence of an unstable and unlinked mutation required for *dasC* to suppress the *dnaA46* mutation indicated that another factor was required for suppression to occur and a biochemical understanding of the interaction was not pursued due to the complex genetics of the mutant cell.

Thioredoxin is involved in the reduction of ribonucleotide reductase, it forms an essential subunit of T7 DNA polymerase, and it is involved in M13 phage body assembly. Another research group has shown that the *groE* gene product, a heat shock protein involved in lambda phage body assembly, can suppress the temperature sensitive phenotype of *dnaA46* cells when present at high copy number. These two apparently unrelated gene products, *trxA* and *groE*, are involved in phage morphogenesis and can suppress the temperature sensitive phenotype of *dnaA46* cells under the conditions discussed. If the role of *trxA* and *groE* during lambda phage growth in the processing of higher order protein structures is characteristic of their function in other processes, then their role in suppression of *dnaA46* mutations may be in the assembly of a *dnaA46* complex active for the initiation of replication.

The existence of *dnaA* mutants, well categorized in their physiological defects, provides an excellent foundation for studying mutant forms of dnaA protein. The goal of the project involving the purification of dnaA5 protein was to determine the biochemical alteration(s) in its activity and associate those changes with the physiological defects of *dnaA5* cells. In comparison to dnaA protein, dnaA5 protein was unable to bind ATP and it formed an improper nucleoprotein complex at *oriC*. These deficiencies were reflected in the inability of dnaA protein to catalyze initiation of DNA synthesis in replication assays containing purified enzymes. In contrast, dnaA5 protein was active in replication assays which contain a crude enzyme fraction. This result indicated that there was a factor in the crude fraction able to activate the

replication activity of dnaA5 protein. The purification of the factor resulted in the demonstration that two known heat shock proteins, grpE and dnaK, were required for activation to occur. The heat shock proteins may function to restore the deficient activities of dnaA5 protein. Two avenues of research that will be pursued to understand the activation reaction include 1) determining the changes that occur within the dnaA5 polypeptide to confer replication activity and 2) determining the mechanism of heat shock protein function.

The changes in dnaA5 protein after activation have been difficult to pinpoint. There appears to be a conformational change in the protein after activation as detected by the change in its affinity to a monoclonal antibody. However, a more thorough analysis of these methodologies is required to conclusively support this result. Given the absolute requirement for ATP in the dnaA protein dependent unwinding of *oriC*, the heat shock proteins may restore ATP binding activity to dnaA5 protein. Preliminary experiments resulted in the inability to detect ATP binding by dnaA5 protein after activation. To address whether conformational changes occur in dnaA5 protein after activation, controlled proteolytic digestions may be performed. Alterations in the conformation of dnaA5 protein may expose or hide an epitope that will alter the products of proteolysis.

The mechanism of heat shock protein (hsp) function in the activation of dnaA5 protein is similar to the mechanism of hsp function in other types of cells. Activation of dnaA5 protein requires ATP, which supports models proposed by other investigators that require hsp's utilize ATP during their performances.

Hsp's may function through the denaturation or refolding of proteins, which involves direct contact with the substrate. To determine the ability of dnaK and grpE proteins to function in the refolding of dnaA5 protein, two experiments will be performed. First, the ability of dnaA5 protein to bind to dnaK and/or grpE proteins before and after activation will be examined by the ability of dnaK and/or grpE proteins to co-immunoprecipitate with dnaA5 protein. dnaA5 protein may be bound to dnaK and grpE proteins only in the inactivated state. After activation, dnaK and grpE proteins may dissociate thus liberating dnaA5 protein to catalyze initiation. If

dnaK and grpE proteins co-immunoprecipitate with dnaA5 protein only before activation is completed, then this would indicate that they may only recognize and bind to a specific epitope within dnaA5 protein. The second experiment will involve the ability of dnaK and/or grpE proteins to reactivate a denatured form of dnaA5 or dnaA protein. Dr. M. Zylicz has demonstrated that *E. col*i dnaK protein can activate a heat denatured from of RNA polymerase (personal communication). In a similar manner, it is possible that dnaK and grpE proteins refold a denatured domain within dnaA5 protein.

Cells which harbor the *dnaA5* allele are temperature sensitive and are altered in the timing of initiation of replication. From the studies described in this thesis, it was found that the interaction between dnaA5 protein and the heat shock proteins is temperature sensitive *in vitro*.

The thermolabile defect observed *in vivo* may be related to this interaction. The altered timing of initiation may involve a rate-limiting interaction between dnaA5 protein and the heat shock proteins *in vivo*, but this is more difficult to corroborate biochemically.

A model can be formed in which heat shock proteins couple dnaA protein dependent initiation of replication to cell growth. A defect within dnaA protein (such as that exhibited by dnaA5 protein) may prevent it from responding to this heat shock mediated signal. If dnaA protein (or dnaA5 protein) is not rate-limiting *in vivo*, then perhaps the activity of the heat shock proteins is rate-limiting. Experiments that would address this would involve determining the concentration of dnaA (or dnaA5 protein), dnaK and grpE proteins within the cell cycle. If the levels of any of these proteins fluctuate during the cell cycle then this would suggests that they may be the rate-limiting regulatory signal.